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SMA AT A GLANCE

SMA Group 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Sales € million 999.6 805.4 932.5 1,463.4 1,676.3  
International share1 % 87.3 78.3 71.0 56.3 53.6
Inverter output sold MW 7,260 5,051 5,361 7,188 7,591
Capital expenditure € million 50.6 75.5 53.2 100.2 160.2
Depreciation and amortization € million 79.0 106.5 83.6 69.6 50.4
EBITDA € million 113.3 –58.4 –5.5 171.9 290.7
EBITDA margin % 11.3 –7.3 –0.6 11.7 17.3
Consolidated net result € million 14.3 –179.3 –66.9 75.1 166.1
Earnings per share2 € 0.41 –5.16 –1.92 2.16 4.79
Employees3 4,088 5,037 5,141 5,584 5,532
in Germany 2,758 3,515 3,736 4,649 4,670
abroad 1,330 1,522 1,405 935 862

SMA Group 2015/12/31 2014/12/31 2013/12/31 2012/12/31 2011/12/31
Total assets € million 1,160.5 1,180.3 1,259.9 1,328.7 1,374.3
Equity € million 570.2 552.0 724.4 820.7 789.3
Equity ratio % 49.1 46.8 57.5 61.8 57.4
Net working capital4 € million 223.0 251.0 247.6 268.0 281.7
Net working capital ratio5 % 22.3 31.2 26.6 18.3 16.8
Net cash6 € million 285.6 225.4 329.7 446.3 473.3

1   International share is calculated by assigning sales to countries using the destination principle.  
The previous year’s figure was adjusted accordingly.

2  Converted to 34,700,000 shares     
3  Average during the period, without temporary employees     
4  Inventories and trade receivables minus trade payables     
5  Relating to the last twelve months (LTM)     
6  Total cash minus interest bearing financial liabilities     

SMA WorLdWidE

● Headquarters   ● Foreign companies

CoMPANY ProFiLE

SMA Solar Technology AG is a global leader in the development, 
production and sale of high-quality PV inverters and innovative 
technologies for intelligent management and efficient use of energy. 
SMA is represented in 20 countries. The Company has a staff  
of over 3,500 and generated about €1 billion in sales in 2015.

BuSiNESS uNiTS

residential Commercial

The Residential business unit focuses on the attractive long-term market 
of small PV systems for private applications with micro and string 
in verters, energy management solutions, storage systems and communi-
cation products and accessories. In 2015, the Residential business 
unit’s share of SMA Group’s total sales was about 25%.  

 1MiLLioN
Sunny Boy TL inverters sold

With three-phase string inverters, complete energy management solu-
tions, medium-voltage technology and other accessories, the Commer-
cial business unit focuses on the fast-growing market of medium-sized 
PV systems for commercial applications. In 2015, the Commercial 
business unit’s share of SMA Group’s total sales was about 21%.

 13 GW
of installed power with Sunny Tripower inverters

utility off-Grid and Storage

The Utility business unit serves the growth market for large-scale 
PV power plants with central inverters. In addition to medium- and 
high-voltage technology, the product and service portfolio also com-
prises grid service and monitoring functions as well as accessories.  
In 2015, the Utility business unit’s share of SMA Group’s total sales 
was about 42%.

48%
increase in sales compared to the previous year

The Off-Grid and Storage business unit provides system technology  
for the integration of different battery technologies and power   
classes and collaborates with renowned battery manufacturers and 
companies in the automotive industry. The portfolio includes  
solutions for both grid-connected and off-grid as well as hybrid 
solutions.

80 MW
of newly installed battery inverter output in 2015

Service

The Service business unit‘s portfolio includes commissioning, warranty 
 extensions, service and maintenance contracts, operational manage-
ment, remote system monitoring and spare parts business. SMA’s  
installed capacity of nearly 50 GW worldwide gives the Service 
business unit great potential for growth. 

 1.4 GW
operation and maintenance contracts 
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ENERGYDRIVEN 
The U.S. market offers  
excellent opportunities 

GAMECHANGER
Battery-storage systems are the key  
for the energy supply of the future 

POLEPOSITION
SMA flexibly positions 

itself for the future

SUNBOOM
With photovoltaics, India’s growth will become 

independent of coal and nuclear power



EDITORIAL  32  COnTEnTs

The public is becoming increasingly aware of battery-storage sys-
tems. Sam Wilkinson, head of the energy storage team at analysis 
company IHS, and Dr. Aleksandra-Sasa Bukvić-Schäfer, a storage 
system expert at SMA, are familiar with trends and developments.

ENERGYDRIVEN GAMECHANGER4 12
The U.S. is one of the most important photovoltaic markets 
worldwide. With sales, service, development and local 
 production, SMA is a key player in the U.S. market – and  
is ideally positioned to profit from further growth.  

SUNBOOM18
320 days of sunshine per year, dynamic growth in economy 
and population, and an unstable electricity supply – India has 
enormous potential for photovoltaics. raveesh Kumar, the consul 
 General of India in Frankfurt, is also confident about the possibilities.

POLEPOSITION24
Drastic changes in conditions have meant major challenges for 
the solar industry. SMA has met the challenge head-on – and 
returned to profitability in record time through an  extensive  
company transformation. 

Energy supply structures all over the world are undergoing fundamental change. In the new 
energy landscape, inflexible, large-scale fossil fuel and atomic power plants are becoming 
increasingly unprofitable. Large electric utility companies are losing market shares and realign-
ing their business models. At the same time, private and institutional investors are becoming 
more important and, on the basis of renewable energies, using innovative ideas to shape the 
digital and networked energy supply of the future.

Energy transition 2.0 is therefore in full swing. As part of this trend, energy is increasingly 
be coming a public commodity, a matter of course, that is sustainably and cost-effectively avail-
able to everyone not only in industrialized countries but also in newly industrialized and 
developing countries. Political incentive programs, which are often subject to unpredictable 
changes from one day to the next, are becoming less important globally in light of the con tin-
uing advance of renewable energies. In fact, technological developments and new services 
being offered are defining the transformation of the energy sector and the success of renew-
ables, thereby allowing them to maximize the advantages they have over conventional energy 
generation.

SMA used the past year to reposition itself in line with these changing conditions and to be 
able to assume its key role in the energy supply of the future. With a comprehensive com- 
pany transformation, we have placed ourselves in an even more flexible position. We further 
optimized processes and considerably reduced our break-even point, while simultaneously 
retain ing our high capacity for innovation, even with a reduced workforce. 

On the following pages, you will read all about the story of this transformation as well as 
about the success that SMA is enjoying in what is now one of the biggest and most important 
photovoltaic markets: the U.S. You will also find out about the significance of battery-storage 
systems in the energy supply of the future, and how India – one of the fastest-growing newly 
industrialized countries – is looking to exploit renewables as a driver of further economic  
and social development. However different the topics, one thing is crystal clear, SMA will 
play a significant role in all these areas – and beyond – and will decisively contribute to 
shaping the transition of the energy supply, worldwide.

ENERGY fOR CHANGE



From left to right: Michael Mendik, Scott Crabtree, Marko Wittich, Chuck Smith

In 2000, SMA ventured into the U.S. – at a time when photovoltaics had zero 
market share. Then, in 2010, in the middle of the financial crisis, the company set  
up its own production facility in the U.S. Today, it’s clear that these decisions were  
the right ones. The U.S. is now one of the biggest PV markets worldwide, with  SMA 
as a key player in this important market. And the future’s looking good. Large-scale  
PV power plants in sun-drenched states like California are already generating elec-
tricity at lower costs than conventional coal and gas power stations – the perfect 
ground for further growth. 

31 %
of the global market in 2016 will, 
 according to SMA estimates, be attribut-
able to North and South America.

7.3 GW 
of PV power were installed in  
the U.S. in 2015, making it one  
of the world’s biggest markets.

66%
of new installations were large- 
scale PV power plants.

ENERGYDRIVEN
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North and South America there. Crabtree is responsible for 
production and was there when ground was broken. “We 
managed to get production up and running within just a few  
months,” he remembered. Denver was chosen not only be-
cause of its central location in the U.S., its airport and its excel-
lent infrastructure, but also because it is a university city, ex-
plained Mendik, who is responsible for development at SMA 
America and has been living in the U.S. for 15 years. “A lot 
of people here work in the technology sector, which makes it 
easier for the company to snap up highly skilled engineers.” 

After all, SMA also conducts development right here in Denver. 
“This enables us to respond more effectively to changes 
that happen locally,” he explained of the advantages. one 
reason for being successful in the region is to understand 
what local customers need. And that’s not easy in the U.S. be-
cause, according to Mendik, the situation can vary consider-
ably from one state to the next. When it comes to the other 
unique selling propositions SMA has in the U.S., the four man-
agers are unanimous. “Americans value above all the high 
power density, efficiency and reliability of our products,” said 
Wittich. “Another crucial factor when it comes to choosing a  
provider is the service. This is something that our customers 
often tell us,” added Smith. Following countless conversations 
with his customers, he is sure of one thing: “Our products and 
system solutions, combined with our service, are unique on 
the U.S. market. Nobody else in this country offers a compa - 
  r able service network.” 

Anyone who flies into Denver, Colorado, will see even on the 
landing approach just how popular photovoltaics are here. 
Rows and rows of countless solar panels, shimmering black 
and blue, are combined to form PV power plants. For Marko 
Wittich, this is no longer an unfamiliar sight and yet it “never 
fails to fascinate me,” said the SMA manager responsible 
for sales in North and South America. “SMA could not have 
chosen a better production site than here in the U.S.” 

Wittich is a member of the four-strong management team 
that to a large extent controls the business of SMA America. 
Alongside Wittich, who is german, native czech Michael 
Mendik and Americans Chuck Smith and Scott Crabtree are 
responsible for development, service and operational busi-
ness. Together with around 400 employees, they ensure that 
SMA reaps the benefits of the current growth in the U.S. to 
the greatest possible extent.

The figures speak for themselves. The U.S. market has grown 
continuously over the past few years and in 2015 was 
ranked third globally for newly installed PV power. In 2016, 
according to SMA estimates, the market might grow by 
11 GW – a new record and an increase of 43% on the power 
installed up until then. The market for storage solutions is  
also increasingly gaining momentum. 

LOCAL SALES, PRODUCTION AND SERVICE 

SMA recognized the potential of this market early on. In an 
office trailer in sunny California, the company’s first foreign 
subsidiary began operation in 2000. In view of the enormous 
growth potential, the company then invested in the future in 
the middle of the financial crisis, opening its state-of-the-art 
production facility in Denver in 2010. Since then, SMA has 
also been producing the majority of its product solutions for 

IN THE LAND Of UNLIMITED  
OPPORTUNITIES

Quality, efficiency and reliability –  
operators of large-scale PV power plants  
value the Sunny Central 2500-US as  
well as SMA’s comprehensive range of  
operation and maintenance services. 
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STABLE fRAMEWORk CONDITIONS fOR fURTHER GROWTH

The Swinerton order is a great example of how SMA has 
successfully leveraged its presence in the U.S. Its market 
share continues to grow. From around 25% in 2013 to 
about 40% in 2015, SMA has enjoyed growth in all seg-
ments – from inverters for small to medium-sized residential 
and commercial applications to solutions for large-scale  
PV power plants. “Our brand awareness and reliability are 
paying off,” said Wittich.

COMPREHENSIVE SYSTEM SOLUTIONS fROM A SINGLE SOURCE 

For operators of large-scale PV power plants, these are key 
criteria in making a purchasing decision because they enable 
operators to guarantee a stable and efficient energy supply. 
In 2015, SMA entered into a strategic partnership with Siemens’ 
energy Management division to offer customers even more 
comprehensive solutions in this market segment. The partners 
offer coordinated system solutions and services from a single 
source. “With this, we can offer our clients complete system 
solutions ranging from the inverter to grid connection. In 
addition, specialists from both companies can optimally sup - 
port them from project planning through to system operation,” 
explained Wittich, describing the advantages. “ Our clients 
are in the position to work directly with the best experts for 
inverters and electrical power distribution. This distinguishes 
us from our competitors.”    

Swinerton Renewable Energy, a San Diego-based engineer-
ing, procurement and construction company, has also been 
convinced by SMA’s high product quality and well-developed 
service network. SMA is supplying 349 central inverters with  
a total capacity of 710 MW to 17 large-scale PV power plants 
in several U.S. states. The partnership with Swinerton has  
gotten off to a great start. All 17 plants – each with capacities 
ranging from 5 MW to 155 MW – will be completed during 
the course of 2016. 

POWER
SYSTEM

Competitive – in sunny regions of the U.S., large-scale PV power plants already produce electricity more cost-effectively than conventional power plants. 

Thanks to Sunny Central 2500-EV-US, the latest and most 
powerful inverter in the SMA central inverter family and  
a central component in its Utility Power System, PV power 
plants can now be operated exceptionally efficiently and 
economically with the 1,500 V technology. This turnkey sys -  
tem comprises a central inverter, medium-voltage trans-
former and switchgear and Dc technology for direct con-
nection to utility grids. It can be used with nearly every PV 
module type currently available and is suitable for outdoor 
installation. 

With its compact design featuring perfectly synchronized 
components, the SMA Utility Power System helps cut trans-
portation and installation costs, and significantly reduces 
the amount of time needed to commission PV power plants. 
The system expands PV power plants‘ capabilities and is 
ready for use with state-of-the-art battery storage technology.

ENERGYDRIVEN  9

COMPACT POWER fOR  
PV POWER PLANTS 

11 GW
of PV capacity will be newly installed in the 
U.S. in 2016 according to SMA estimates. 



SMA’s rapidly growing PV market share can also be seen in 
its operations and maintenance business (O&M business). 
SMA offers comprehensive service that covers not only invert-
ers but also medium-voltage components, modules, racks 
and all cabling as well as the vegetation and enclosure of the 
systems. The services include repair, device replacement, 
visual inspections and maintenance. In this way, PV system 
operators benefit from maximum performance and planning 
security – and they have complete peace of mind. “In this still 
young area of business, we already have large-scale PV  
power plants with a total capacity of almost 1 GW under con-
tract here in the U.S.,” said Smith. As a result, SMA is also  
a major player in this area – and is ideally positioned for 
continued growth.
 
There is no doubt that growth will be rapid. Today, it is al- 
ready less expensive for homeowners to generate their own 
electricity with photovoltaics than purchasing it from a utility 
company. In some regions, operators of large-scale PV power 
plants can already offer more attractive rates than their com-
petitors in the field of conventional power generation when 
conclud ing power purchase agreements (PPAs). In addition, 
in mid-December 2015, the U.S. government decided to 
extend tax incentives (ITC: Investment Tax Credit) for PV 
systems to 2020. This will help create a stable framework in 

THE U.S. IS ONE Of THE WORLD’S  
MOST IMPORTANT PV MARkETS 

SMA HAS SYSTEMATICALLY ExPANDED   
ITS MARkET SHARE

PV POWER PLANT OPERATORS BENEfIT   
NOT ONLY fROM SMA’S COMPREHENSIVE  

PRODUCT SOLUTIONS BUT ALSO  
ITS ALL-ROUND SERVICE

THE U.S. MARkET WILL CONTINUE   
TO GROW CONSIDERABLY 

this key sales market. “The U.S. market is becoming less depend-
ent on state support. The extension of tax incentives will tide 
us over until solar energy is completely competitive and clear-
ly the most cost-effective method of generating power every-
where in the U.S.,” explained Wittich. Like Mendik, Crabtree 
and Smith, he is already looking forward to leveraging the 
resulting opportunities for SMA.

Locational advantage – SMA produces inverters for the North and South American markets at its facility in Denver.

10  ENERGYDRIVEN

SUCCESS fIGURES 

In 2000
SMA’s founders established  
a sales and service company 
in california.

is the market share SMA has  
in the U.S., measured according  
to total installed power.

38%

was SMA’s sales total achieved in 
North and South America in 2015.

€429 MILLIONIn 2010 
a production facility was  
set up in Denver.

400 
of the company’s employees  
work in the U.S.

1 GW 
of PV capacity under  
contract for SMA’s O&M  
business in North America.



 200 MW 
of storage capacity is what the  
world‘s largest battery-storage  
system project has, which provides 
reserve power in south Korea.

30,000 
domestic storage systems are currently 
installed in Germany alone.

Renewable energies produce electricity when the sun is shining or the wind is blowing. 
But people need electricity whatever the weather, 24 hours a day. Is this an unsolv able 
problem? No, not at all. Because battery technologies are rapidly making progress. This 
is enabling more and more people and companies to save surplus electricity and use it 
later on – supplying themselves with solar power more or less independently. Exciting 
times for Sam Wilkinson, who heads the energy storage team at analysis company IHS, 
and Dr. Aleksandra-Sasa Bukvić-Schäfer, a storage system expert at SMA.

 15 TIMES 
larger than today will the globally 
installed battery storage system  
base be by 2020 according to  
IHs predictions.

GAMECHANGER



14  GAMECHAnGER GAMECHAnGER 15

GAMECHANGER
60% cost-reduction was achieved in  

the area of battery-storage systems 
over the past few years.

Dr. Bukvić-Schäfer, Mr. Wilkinson, battery-storage  systems 
were a very marginal topic in the energy supply debate for  
a long time. Why are they now all of a sudden the object  
of such intense interest? 

AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer: Renewable energies 
are taking on an ever greater share in global electricity supply. 
This is a good thing as we must lose no time in becoming less 
dependent on energy sources such as coal, oil and nuclear 
power, which are harmful to the climate, hazardous and only 
available in limited supply. If this is to be a success, electricity 
from renewable sources must be calculable and readily avail-
able at all times. This is where battery-storage systems come 
into play. If too much solar or wind power is produced, these 
systems store the surplus electricity and release it systematically 
when it is needed. Storage technology has made enormous 
progress, in recent years in particular.

sAm Wilkinson: Yes, indeed, recent years have been very 
exciting. A number of new manufacturers have entered the 
market. As a result, costs have fallen dramatically and battery 
systems are already being used cost-effectively in some coun-
tries today. It is also interesting to note that more and more 
major car manufacturers are discovering the storage market 
for themselves.

In what sense?

sAm Wilkinson: The presence of major automotive com-
panies in this space can only help to raise awareness and  
understanding of the benefits of storage. Clearly, these com-
panies have very strong brands and established sales channels 
in the consumer space and  this will put them in a very strong 
position, particularly in the residential sector.

AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer: let’s take Tesla, for exam-
ple. The announcement of the Powerwall battery triggered a 
downright run, and a large number of the potential customers 

SAM WILkINSON 
Sam Wilkinson has been monitoring the photovoltaic markets for IHS, one of  
the world’s leading analysis companies, for seven years. He initially focused on 
inverters and modules, before setting up the research team for energy storage, 
which he still heads today. He is fascinated in particular by the rapid develop-
ments and changes taking place on the market and in the industry. 

dr. AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer  
While studying for a degree in electrical engineering in the mid-1990s, 
Aleksandra-Sasa Bukvić-Schäfer first came into contact with the subject of renew-
able energies – and knew straight away that she did not want to work in any 
other industry. After conducting research on this subject at the University of 
Kassel and the Fraunhofer Institute for Wind Energy and Energy System  
Technology, she joined SMA in 2010 as a senior expert engineer for storage 
technologies.

had definitely never thought about generating and storing 
their own electricity before.

SMA has engineered a battery inverter to integrate the Tesla 
Powerwall into the system, as the battery on its own is not suffi-
cient, isn’t that true? 

AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer: exactly, with our new 
Sunny Boy Storage, we have the optimum means of integrat-
ing the Tesla Powerwall into household systems. It converts 
the direct current from the battery into alternating current for 
use in the household. It also ensures the intelligent charging 
and discharging of the battery. We have just brought the new 
solution to market. It is cost-effective, flexible and easy to in-
stall. Because it is Ac-coupled, which means that the storage 
system operates in parallel with the PV system, the solution 
can be easily used in new as well as in existing systems. 

STORAGE SYSTEMS ARE REVOLUTION-
IZING THE ENERGY LANDSCAPE



“Battery-storage systems are the key to the successful transition  
to a completely renewable and decentralized energy supply  
worldwide.”

With a PV system containing a storage system, consumers can generate and use 
a large share of their electricity themselves – which is an efficient means of saving 
on their electricity costs.
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BATTERY-STORAGE SYSTEMS MAkE  
ELECTRICITY fROM RENEWABLE ENERGIES   

READILY AVAILABLE AT ALL TIMES 

STORAGE SYSTEM COSTS HAVE  
fALLEN DRAMATICALLY

THE GLOBAL MARkET  
 WILL GROW CONSIDERABLY IN   

THE COMING YEARS

But Tesla isn’t the only manufacturer that SMA works with.

AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer: With regard to car manu-
facturers, our partnership with Daimler subsidiary Deutsche 
AccUmotive is important. not only is Daimler a leader regard-
ing their engagement in the field of stationary battery storage, 
but also regarding eMobility. We want to commercialize this 
topic also on a broad basis as soon as possible. And naturally, 
we work together with all reputable battery manufacturers 
as well. The decisive factor being that we are always able  
to offer our customers the most powerful battery at the lowest 
system cost. We therefore take an intensive look at the differ - 
ent technologies and marketing approaches.

What trends are you observing on the storage system market 
at present?

sAm Wilkinson: one of the most exciting trends for me is  
the bundling of energy storage systems in private and com-
mercial systems to create what are known as virtual power 
plants. Up to now, it has been almost impossible to use in di-
vidual storage systems in such a way that they support  
the grid while also increasing PV system operators’ self-con-
sumption. Systematic usage of storage systems for both pur-
poses is not possible without central management of multiple 
systems by a third party. This enables PV system operators 
to not only save on their electricity costs with their storage 
systems, but also earn extra money. This is a completely 
new business model that has only been tried out in a few 

markets so far. But contracts have already been signed for 
larger-scale future projects, in the U.S. for example. All in 
all, batteries are increasingly being considered for providing 
frequency regulation and other ancillary services to grid 
operators.

AleksAndrA-sAsA Bukvić-schäfer: This is also an important 
driving force behind large-scale storage systems in the multi- 
megawatt range. Such projects are already being success-
fully implemented in europe, South Korea and the U.S., for 
example, and are proving their economic viability. In South 
Korea, the world’s so far largest storage system project for 
200 megawatts of reserve power has just been built using 
SMA technology.

What are you expecting in the years to come – how will the 
storage system market develop globally?

sAm Wilkinson: At IhS, we are predicting storage system 
prices to continue falling and the installed base to grow con-
siderably – from its current level of just over one gigawatt to 
over 15 gigawatts in 2020. In the short-term, the U.S., Japan 
and South Korea will remain the largest markets. A stable 
market for domestic storage systems has already established 
itself in Germany, but the next few years will definitely see 
some activity in the field of large-scale storage systems as well. 
Significant projects have already been announced. We be-
lieve there to be considerable potential for domestic storage 
systems in Australia and great Britain, too. This means that 
the coming years will definitely be exciting years, and new 
market participants and technologies will ensure even more 
surprises.

Dr. Bukvić-Schäfer, Mr. Wilkinson,  
thank you very much for the interview.

Aleksandra-Sasa Bukvić-Schäfer

1 
PV cells generate direct current from sunlight.

2 
The PV inverter converts direct current from the  
modules into alternating current. Depending on 
demand, it is consumed directly in the home,  
stored, or fed into the utility grid.

3 
The battery inverter integrates the battery into the 
system. It converts direct current from the battery 
into alternating current suitable for home use and 
ensures intelligent charging and discharging of  
the battery.

4 
Excess power is stored in batteries for later use, 
which means that solar power can also be used 
at night.

5 
The Sunny Places online portal allows PV system 
operators to always be able to see whether their 
PV system is running optimally or whether the 
electricity in their home is being consumed, stored, 
or fed into the utility grid. 

6 
Electric vehicles can be integrated automatically 
and intelligently into your home’s load profile so 
that they can absorb any excess solar power. 

GAMECHAnGER 17

SMART
HOME

It is much less expensive for PV system owners to generate 
their electricity themselves than purchasing it from a supplier. 
A battery-storage system allows PV system owners to use  
solar energy even when the sun is not shining. SMA has more 
than 25 years of experience in integrating storage solutions 
into systems and offers storage systems that are efficient 
and easy to install and operate. The latest product of SMA’s 
portfolio, which includes fully integrated as well as flexible 
solutions, is the Sunny Boy Storage. This device has been 
specially designed for high-voltage batteries like the Tesla 
Powerwall. The system is so flexible that it can be adapted  
at any time, cost-effectively and effortlessly to meet the chang-
ing needs of its owner, whether for new or existing systems.

AN INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY 
SUPPLY fOR YOUR HOME



320 DAYS
of sunshine per year mean  
that India has the ideal conditions  
for photovoltaics.

60%
of India‘s current electricity supply  
is still coal-based.

 100 GW 
of solar energy is to be installed in this 
emerging country by 2022, to satisfy 
the demand for energy.

India’s economy and population are growing steadily. The country’s electricity supply 
cannot keep pace with this rapid growth. Power outages are part of everyday life. 
To ensure continued growth, this dynamic, newly industrialized country is in urgent 
need of a reliable, cost-effective and sustainable electricity supply that is independ - 
ent of coal and nuclear power. Which is why the Indian government is looking to 
solar and wind power. Raveesh Kumar, the Consul General of India in Frankfurt,  
is confident that renewable energies are essential for the economic development 
and prosperity of his country.



SUNBOOM 21

configurations. To achieve this goal, the government has 
al  ready taken some key steps, for example with its ambitious 
target of covering 40% of the country’s energy demand  
with renewables by 2030. In addition, India's Ministry of 
New and Renewable Energy (MNRE) has also set up a  
number of central bodies to promote photovoltaic projects.

With increasing prosperity, more people will no doubt be 
able to afford private PV systems. How do you view the 
potential here?

rAveesh kumAr: Our Prime Minister, Narendra Modi, recent-
ly confirmed that it is India’s aim to make solar energy an 
integral part of our life. In this way, villages and communities 
that have always been off-grid will now have access to elec-
tricity. This is a very clear signal of how renewable energies 
can be integrated into everyday life in India. The potential 
for not only photovoltaic power plants but also small-scale 
residential and commercial installations is high.

Mr. Kumar, what will India look like in 5 to 10 years?  

rAveesh kumAr: My vision is that we can provide all of my 
fellow countrymen and countrywomen with reliable and 
affordable energy as quickly as possible. I am delighted that 
the government is committed to making a reliable electricity 
supply available to all citizens by 2019. The contribution 
renewable energies will make here, will be enormous.  

India is one of the world’s fastest-growing national  
economies. What are the biggest challenges?

rAveesh kumAr: We have to pursue a path of growth that 
safeguards the livelihoods of our population. This also in-
cludes the development of a solid infrastructure and access  
to better health and educational facilities for all citizens.  
Our biggest challenge here is to ensure that the fruits of eco- 
nomic development and increasing prosperity are redis -
tributed such that they also reach economically and socially 
disadvantaged people. 

What significance will a reliable, clean and affordable  
energy supply have here?  

rAveesh kumAr: India has to grow at a healthy rate if we 
are to realize our dream of liberating people from poverty. 
Growth will create jobs and security for people. A stable  
and secure energy supply is a key criterion for ensuring that 
the motor driving India’s economy continues to gain speed 
over the coming years.

What specific measures is the government taking  
in this regard?

rAveesh kumAr: The government’s aim is to generate signifi-
cant growth of renewable energies to transform India. 
 Renewables should also help ensure that energy can be 
supplied at a decentralized level, which will benefit  
people locally and cut the cost of expanding line and grid 

DYNAMIC GROWTH NEEDS  
A RELIABLE ENERGY SUPPLY

Raveesh Kumar joined the Indian Foreign Service in 1995. Since September 2013, 
he has been representing his home country as the Consul General in Frankfurt.

“ Only with a clean and stable energy  
supply can India’s economic development  
gain pace over the coming years.”
Raveesh Kumar
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There is still a long way to go before the 100 GW mark is 
reached. What will it take to ensure that this energy supply is 
in place both as quickly as possible and sustainably?

rAveesh kumAr: India believes that economic progress and 
environmental protection are not mutually exclusive but in 
fact can go hand in hand. The biggest challenge, of course, 
is implementing such a mammoth project in a country as 
 multifaceted as India. What is required here is a solid frame-
work with clear deadlines to enable speedy implementation  
of the projects at the federal and state level.  

What role can international companies like SMA play in this? 

rAveesh kumAr: With its enormous population, ideal loca-
tions, growing energy demand, electricity deficit as well as 
limited access to fossil fuels, India is one of the most impor-
tant photovoltaic markets and welcomes foreign investment. 
This opens up a whole range of opportunities for internation-
al companies like SMA. I am happy to note that SMA, with 
its high-quality and technologically advanced solutions, is 
committed to the Indian market and could play an important 
role in achieving the ambitious solar energy target to ensure 
the future energy supply of the country.

Mr. Kumar,  
thank you very much for the interview.

Why does India need photovoltaics? 

rAveesh kumAr: To tackle climate change, India has volun-
tarily agreed – by 2020 – to reduce its CO2 emissions by 
20–25% from the level they were in 2005. An increasing pro- 
  portion of renewable energies will help India achieve this 
goal. The plans for photovoltaic installations are ambitious. 
Currently, 60% of India’s energy generation capacity is  coal- 
based. Our net coal import is rising. Together with increasing 
oil imports, our country depends on imports to cover 28%  
of its energy needs. India also suffers from energy scarcity, 
with only 55% of households in rural regions having access  
to electricity.  Photovoltaics and other renewable energy 
 sources could fill the gap between supply and demand  
much more quickly than conventional energy forms. For this 
reason, the government launched the Jawaharlal Nehru 
National Solar Mission in 2010.

What impact has this had?

rAveesh kumAr: It’s really impressive to see how the in-
stalled power from grid-tied solar power increased from al - 
most nothing to 941 MW by 2012. By the end of September 
2015, India had already exceeded the 4-gigawatt mark –  
a huge jump from 2012. The aim is to install PV systems with  
a total output of 100 GW by 2022 as part of this program.

INDIA IS A fAST-GROWING  
NATIONAL ECONOMY

THE DEMAND fOR ENERGY IS CONTINUOUSLY GROWING

THE GOVERNMENT IS fOCUSING   
ON RENEWABLE ENERGIES

INDIA OffERS PERfECT CONDITIONS   
fOR PHOTOVOLTAICS

The energy demand of India’s economy and population is enormous –  
and can be met reliably and cost-efficiently using renewable energy.
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1 GW 
of inverter power was sold  
by SMA in India so far.

22% 
is SMA’s market share,   
measured against the total  
PV power installed in India.

In 2010
SMA opened a sales and  
service company in Mumbai.

SUCCESSfUL IN INDIA

SMA has been present in India since 2010 when  
it opened its own sales and service company, which 
currently employs 25 people. The company offers 
customers a comprehensive portfolio encompassing  
PV inverters and communication products for grid- 
connected PV systems of all sizes as well as stand-alone 
and PV/diesel hybrid solutions for remote, off-grid 
areas. India is an emerging country – and also an 
emerging photovoltaic market. All the more reason  
to increase the level of technical expertise in the field 
of solar technology. To do this, SMA has developed  
a training program. The approach is always to be close 
to the market – which means being highly familiar with 
the individual needs of our customers. This also applies 
to our service offering. With service stations distributed 
throughout the country, the SMA experts can reach 
customers quickly whenever required. Another factor  
in our success in the price-sensitive Indian market is  
that we offer high-quality product solutions that not 
only can withstand extreme temperatures, sandstorms 
and monsoon rains but also deliver major financial 
benefits for PV system operators.



€160 MILLION
is the amount of fixed costs  
that sMA wants to save as a  
result of the transformation. 

9 MONTHS
after the transformation  
began, SMA had returned  
to profitability.

80%
of the savings have already 
been achieved by SMA in 
the transformation year.

From left to right: Lina Sabine Soldner, Mike Terlinden, Mark Grosse

The market for PV inverters is undergoing a period of radical change. To stay ahead, 
a company needs to position itself in an extremely agile, cost-conscious and flexible 
way. SMA met this challenge head-on with an extensive transformation. The Managing 
Board set targets and the framework while Corporate Development created the con-
crete strategy. Executives from Operations, Sales and Service, Development, Human 
Resources and Corporate Communication drove the process forward, among them  
Lina Sabine Soldner, Mark Grosse and Mike Terlinden. 

POLEPOSITIONPOLEPOSITION



POLEPOsITIOn  27

measures to be taken to implement the new process structures 
were formulated. “We scrutinized each process and thought 
about how we could find better solutions to save costs,” said 
Terlinden. 

Particularly important at that time were the weekly meet-
ings, where executives discussed what was going well and 
what had to be done better. This is where Terlinden met 
Lina  Sabine Soldner. As a change manager, she supported 
the restructuring process, developing concepts and leading 
workshops. “The most important thing in such a complex 
 process is to contin uously review all the measures being  taken 
and their results,” Soldner explained. “After all, the company 
needed to be able to maintain its operational capabilities 
during each phase of the transformation.”

IDENTIfYING POTENTIAL SAVINGS, LEVERAGING  
PURCHASING PARTNERSHIPS 

In 2015, this was a real challenge. But a series of concerted 
efforts were employed to put SMA back on the road to suc-
cess. A key starting point was to bundle purchasing, such as 
components and systems. The entire flow of goods from the 
supplier right through to the customer was examined in detail. 
The existing strategic purchasing partnership with its Danish 
partner, Danfoss, played an instrumental role in this regard. 
“We also strengthened our collaboration in purchasing to 
generate additional volume effects and to maximize our 
global purchasing organization,” said Mark Grosse, Head  
of Global Procurement at SMA. 

2015 will probably go down as the most exciting year in 
Mike Terlinden’s professional career. He heads SMA’s global 
operating business and not only witnessed but also actively 
shaped the company’s transformation with his colleagues. 
Terlinden joined SMA in mid-2013. At this time, the German 
Federal Government was aban doning its subsidization of 
alternative energies, leaving the up-and-coming photovoltaic 
market to fend for itself. The numerous amendments to the 
Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) sent the German solar 
industry into a tailspin before it had achieved competitive-
ness, with SMA also unable to avoid being affected by the 
sudden changes. 

SMA started taking countermeasures at an early stage, 
 positioned itself in all major markets, catered to users world-
wide from private homeowners to PV power plant operators 
and expanded its service business. However, the 2014 
amendment to the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) 
 caused demand in the german market to plummet so 
dramatically and, above all, so quickly that international 
 business was unable to fully compensate for the decline. 

In 2014, SMA suffered the highest losses in the com pany’s 
history. “It soon became clear that to become pro fitable 
again SMA had to increase its flexibility as quickly as pos-
sible and adapt the fixed costs to the lower sales levels,” 
explained Mike Terlinden. 

TOGETHER, ExECUTIVES fROM ALL DEPARTMENTS ARE  
DRIVING THE TRANSfORMATION fORWARD

Terlinden is part of the transformation team convened by the 
SMA Managing Board from various company departments. 
All objectives were finalized in January 2015. The concrete 

AT THE fOREfRONT IN ExTREMELY 
fLUCTUATING MARkETS

Mark Grosse is responsible for 
Global Procurement at SMA. 

As change manager,  
Lina Sabine Soldner supported 

the restructuring process. 

Mike Terlinden is responsible for 
SMA’s operating business.
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“Our employees really pushed hard.” 
Mike Terlinden
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In Germany too, SMA’s home market, considerably fewer  
PV systems were installed.

mArkus körfer-schün: yes, that’s right. The numerous 
amendments to the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) 
caused huge uncertainty in the german market. Annual 
growth fell from 7.5 gigawatts in 2011 to just 1.9 gigawatts 
in 2014 – a decline in volume of 75%. In these three years, 
SMA’s sales fell from €1.7 billion to around €800 million. 
Despite having already begun and consistently driving 
forward expansion in foreign markets early on, we were  
not able to absorb the loss in sales of around €1 billion 
caused by the sudden change of direction in German pol-
icies. Despite previously introduced strategic measures, our 
strong international presence and high capacity for innova-
tion, SMA reported a loss of over €160 million in 2014.

How did you then go about planning the transformation?

mArkus körfer-schün: The most important aim was to 
position the company more flexibly, both financially and 
operationally, and to adapt the cost structure to the lower 
sales levels that were forecasted. To do this, we had to 
reduce fixed costs by 40% by the end of 2015. Together  
with executives from different parts of the company, we 
prepared a comprehensive package of measures within a 
few weeks. everything was up for discussion during that  
time – we really left no stone unturned. Fortunately, thanks  
to SMA’s solid balance sheet and owner structure, we were  
in a position to achieve the transformation using our own 
resources. The Managing Board had already pursued an 
extremely conservative fiscal policy for years, thus ensuring 
room to maneuver in difficult times.

Mr. Körfer-Schün, you have actively shaped SMA’s transforma-
tion. What was the company’s situation at the end of 2014? 

mArkus körfer-schün: SMA was in an extremely difficult 
situation. The profound changes in the international photo-
voltaic markets presented enormous challenges to the entire 
solar industry. After years of strong growth, the european 
markets suddenly collapsed as a result of unpredictable polit-
ical decisions. Demand shifted dramatically, especially to 
Asia. In addition, chinese providers entered the market and 
generated immense price pressure because they sold some  
of their products at less than the cost of production.

Markus Körfer-Schün is Head of Corporate Development at SMA. 

RADICAL MARkET CHANGES REQUIRE 
QUICk AND DECISIVE ACTION

Alexander Naujoks is Executive Vice President of Human Resources at SMA.

Mr. Naujoks, you were responsible for carrying out the most 
emotionally difficult task, laying off 1,600 full-time positions.

AlexAnder nAujoks: In addition to the material costs, we 
also had to significantly reduce personnel costs. Therefore, 
the layoffs, which were distressing for all SMA employees, 
were unfortunately inevitable. To quickly meet the increasing 
demand in the photovoltaics boom years, we had built up 
our staff capacities. To restructure ourselves as a small and 
medium-sized enterprise, we also had to substantially reduce 
the size of the management team.

What was particularly important in making the layoff process 
quick and socially responsible?

AlexAnder nAujoks: We decided to approach the lay-
offs by using a severance program. The close involvement 
of the Works council right from the start and the open and 
extensive communication by the Managing Board at Works 
Meetings and on the intranet were crucial. We also closely  
cooperated with the Federal Employment Agency to be able 
to offer employees qualified advice from this side, too. All  
these measures were effective. enough employees  volunteered  
to leave the company and within a few months layoffs 
 totaled 1,400 full-time positions, and were done in a socially 
responsible manner without any involuntary layoffs.
 

how do you see the company’s position after the transformation? 

AlexAnder nAujoks: After the transformation, we are very 
well positioned to retain our high capacity for innovation 
and continue successfully running the company, even with a 
reduced team. It is also crucial that we haven’t changed our 
strategy and continue to offer complete solutions for all market 
segments in all the important markets, from private residential 
PV systems to commercial systems through to large-scale PV 
power plants.

mArkus körfer-schün: The share price has recovered 
sig nificantly. At the end of 2015, the market capitalization, 
at around €2 billion, was above the value at the time of  
the IPO in 2008. Moreover SMA is the only remaining solar 
company in the TecDAX. I am particularly pleased that the 
Managing Board already has its sights set firmly on the future 
and is consistently aligning SMA with the digitization of the 
energy industry. The recently concluded partnerships with 
Tesla, Daimler and the transmission grid operator TenneT  
are game-changing here. 

Mr. naujoks, Mr. Körfer-Schün,  
thank you very much for the interview.
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The results of the transformation speak for themselves. SMA  
is weathering the crisis and is not allowing itself to be ousted 
from pole position either. Around 80% of the savings already 
took effect in 2015. The break-even point has fallen by 25%. 
The company is flexibly positioned and is becoming profit-
able again, sooner than expected. 

Terlinden, Soldner and grosse are now looking expectantly  
to the future – and to further challenges to come. “2016 will 
be the first year in which we will consolidate the new struc-
tures,” said Terlinden. “We want to make even more improve-
ments, especially in the interfaces between the various func-
tions and in international collaboration,” added Soldner. But 
what pleases Grosse above all is the fact that “the company 
can now continue to plan and act strategically and is able to 
build on our successful years from pole position.”

grosse held many discussions with suppliers inspiring con-
fidence in the new developments at SMA, thereby safe-
guarding material flows. Over the course of Supplier Day,  
he and his team managed to accomplish another critical  
step – to extend payment terms, thus giving SMA more room  
to maneuver. “Around this time, the Managing Board had  
also convinced trade credit insurers and investors of SMA’s 
unique selling propositions – that was a turning point,”  
recalled grosse. 

SMA also focused its efforts on its core business, reducing 
its real net output ratio and number of product versions. To 
reduce its resource-depleting, high net working capital, the 
company also streamlined its inventories. This vendor- 
managed inventory strategy is now proving beneficial. Materials 
remain in the supplier’s inventory for longer – which, simply  
put, means that SMA makes use of supplier warehouses thus 
creating savings. In addition, executives are pooling syner - 
gies at an international level, not just resources for Purchasing 
but also when it comes to Production and Development,  
such as between SMA and its subsidiary Zeversolar. 

The management team achieved what was arguably the 
most difficult step – layoffs equating to close to 1,600 full-
time posi tions – through a severance program. By the end 
of March 2015, enough employees had voluntarily decided  
to leave the company that no involuntary layoffs were  
needed, and the process was completed within a very short 
period of time. 

BACk IN THE BLACk

All other measures were also quickly implemented. By the 
middle of the year, it was clear to the team around Terlinden, 
Soldner and grosse that things were turning around. While 
SMA was still embroiled in its restructuring phase, demand 
continued to rise. The biggest goal was to consistently cater  
to this demand. “We had to take on this additional work with 
a shrinking workforce,” said Terlinden. This meant extra shifts 
and weekend work. “Our employees really pushed hard,” he 
pointed out. Soldner also described the solidarity within the 
company as “simply great.” But what pleased her the most 
was to see the employees carry on with the same motivation 
even in the face of difficult times. From her experience, she 
knows that “things can also turn out quite differently.” SMA’s 
unique corporate culture persevered.

Equipped for all eventualities: After the transformation, Production is even more 
flexible, and annual production capacity increased from 15 GW to 20 GW.

THE PV INVERTER MARkET IS  
UNDERGOING RADICAL UPHEAVAL

SMA SETS ITS SIGHTS ON GREATER fLExIBILITY   
AND REDUCTION Of fIxED COSTS 

SMA IS EMERGING fROM THE CRISIS  
STRONGER AND IS BECOMING PROfITABLE  

AGAIN SOONER THAN ExPECTED
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Dear Shareholders,  

2015 was a challenging and eventful year for us, which is why I would like to thank all those whose work, commit
ment and support have contributed to SMA’s turnaround. The tremendous dedication of our employees and high 
level of trust have paid off. SMA has found itself back on the road to long-term profitability much earlier than originally 
planned. Not only have we delivered more than we promised, but we did so while the Group was undergoing its 
biggest restructuring ever. In these times of technological and structural change in the global solar industry, reliability 
is a key asset—and we here at SMA stand for reliability. In 2015, we far exceeded our original sales and earnings 
forecast. At the start of the year, nearly no one expected sales of around €1 billion, a positive annual net income 
and even a dividend. 

SMA MAINTAINS ITS HIGH CAPACITY FOR INNOVATION

We used the company transformation as an opportunity to further improve our position in one of the most exciting, 
futureoriented sectors of the 21st century. As a specialist provider, SMA not only serves the growth market of PV 
system technology but also offers additional services in the stable service business and the highly promising field of 
energy management. 

Our PV system technology portfolio continues to grow apace. For example, we launched the new Sunny Central 
with an output of 2.5 MW. In 2015, we entered into a strategic partnership with Siemens’ energy management 
 division, which enables us to offer a holistic solution from the DC side to grid connection. The fully integrated, turn
key solution comprises a central inverter, a mediumvoltage transformer and a mediumvoltage switchgear. It can  
be used in largescale PV power plants, and is the most powerdense and compact of its kind on the market. Through 
the technological advances and strategic development of the Utility business unit, we are able to set ourselves apart 
from the competition better than ever before and equip the biggest solar projects in the world with our technology. 

Our service business has also continued to grow, despite the Group’s restructuring. SMA has a unique service 
 infrastructure in all major photovoltaic markets worldwide and can therefore offer comprehensive services. Thanks  
to our high level of expertise and technical monitoring options, we now have contractually agreed orders for 
 main tenance and operational management of largescale PV power plants with an output of 1.4 GW. As a result, 
we are already the world’s fourth biggest provider—a tremendous success, of which we can all be very proud. 

Our sights are already set on the future. At the end of January 2016, we presented the new Sunny Boy Storage,  
a storage solution specifically designed for cost-effective and flexible integration of high-voltage batteries into house
hold systems. This SMA solution allows the Tesla Powerwall, for example, to be easily integrated into existing and  
new PV systems. 

Following the pioneering technological work involved in generating sufficient volumes of renewable energy 
cost-efficiently, the next phase is to focus on the service aspect. The digitization of the energy industry is a task  
that calls upon all market players. Thanks to our partnership with TenneT, Germany’s biggest grid operator, we  
can  position ourselves right at the forefront of this development. With databased business models, we intend to 
 capitalize on the networks of the many decentralized energy producers and make a key contribution to grid stability.

COMPANY TRANSFORMATION COMPLETE

In an industry where change is the only thing that stays the same, flexibility must be an important part of the corpo rate 
strategy. We used the company transformation as an opportunity to increase our operational and financial flex  i-
bility. One key factor driving this development was the more efficient setup of processes along the value chain. For 
example, we have shortened process lead times, reduced our inventories and systematically realized the  synergies  
in purchasing arising from our partnership with Danfoss. Another element of the company transformation was to adjust 
personnel structures in line with expected future sales. Within just a few months, we implemented a considerable 
staff reduction in a socially responsible manner. This was an extremely difficult but unavoidable step. How ever, it was 
made possible thanks to a process characterized by openness, fairness and cooperativeness. The company trans-
formation is now largely complete. We have come out of this process stronger because we have increased our long
term flexibility. SMA can now generate profits even with much lower sales. 

INVESTMENT IN MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS

We are proud that, for the fourth year in succession, according to a study by IHS, an independent U.S. information 
and analysis company, SMA is the world’s most preferred inverter brand. The growing trust that our customers have 
in us is also reflected in our business successes on the market. SMA has not only defended its global market lead
ership but also, in fact, increased its market share by four percentage points to 21%. We would like to extend our 
thanks to our customers: Your loyalty and trust are both an accolade and an incentive.

Future growth will be driven by foreign markets. For 2016, we are expecting to see a significant increase in new PV 
installations of almost 20% to 60 GW. Due to strong price pressure in all regions and segments, however, global 
sales will rise only slightly to €4.9 billion. SMA is represented with its own sales and service companies in 20 coun
tries. No other competitor has a comparable infrastructure with skilled staff. The most important foreign markets for 
SMA are North America, Japan and India, which is why we intend to further expand our existing structures in these 
growth markets in order to leverage the opportunities available to us and increase our market share. 

Pierre-Pascal Urbon, Chief Executive Officer SMA Solar Technology AG
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SMA is well positioned in its role as a specialist in a fastgrowing market. Last year, the SMA Managing Board imple 
mented structural changes and increased the Company’s flexibility. Following this company transformation, we are 
better positioned than ever before to meet future challenges and are absolutely clear about our strengths and goals. 

SMA has the technical expertise and partners required to offer holistic solutions to the world’s biggest PV power 
plants. With our innovative solutions for intelligent energy management, we are extremely well prepared to meet 
future demand in the energy supply sector. Our sales and service are second to none in the solar industry. We  
have an international presence that remains unsurpassed by any competitor and, in a dynamic market environment, 
we benefit from our flexible production and international production facilities. Furthermore, with an equity ratio  
of almost 50% and net cash of more than €285 million, SMA is financially sound with a strong balance sheet.

It is our strengths that make us clearly stand out from others in the solar industry. We will build on these strengths and 
design product solutions for decentralized energy supplies based on renewable energy. For the current fiscal year,  
we aim to achieve sales of between €950 million and €1,050 million. Following the successful transformation of the 
Company, we expect a significant increase in earnings to between €80 million and €120 million and a high positive 
free cash flow. Above all, it is our employees both here in Germany and abroad who will make a  crucial contribution 
here. On behalf of the entire Managing Board, I would like to thank each and every employee here at SMA  
for their extraordinary commitment and trust. 2015 has proven to us that, even in difficult times, our unique corpo
rate culture is a strong foundation for success. And we intend to continue building on this foundation. 

PierrePascal Urbon 
Chief Executive Officer 
SMA Solar Technology AG



Roland GRebe
board Member for Human Resources and IT

Roland Grebe (b. 1960) studied electrical engineering and has been working in various managerial positions 
primarilyinthedevelopmentareaatSMAsince1984.HedevelopedthefirstPVinvertersthatformthebasisof
SMa’s Sunny boy and Sunny Central inverters. Grebe also transformed the central inverter area from an indivi dual 
project processor into a serial manufacturer for power plant technology and grew SMa’s grid integration competencies 
to secure the future commercial viability of our products. He has been a member of the Managing board since June 
2009 and responsible for Human Resources and IT since March 2015. In addition, he is responsible for the sub - 
sid i aries SMa Railway Technology GmbH and SMa Sunbelt energy GmbH and serves as labor director at SMa. 

 
dR.-InG. JÜRGen ReIneRT
board Member for operations and Technology

Dr.-Ing.JürgenReinert(b.1968)earnedhisdoctorateattheInstituteforPowerElectronicsandElectricalDrives
(ISea) in aachen, Germany, and began his career as senior engineer there. From 1999 to 2011, he worked  
for the emotron company, where in his last position as General Manager he was responsible for  Technology and 
Operations.From2011to2014,asExecutiveVicePresidentTechnology,hewasresponsibleforthePower
PlantSolutionsdivisionatSMA.Underhisleadership,SMAwassuccessfulinexpandingitsworldwideproject
businessanddevelopingturnkeysystemsolutionsforlarge-scalePVpowerplants.Dr.-Ing.JürgenReinerthas
been a member of the Managing board since  april 2014 and responsible for operations, development as well 
as the business units since January 2016. dr.-Ing. Jürgen Reinert is in charge of the partnership with danfoss 
and a member of the danfoss a/S Supervisory board.

 
PIERRE-PASCALURBON
Ceo, board Member for Finance/legal and Sales

Pierre-PascalUrbon(b.1970)studiedbusinessadministrationandwasactiveinmergersandacquisitions(M&A)
consulting until 2005, when he joined SMa. In 2006, he was appointed to the Managing board and in 2011  
hebecameChiefExecutiveOfficer.Pierre-PascalUrbonplannedSMA’sinitialpublicofferingandpartnershipwith
danfoss a/S. He has  also decisively advanced the Group’s internationalization and the Company’s trans formation  
in2015.AsChiefExecutiveOfficer,hehasbeenresponsibleforStrategy,Finance/LegalandSalessinceJanuary2016.

The Managing Board TeaM
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From top to bottom: Roland Grebe, Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Reinert, Pierre-Pascal Urbon
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SuperviSory Board reporT 

Dear Shareholders,

For the Supervisory Board, fiscal year 2015 began with the terrible news of the death of its Chairman and co- 
founder of the Company, Dr.Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer. Dr. Günther Cramer had acted as Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board since he left the Managing Board in 2011 and made a vital contribution to SMA’s success story. 

Fiscal year 2015 was dominated by a far-reaching organizational restructuring of the Company, focusing on a 
wide range of cost reduction activities. The Supervisory Board therefore dealt intensively with the overall situation   
at the Company and its prospects, continuously monitoring and regularly advising the Managing Board on the 
 management of the Company during the 2015 fiscal year in accordance with the law, the Articles of  Incorporation 
and the Rules of Procedure. The Managing Board involved the Supervisory Board early on in all decisions  
of  fundamental importance to SMA. It kept the Supervisory Board and its committees regularly, promptly and 
comprehen sively informed by means of written and oral reports about all Company strategies, the market and  
competition, business developments and the Company’s and Group’s situation, sales and results of operations.  
Furthermore, the Managing Board presented the proposed business policies and other important questions  
concerning corporate planning, in particular financial, investment, production and personnel planning, as well as 
significant business  transactions, providing any deviations in how events actually transpired in comparison to 
 previously reported  objectives, which included reasons for the variances.

In addition, the Supervisory Board was informed about the Company’s and the Group’s profitability, in particular 
the return on equity, risk and opportunity management, risk status and compliance. The Managing Board also 
reported on product developments and the level of product quality. Between meetings, the Chairman of the Super
visory Board and his deputy were in regular and frequent contact with the Managing Board, especially the Chair
man of the Managing Board, and discussed issues concerning strategy, planning, business development, position  
of risk, risk management and compliance as well as significant business transactions and upcoming decisions.  
The members of the Supervisory Board took both general and specialized trainings necessary for their tasks, of their 
own accord, such as current company compliance requirements, and in doing so received appropriate support  
from the Company. 

Cooperation within the Supervisory Board, and between the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board in 2015 
was always characterized by openness, constructive dialogue and trust.

Focus of the Supervisory Board Consultations

The Supervisory Board examined all material events and discussed them with the Managing Board at six regular 
meetings and four extraordinary meetings and adopted necessary resolutions in accordance with the law, Articles of 
Incorporation and Rules of Procedure. 

In preparation for the meetings, the Supervisory Board received written reports from the Managing Board on a 
 regular basis and on time. At each regular meeting, the subject matter of the deliberations was current business  
developments, the evolution of markets of particular importance to the Group and corporate planning. Members  
of the Managing Board participated in all regular Supervisory Board and Audit Committee meetings, but were  
not present for discussions of agenda items relating to the Managing Board itself.

At three extraordinary meetings in January 2015, the Supervisory Board intensively discussed the assumptions and 
planned approach for the Company’s transformation. These discussions particularly focused on the planning premises 
for the fiscal year and the planned implementation steps. The meetings also dealt with the appropriateness of the  
Managing Board remuneration.

At its meeting on February 11, 2015, the Supervisory Board dealt with the Corporate Governance Report included 
in the 2014 Annual Report, as well as the Supervisory Board Report for 2014. In addition, the Supervisory Board 
addressed the current development of the Company and the budget for 2015, including future planning and the Com
pany’s ongoing restructuring. The meeting and resolutions also dealt with the reorganization of the Managing Board 
and the appointment of a new Supervisory Board Chairman and Deputy Chairman required as a result of Dr. Günther 
Cramer’s death.

At its meeting convened to adopt the accounts on March 5, 2015, the Supervisory Board acknowledged the 2014 
Annual Financial Statements, approved the 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements after indepth consultation and 
also passed the proposal to the Annual General Meeting on profit appropriation for 2014. In addition, it reviewed the 
proposal for selection of the Financial Statements and the Consolidated Financial Statements auditor for 2015. The 
Supervisory Board also adopted the candidate proposal for election of shareholder representatives to the Supervisory 
Board at the Annual General Meeting. 

At its meeting on May 20, 2015, the Supervisory Board dealt in depth with the interim status of the Company’s trans
formation. The discussions also focused on topics relating to product quality. 

At the meeting on May 21, 2015, the newly elected and reelected members of the Supervisory Board met to decide 
on the Supervisory Board Chairman and Deputy Chairman and the members of the Supervisory Board committees. 
The Supervisory Board members also obtained information about the legal conditions and effects of an insider position 
and the associated reporting duties. In addition, the Supervisory Board issued the audit assignment to the auditor for 
2015. 

At the meeting on September 30, 2015, the Supervisory Board discussed the business performance in China and 
at Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd., as well as product innovations and the product roadmap in the Utility 
and Commercial business units. The Supervisory Board also dealt with the status of the Company’s transformation 
and with the Company’s sustainability report. In addition, the discussions and resolutions also covered the change in 
the legal requirements for the proportion of women on the Company’s corporate bodies and the Managing Board 
remuneration. 

At the meeting on December 3, 2015, the Supervisory Board dealt with the product roadmap in the OffGrid and 
Storage as well as Residential business units and the results achieved in the partnership with Danfoss A/S. The 
 Supervisory Board also had indepth discussions on the budget for 2016. In addition, the list of reservation of con
sent by the Supervisory Board and the future structure of the Company’s Managing Board were discussed. The 
Managing Board and the Supervisory Board also adopted a new Declaration of Conformity pursuant to Section 
161 (1) sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) to comply with the recommendations of the  
German Corporate Governance Code.

The extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board on December 11, 2015, reviewed and resolved the mutually 
agreed upon resignation of Martin Kinne from the Managing Board. 
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Focus of the Committee Meetings

To improve the efficiency of the work carried out by the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board maintains four 
 permanent committees: the Presidial Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Mediation Committee. 
You will find the names of the persons appointed to these committees on our website at www.IR.SMA.de as well  
as in the Corporate Governance Report 2015.

The committees prepare the topics and resolutions to be reviewed by the entire Supervisory Board and, within the 
 framework of the competencies transferred to them, they resolve those matters they have been assigned instead of  
the Supervisory Board. The content of the committee meetings is reported on by the committee chairman at the next 
plenary session of the Supervisory Board. All members of the Supervisory Board receive the content and resolutions  
of the committees in writing.

The Presidial Committee met five times in 2015. The committee’s work focused in particular on dealing with matters 
relating to the Managing Board as well as preparing Supervisory Board resolutions on Managing Board composition, 
allocation of responsibilities, Managing Board remuneration and terminating Managing Board contracts. 

The Audit Committee convened seven times in 2015, three times via telephone conferences. The meetings focused 
on discussing the Company’s business performance and cost efficiency and the quarterly and half-yearly reports. In 
addition, the committee familiarized itself with the main points and overall findings of the auditor for the 2014 Annual 
Financial Statements and upon review confirmed the auditor’s independence. 

Another key area of the committee’s work was reviewing the internal risk management systems (Internal Control 
System, Internal Auditing and Compliance), with the committee members gathering comprehensive information about 
these systems’ methods and effectiveness. 

Furthermore, the committee also dealt with the report prepared by the Internal Auditing department and the Com
pliance Report neither showed any significant irregularities in the business processes. The Audit Committee reviewed 
the recommendation for the entire Supervisory Board with regard to the profit appropriation, selecting the auditor 
for 2015 and granting the audit mandate. 

The Nomination Committee held three meetings in the reporting period. The discussions focused on the shareholder 
representative candidates proposed to the Supervisory Board for election to the Supervisory Board by the 2015 
Annual General Meeting, and on the search for suitable candidates.

The Mediation Committee did not convene in 2015. 

See also Corporate  
Governance Report, 

page 20 et seqq.

Corporate Governance

In 2015, the Supervisory Board also dealt with the content of the German Corporate Governance Code. In 2015, 
the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board issued four Declarations of Compliance pursuant to Section 161 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) in compliance with the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code. Two deviations were declared each time in the Declarations of Compliance from February 11, 
March 5 and May 21, 2015, and three deviations were declared in the Declaration from December 2015. The 
joint report issued by the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board in compliance with the rules of the German 
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to clause 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code ( Corporate 
 Governance Report) has been made permanently available on our website at www.IR.SMA.de and is also 
 mentioned on pages 20 et seqq. of the Annual Report. This is also where you will find statements on conflicts of interest 
and how they are handled.

Annual Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements prepared by the Managing Board as of December 31, 2015, the Management 
Report for the 2015 fiscal year, the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2015, and the 
Consoli dated Management Report for the 2015 fiscal year were audited by the accounting firm Deloitte & Touche 
GmbH, Hanover. The Supervisory Board granted the audit assignment in accordance with the resolution adopted  
by the General Meeting on May 21, 2015. Prior to submitting the corresponding proposal to the General Meeting 
regarding appointment of the auditors, the Supervisory Board had obtained the auditor’s certificate of independ
ence pursuant to clause 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board also monitored 
the  independence of the auditor. In addition, it handled the assignment of orders to the auditor for nonaudit 
related services.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company were prepared in line with Section 315a of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) on the basis of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in 
the EU. The auditor granted an unqualified audit opinion for the Annual Financial Statements and the Management 
 Report as well as for the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Consolidated Management Report.

The reporting documents and the Managing Board’s proposal on the appropriation of profits as well as the audit 
reports were made available to the Supervisory Board in good time. These were first discussed by the Audit Commit-
tee at its meetings on February 9, 2016, and March 15, 2016, with the auditors and then by the Supervisory Board 
at its meeting on March 16, 2016, on each occasion in the presence of the auditor’s representatives. The auditor’s 
representatives reported on the audit findings and provided detailed explanations of the assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Company and the Group. The questions posed by the Supervisory Board were 
answered and the reporting documents were reviewed in detail with the auditor’s representatives and discussed  
and examined by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board raised no objections after concluding its examina
tion. Thereafter, the findings of the audit were approved. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board approved the Financial 
Statements prepared by the Managing Board and the related Management Reports for the 2015 fiscal year at its 
meeting convened to adopt the accounts on March 16, 2016. Hence, the Company’s Annual Financial Statements 
have been approved as set out in Section 172 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Finally, at its meeting held on March 16, 2016, the Supervisory Board approved the Managing Board’s proposal 
on the appropriation of the balance sheet profit. In this respect, the Supervisory Board discussed the Company’s 
liquidity position, the financing of planned investments and estimated business development. In doing so, the Super
visory Board came to the conclusion that the proposal was in the interests of the Company and the shareholders.

See also  
www.IR.SMA.de

See also Corporate 
Governance Report 

page 20, et seqq.
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Changes to the Managing Board and Supervisory Board

Roland Bent was judicially appointed to fill the vacant position that arose on the Supervisory Board due to the death  
of Dr.-Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer on January 6, 2015. Dr. Erik Ehrentraut assumed chairmanship of the Supervisory 
Board on February 11, 2015.

Lydia Sommer left the Managing Board on February 28, 2015, and Martin Kinne on December 31, 2015. As  
a result of the election of new members to the Supervisory Board by the employees (employee representatives),  
Dr. Günther Häckl, Joachim Schlosser and Mirko Zeidler left the Supervisory Board.  The Supervisory Board  
would like to thank Lydia Sommer, Martin Kinne, Dr. Günther Häckl, Joachim Schlosser and Mirko Zeidler for their 
dedicated and valuable work on behalf of the Company.

As a result of the elections to the Supervisory Board by the employees, on May 21, 2015,  Yvonne Siebert,  
Dr. Matthias  Victor and Hans-Dieter Werner joined as employee representatives. Both trade union representatives 
on the Supervisory Board were confirmed in office. The shareholder representatives were confirmed in office at  
the  Annual General Meeting on May 21, 2015.

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the Managing Board did an excellent job of meeting the challenges of 
2015 and turning the Company around. The Supervisory Board believes that the implemented restructuring and 
the sustainable improvement in the cost structure has positioned the Company well for the future. More specifically, 
streamlining its organizational structures enables it to react faster and more flexibly to the requirements of fluctuating 
markets. The Managing Board presented the measures required for this purpose to the Supervisory Board and 
implemented them transparently and in good time. The decision to cut jobs as part of the Company’s transformation 
was not an easy one for the Managing Board, and in the opinion of the Supervisory Board it was implemented 
fairly and respectfully. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Managing Board and all employees for their outstanding work and 
incredible dedication in 2015.

Niestetal, March 16, 2016

The Supervisory Board

Dr. Erik Ehrentraut 
Chairman

Dr. Erik Ehrentraut
Shareholder Representative 
(Chairman)

Peter Drews
Shareholder Representative

Oliver Dietzel
Employee Representative

Roland Bent
Shareholder Representative

Dr. Winfried Hoffmann
Shareholder Representative

Heike Haigis
Employee Representative

Johannes Häde
Employee Representative

Kim Fausing
Shareholder Representative  
(Deputy Chairman)

Reiner Wettlaufer
Shareholder Representative

Hans-Dieter Werner
Employee Representative

Dr. Matthias Victor
Employee Representative

Yvonne Siebert
Employee Representative



The Share 
Turbulent Stock Markets During the Course of the Year 

Investors will remember 2015 as a turbulent year on the stock markets. In the first months of the year, the stock 
markets initially performed positively. A major topic at the beginning of the year was the start of government bond 
buying by the European Central Bank (ECB), which thus reiterated its course of expansionary monetary policy.   
At least until September 2016, the ECB will pump €60 billion a month into the financial markets by buying govern
ment bonds to stimulate the economy in the single currency area and to counter potential deflation. 

Since the start of the year, the DAX increased by 26.73% at its peak. The most important German stock market 
 barometer exceeded 12,000 points in midMarch and reached a new record high of 12,219.05 points on March 
16, 2015. On the same day, the index ended trading with its highest closing level of 12,167.72 points. However, 
due to the worries about Greece, the DAX could not hold onto its interim gains. The index was also weakened by 
fears about the state of the global economy. The DAX recovered over the course of the fourth quarter and at the  
end of the year, it was listed at 10,743.01 points – equating to growth of a good 10% over the year as a whole. 

The TecDAX, the German stock market barometer for technology stocks, seemed less influenced by international 
events. The index started the stock market year at 1,370.92 points (opening price) and counted 1,830.74 points at 
the end of the year – an increase of 32.46%. The TecDAX reached its record high to date on the basis of  
closing prices on December 2, 2015, at 1,873.66 points.

The euro suffered losses over the course of the year and came under additional pressure in the third quarter due 
to the variance in economic and interest rate prospects between the U.S. and the EU. At the end of the year, the 
 common currency was listed at EUR/USD 1.0859 and thus lost around 10% compared to the previous year. 

SMA Share Gathers Momentum

In 2015, SMA shareholders were able to look back at a spectacular price performance. By the end of the year,  
the share had risen by around 238%, making it the stock with the secondhighest growth in the TecDax since the  
start of the year. On December 30, 2015, market capitalization was at €1.795 billion. Thus, SMA not only belongs  
to the top flight of PV inverter manufacturers worldwide regarding market capitalization, market capitalization is  
also above the value at the time of the IPO.

The SMA share started the 2015 stock market year at €15.32 (opening price on January 2, 2015, Xetra trading 
 platform) but fell in value considerably during January. Shortly before the publication of the forecast for the current 
 fiscal year, the share marked its lowest price since it was first listed at €10.28 (intraday value) on January 29, 2015. 
The price recovered following the 7th Capital Markets Day. During the event on January 30, 2015, SMA’s Chief 
 Exe cutive Officer Pierre-Pascal Urbon announced details of the Company’s transformation for the first time, including 
the planned savings of 40% of fixed costs and the global reduction of up to 1,600 full-time positions. In addition, 
SMA’s management presented the corporate strategy, SMA’s unique selling propositions and major product inno
vations to investors, analysts and members of the press.

On May 13, 2015, SMA presented the results of the first quarter. The sales and earnings forecast the Managing 
Board had already presented at the press conference on financial statements on March 26, 2015, was achieved. 
The SMA share was therefore one of the day’s winners in the TecDAX and gained in value over the following weeks 
to up to €19.12 (closing price on June 5, 2015, Xetra trading platform). 

The share made another price jump on June 10, 2015. This was attributed to the announcement of the partnership 
between SMA and Siemens in the largescale PV power plants segment during Intersolar Europe in Munich. The 
share climbed by 24.09% to €22.10, reaching its highest value in nearly nine months. 

The share made its highest daily gain of the year on July 10, 2015, after the Managing Board raised the sales 
 forecast for 2015 to between €800 million and €850 million (previously: €730 million to €770 million) and 
predicted operating earnings (EBIT) of €–25 million to €0 million (previously: €–30 million to €–60 million).  The 
Managing Board identified the better than expected growth of the global market for PV inverters, a consid e r  able 
improvement in SMA’s competitiveness and a consistently high order backlog as reasons for the increase in the 
forecast. The share then rose by 24.30% to €24.78 (closing price on July 10, 2015, Xetra trading platform).

In midAugust, the share got another boost in momentum. The news that SMA is to supply seven largescale PV 
power plants in California with central inverters totaling 700 MW of power raised the price temporarily to €36.85 
(closing price on August 17, 2015, Xetra trading platform). The news is also evidence that SMA is benefiting from  
the consolidation in the U.S. market for PV inverters. 

Xetra 
see also Glossary, 

page 167
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Profit-taking in the interim resulted in consolidation at around €30, before the new increases in the forecast at  
 the end of September and the beginning of November led to further price increases. On September 29, 2015,  
the Managing Board raised the sales forecast for the 2015 fiscal year to between €850 million and €900 mil
lion  (previously: €800 million to €850 million) and held out the prospect of a return to profitability in 2015 with 
 ope rating earnings (EBIT) of €0 million to €10 million (previously: €–25 million to €0 million). The share price 
jumped 23.92% from €29.06 to €36.01 and temporarily climbed to €41 in the days following the announcement. 

A similar dynamic was engendered by the third increase in the forecast announced on November 11, 2015,  
resulting from the extremely positive business performance, a significant year-on-year improvement in the sales  
and earnings development in the third quarter and a high order backlog. The new forecast predicted sales of   
€925 million to €975 million and operating earnings (EBIT) of €10 million to €30 million. The share then targeted  
its threeyear high of €50, but repeatedly ricocheted off this marker.

Shortly before the New Year, two external factors finally ensured that the share also jumped this hurdle: the success - 
ful outcome of the climate summit in Paris and the news that the tax advantages for PV systems in the U.S. would be 
 extended until 2020. The share climbed to €51 on December 17, 2015, and reached its high for the year on the 
 basis of closing prices at €55.17 on December 22, 2015. At the end of the year, the share was priced at €51.72 
(closing price on December 31, 2015, Xetra trading platform). The average trading volume was 212,931 shares  
per day.

Analysts Maintain Focus on SMA Share

As a worldwide leading specialist in PV system technology, SMA operates in a volatile market. Due to structural 
change, listed European solar stocks posted significant losses with regard to their market capitalization in recent 
years. In Germany, for example, SMA is the only remaining solar company in the TecDax. Many investment banks 
adjusted their European research activities in the solar sector accordingly. SMA is one of the few companies in  
the sector that a comparatively large number of banks and securities firms are still regularly reporting on. A total  
of 11 institutions are currently covering the Company.

Stable Shareholder Structure

The shareholder structure remained unchanged in the reporting period. 25.05% of the shares are in free float  and 
25.20% are bundled in a pooling agreement. The founders of SMA Solar Technology AG, their trusts and  families 
hold 29.75% of the shares. With a shareholding of 20%, Danfoss A/S is an important anchor investor for SMA.

Annual General Meeting: Discharge of Managing Board and Supervisory Board 
Approved by Large Majority
The SMA Annual General Meeting was held at the Kongress Palais Kassel on May 21, 2015. The shareholders 
granted discharge to the Managing Board and Supervisory Board for the 2014 fiscal year almost unanimously.  
The remaining agenda items also received the majority approval of the Annual General Meeting. The representatives  
of the German Society for the Protection of Securities Holders (Deutsche Schutzgemeinschaft für Wertpapiere, 
DSW) and the Association for the Protection of Private Shareholders (Schutzgemeinschaft der Kleinaktionäre, SdK) 
expressed their support for the strategy put forward by the Managing Board and the measures for the Company’s 
transformation. Around 300 shareholders attended the Annual General Meeting. Voter representation was 83%. The 
Annual General Meeting followed the Managing and Supervisory Boards’ proposal not to distribute a dividend for  
the 2014 fiscal year. The Company makes all information and documents available on its website at www.SMA.de/
AnnualGeneralMeeting.

The next SMA Solar Technology AG Annual General Meeting will be held at the Kongress Palais Kassel on May 31, 2016.

Amended Communication With Analysts and Investors

In terms of capital market communication, SMA concentrates on the main financial centers in Europe. In 2015, the 
SMA Managing Board visited institutional investors in London, Edinburgh, Zurich and Frankfurt and provided infor
mation about the current market and competitive situation, the Company’s unique selling propositions, the progress 
that the Company’s transformation was making and its financial development. Institutional investors welcomed the 
communication policy chosen by the Managing Board of continuing to seek regular dialogue with capital market 
participants even in difficult times. The roadshow presentations are available to all investors on the Investor Relations 
website www.IR.SMA.de. 

See website  
www.SMA.de/ 
AnnualGeneral 

Meeting

See website 
www.IR.SMA.de

reSearCh Coverage

institution name
Citi Phuc Nguyen
Deutsche Bank Felicitas von Bismarck
Independent Research Sven Diermeier
Landesbank BadenWürttemberg Erkan Aycicek
Macquarie Research Gurpreet Gujral
MainFirst Andreas Thielen
Matelan Research Hartmut Moers
Natureo Finance Ingo Queiser
Oddo Seydler Bank AG Stephan Wulf
Raymond James Euro Equities Emmanuel Rétif
Warburg Research Arash Roshan Zamir

SharehoLder STruCTure 
in %

1  Free Float calculated according to guidelines  
for stock indices of Deutsche Börse
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In order to process European investors’ queries more efficiently, SMA answers queries exclusively via a contact form 
on its website. SMA can no longer offer direct communication with investors from North America, Asia/Pacific and 
the Middle East because of reduced staffing. However, these investors can obtain comprehensive information about 
SMA via the Investor Relations website or the abovementioned research analysts.

SMA invites investors, analysts and members of the press to its Capital Markets Day at the beginning of every year. 
This event is held at its headquarters in Niestetal, near Kassel, Germany. On Capital Markets Day, SMA’s manage
ment presents its corporate strategy, key financial figures and strategically important innovations, among other 
 things. In addition, attendees of Capital Markets Day regularly have the opportunity to visit SMA’s production plant 
at its headquarters in Niestetal. The 8th Capital Markets Day on January 29, 2016, proved to be popular with the 
40 investors, analysts and members of the press in attendance.

BaSiC daTa

Security code number A0DJ6J9
ISIN DE000A0DJ6J9
Stock market symbol S92 
Reuters S92G.DE 
Bloomberg S92 GR 
Listing Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
Initial public offering June 27, 2008 
Share class Nopar value ordinary bearer shares
Share capital €34.7 million 
Total number of shares 34.7 million 
Index TecDAX, ÖkoDAX, CDAX, Prime All Share

SMa Share Key FigureS

2015 2014
Year’s closing price (Xetra) € 51.72 15.30
Annual high (Xetra) € 55.17 48.33
Annual low (Xetra) € 10.46 14.17
Number of shares shares 34,700,000 34,700,000
Market capitalization at the end of the year € million 1,795 531
Earnings per share € 0.41 –5.16
Dividend per share € 0.141 0.00
Dividend amount € million 4.9 0.00
Dividend payout ratio % 34.3 0.00
Dividend yield at the end of the year % 0.27 0.00
Position on the TecDAX at the end of the year
According to market capitalization 13 26
According to trading volume 11 14

1 Dividend proposal
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Corporate Governance Report
In this declaration, SMa Solar Technology aG reports on its corporate governance principles in accordance with 
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and on corporate governance in the Company in accord
ance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation act (aktG) and clause 3.10 of the German Corporate 
 Governance Code (DCGK). The declaration includes the declaration of compliance, information on corporate  
governance practices, which comprises information on where they can be accessed by the public, the composition 
and description of the function of the Managing Board, Supervisory Board and respective committees and  
material corporate governance structures. 

Complying with the principles of good corporate governance is extremely important to SMa. SMa is guided by  
the recommendations and suggestions in the Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex; DCGK (German  Corporate 
Governance Code). The Managing Board and Supervisory Board dealt with meeting these requirements, in 
 particular with the amendments to the DCGK in the version of May 5, 2015. Since the declaration of compliance  
of March 5, 2015, printed in the 2014 annual report, the Company has declared further emergent deviations  
from  the German Corporate Governance Code in a total of two declarations of compliance, most recently in the 
 declaration of December 3, 2015. The declaration of December 3, 2015, is reproduced below and published  
on our website at www.SMa.de.

Declaration of Conformity to German Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation act, the Managing Board and Supervisory 
Board of SMa Solar Technology aG declare:

Since the last Declaration of Compliance dated May 21, 2015, SMa Solar Technology aG has complied with  
the recommendations of the Regierungskommission Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex (Government 
Commission German Corporate Governance Code) in the version dated May 5, 2015, published in the Bundes
anzeiger (Federal Gazette) on June 12, 2015, with the exceptions mentioned below and will continue to comply  
with them with the exceptions mentioned below:

(1) notwithstanding article 5.4.1 (2) sentence 1 clause 4 of the German Corporate Governance Code in conjun c
tion with the targets adopted by the Supervisory Board on December 5, 2012, for its composition, the Supervisory 
Board includes with Dr. erik ehrentraut one member who will have reached the age of 75 by the end of the  
election period.

The Supervisory Board believes it is vital that Dr. ehrentraut’s wealth of experience in managing a company with 
international operations and supporting the Company remains available to the Supervisory Board.

(2) notwithstanding article 5.2 (2) of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, Dr. erik ehrentraut, is also Chairman of the audit Committee.  

See also  
www.SMA.de

The Supervisory Board believes it is justifiable to once again assign the role of Chairman of the Audit Committee 
to Dr. ehrentraut as an independent member of the Supervisory Board in addition to his role as Supervisory Board 
Chairman, due to his expertise in accounting and internal control processes as well as his experience managing a 
company with international operations and his many years of service at the Company. 

(3) notwithstanding article 5.4.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has decided 
not to define any maximum limits for terms of office on the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board believes that a 
limit on the term of office does not account for the specific work of a member of the Supervisory Board and his/her 
specific knowledge of the Company and the market environment. 

niestetal, December 3, 2015

The Managing Board  The Supervisory Board
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Corporate Governance Practices

our corporate mission statement explains the framework of our actions and our strategy for our customers,  share
holders and especially for all employees. It is intended to portray our selfimage and inspire enthusiasm for the 
Company, and to impart the values which are the foundation of our success. The mission statement illustrates  
the vision and mission of the Company and our corporate strategy and gives insight into our values: innovation, 
excellent quality, cooperative customer focus, engagement through employee participation, flexibility and constant 
improvement, economic success, ecological responsibility, fairness, and honesty. The mission statement, published  
at the start of 2009, is the result of an intense coordination process involving all employees, so they were able to 
contribute actively. The SMa corporate mission statement can be viewed on our website at www.SMa.de.

SMa adopted the code of conduct of the German association of Materials Management, Purchasing and Logistics 
(BMe) in 2009. These behavioral guidelines commit SMa to fair dealings with suppliers. The guidelines are based 
on, among other things, the Global Compact of the United nations, the conventions of the International Labour 
organization (ILo) and the United nations’ Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The objective is to enshrine 
general principles with regard to fairness, integrity and corporate responsibility in business relationships. For SMa, 
these behavioral guidelines complement its mission statement and corporate culture, in which fairness, integrity and 
corporate responsibility are deeply rooted. The BMe’s code of conduct is accessible on its website at www.bme.de. 

In 2010, SMa also created its own guidelines for suppliers, which are guided by SMa’s corporate principles and 
likewise by the United nations Global Compact and the international labor standards of the ILo. The guidelines 
prescribe standards for sustainable activity and give expression to what SMa expects of suppliers and business 
partners with regard to social, ecological and ethical issues. The key points of the guidelines are the ban on child 
labor, forced labor, abuse and discrimination, the fight against corruption, fair working conditions, occupational 
health and safety, environmental protection, quality and product safety. The latest version of the guidelines (SMa 
Supplier Code) is reproduced on the SMa website. 

on January 13, 2011, the Company made a declaration to the General Secretary of the United nations to adopt 
the ten principles of the Un Global Compact as compulsory guidelines for its corporate governance. The principles 
of the UN Global Compact define standards for upholding human rights, the protection of workers’ rights, environ
mental protection and the avoidance of corruption. They can be viewed on the website www.unglobalcompact.org.

In January 2012, the Managing Board enacted the SMa business principles. The SMa business principles form 
the heart of the compliance management system. on the basis of the SMa mission statement, the SMa business 
principles shape SMa’s values into clear behavioral standards. They were drafted in a workgroup project led by 
Group Compliance. The members of the workgroup comprised the Chairwoman of the Works Council, repres en
t atives of corporate functions and executives. The SMa business principles are obligatory for all SMa employees 
worldwide.

In compliance with the provisions of Section 76 (4) Sentence 2 aktG (Proportion of women), the Managing Board  
resolved on September 29, 2015 to set a target of 7% for the proportion of female employees in the two manage
ment levels below the Managing Board in the period up to June 30, 2017. The target is equal to the actual ratio as 
of the date of the  resolution.

See also  
www.SMA.de

Transparency

Transparency is a key element of good corporate governance. Our aim is to provide all shareholders, financial 
 analysts, media and interested members of the public at large with timely information about our business situation 
and significant corporate changes. All important information is also made available on our website at www.SMA.de.  
Reporting on the business situation and the operating results takes place in the annual Report, in the press con
ference on financial statements and in the Quarterly and Half-Yearly Financial Reports. Furthermore, the public is 
informed through press releases and, if stipulated by law, by means of ad hoc statements. In addition, once a year 
SMa invites investors, analysts and the press to its Capital Markets Day to inform them about the market and  
competition, the Company’s strategic direction, unique selling propositions and financial developments. Moreover,  
social networks are used for communication. Transparency is particularly important whenever deliberations and 
Company decisions might lead to conflicts of interest for members of the Supervisory Board or Managing Board. 
Any conflicts of interest that may have arisen are therefore disclosed by those members of the corporate bodies  
affected when discussion of the subject commenced. The member concerned does not participate in the adoption  
of any necessary resolutions by the Managing Board or the Supervisory Board. 

according to a disclosure made by the members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board, they held, 
either directly or indirectly, 10.01% (2014: 15.11%) of all shares issued as of the end of the fiscal year. The 
 Managing Board members held a total stake of 0.33% (2014: 0.69%) in the share capital and the Supervisory 
Board members held a stake of 9.68% (2014: 14.42%) in the share capital. In addition, Danfoss A/S, in whose 
 executive Committee Kim Fausing acts as vice President and Coo, holds 20.00% (2014: 20.00%) of the share 
capital. With a stake of 11.05% (2014: less than 10%), Lars Cramer is to be mentioned as another shareholder  
with a stake of more than 10%.

Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report is a constituent part of the audited Consolidated Management Report and is shown on 
pages 28 et seqq. of the annual Report.

The Company’s Corporate Bodies and Their Functions

SMa Solar Technology aG is a stock corporation governed by German law. accordingly, it possesses a dualistic 
management structure in which one corporate body is devoted to managing the Company (the Managing Board) 
and is supervised by another corporate body (the Supervisory Board). Both bodies are endowed with different 
powers and work closely with one another in an atmosphere of trust when managing and supervising the Company.  
at the annual General Meeting, electing the auditor and shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board  
takes place as does determining the appropriation of profits, along with making decisions that impact member rights  
of shareholders.

See also  
www.SMA.de

See also  
Remuneration Report  

page 28 et seqq.
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Managing Board

The Managing Board is responsible for independently and jointly managing the Company. It is obliged to sustain
ably ensure and increase company value and is responsible for managing the business. It decides on fundamental 
issues of business policy and corporate strategy as well as on short- and medium-term financial planning. The Mana
ging Board is responsible for preparing the Quarterly and Half-Yearly Financial Reports and Annual Financial 
Statements of SMA Solar Technology AG and of the SMA Group, as well as for adherence to all legal and official 
provisions and internal policies. 

as a collective body, the Managing Board, in principle, strives to adopt resolutions unanimously. However, the 
Rules of Procedure for the Managing Board, adopted by the Supervisory Board (available on our website at   
www.IR.SMA.de) stipulate that individual members of the Managing Board are responsible for specific areas of  
responsibility. The Managing Board lays out how responsibilities are assigned. The members of the Managing 
Board notify each other on an ongoing basis about all material events in their area of responsibility and about any 
matters covering several areas of responsibility. If the desired unanimity cannot be reached when adopting reso
lutions, then the Managing Board decides on the basis of a simple majority of the members present. However,  
no resolutions may generally be adopted on matters that have been assigned to the area of responsibility of  
a member absent from a meeting. Under legal provisions or the Rules of Procedure, in certain transactions, a  
unanimous resolution of the Managing Board is mandatory. For a predetermined number of transactions, the  
Supervisory Board has a reservation of consent. The Managing Board has not instituted any committees.

In fiscal year 2015, Lydia Sommer left the Managing Board on February 28, 2015, and Martin Kinne on Decem
ber 31, 2015. at the end of the reporting year, the Managing Board thus consisted of three members: Roland 
Grebe (Board Member for Human Resources and IT), Dr.Ing. Jürgen Reinert (Board Member for operations and 
Technology) and Pierre-Pascal Urbon (Chief Executive Officer, Board Member for Finance/Legal and Sales). 

In compliance with the provisions in Section 111 (5) aktG, the Supervisory Board in its meeting on September 30, 
2015, set a target of 0% for the proportion of women on the Managing Board in the period up to June 30, 2017.  
This target was set because the terms of the existing contracts with the Managing Board members run beyond the 
period in question.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board advises the Managing Board in all matters and supervises its activity. The Managing Board  
involves and consults with the Supervisory Board on all matters of fundamental significance and whenever partic-
ularly important business decisions need to be made. Under the Rules of Procedure that apply to the Managing 
Board, which were adopted by the Supervisory Board, the Managing Board must obtain prior approval from the 
 Supervisory Board for certain decisions. Such decisions include approval of the annual budget including the invest
ment plan, incorporation, acquisition or sale of companies and acquisition or sale of real estate, whenever stipu
lated threshold values are exceeded. The Supervisory Board must also approve the allocations of responsibility on 
the Managing Board.

The Supervisory Board is currently made up of 12 members and its composition complies with the provisions  
of the German Stock Corporation act and the CoDetermination act. Under these provisions, the employees of 
German Group companies and their shareholders (annual General Meeting) each elect six representatives to 

See also  
www.IR.SMA.de

the  Supervisory Board. The current members of the Supervisory Board are: oliver Dietzel, Johannes Häde, Heike 
Haigis, Yvonne Siebert, Dr. Matthias Victor and Hans-Dieter Werner as employee representatives and Roland Bent, 
Peter Drews, Dr. erik ehrentraut (Chairman), Kim Fausing (Deputy Chairman), Dr. Winfried Hoffmann and Reiner 
Wettlaufer as shareholder representatives.

Dr. Ehrentraut, as an independent member of the Supervisory Board, possesses the necessary expertise in the fields 
of accounting or auditing as stipulated under Section 100 (5) of the German Stock Corporation act (aktG).

The committees prepare topics and resolutions for review by the Supervisory Board at its plenary session of the 
Super visory Board. They regularly meet with stakeholders such as the Managing Board, the auditor or the Heads  
of Internal auditing or Compliance for this purpose. The content of the committee meetings is reported on by the 
committee chairperson at the next plenary session of the Supervisory Board. any member of the Supervisory Board 
may attend committee meetings, provided the relevant committee chairperson does not decide otherwise. The  meeting 
minutes and resolutions adopted by committees are made available to all the members of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board reports annually on the focus of its activities and deliberations in the Supervisory Board 
Report. You may refer to the Supervisory Board Rules of Procedure on our website at www.IR.SMA.de. The Super-
visory Board members take general and specialized training necessary for their tasks on their own accord, and in 
doing so they receive appropriate support from the Company.

as early as 2011, the Supervisory Board resolved objectives regarding its future composition. The objectives were 
edited at the meetings on December 5, 2012, and September 30, 2015, and now read as follows:

1.  The minimum proportion of women on the Supervisory Board is determined by legal provisions.

2.  Maintain the composition of Supervisory Board members with a background of international experience at least 
in the previous scope.

3.  Special consideration given to candidates with knowledge and experience in the application of financial report
ing standards and internal control processes as well as in the field of auditing.

4.  Special consideration given to candidates with technical expertise, particularly in the field of renewable energies, 
preferably in the field of photovoltaics.

5. Special consideration given to candidates with knowledge of the Company.

6.  at least half of the shareholder representatives are to be independent. at the same time, at least one member is 
to possess expertise in the field of accounting or auditing.

7. Consideration of the age limit of 75 years at the end of the term of office when selecting new members.

tHe CoMMItteeS oF tHe SUpervISorY BoarD are MaDe Up aS FoLLoWS

Presidial Committee Dr. Erik Ehrentraut (Chairman), Yvonne Siebert (Deputy Chairman), Kim Fausing, Dr. Matthias Victor
audit Committee Dr. erik ehrentraut (Chairman), Reiner Wettlaufer (Deputy Chairman), oliver Dietzel, Johannes Häde
nomination Committee Peter Drews (Chairman), Reiner Wettlaufer (Deputy Chairman), Dr. erik ehrentraut, Kim Fausing
Mediation Committee Heike Haigis (Chairwoman), Kim Fausing (Deputy Chairman), Dr. erik ehrentraut, HansDieter Werner

See also Supervisory 
Board Report, 

page 8 et seqq.

See also  
www.IR.SMA.de
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The term of office for all current members of the Supervisory Board ends with the conclusion of the Annual General 
Meeting 2020. The objectives have been implemented as follows:

As regards 1: The Supervisory Board now has two female members, Heike Haigis and Yvonne Siebert. As of the 
date of the last election of Supervisory Board members in May 2015, the provisions of Section 96 (2) aktG on the 
appointment of women to the Supervisory Board were not yet applicable (Section 25 (2) of the Introductory act  
of the Stock Corporation Act). However, the Supervisory Board is already taking action to be able to fill future pos i-
tions with qualified members of both genders in at least the legally prescribed minimum ratio. 

as regards 2 to 5: In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, these objectives have been achieved.

as regards 6: To date, at least three shareholder representatives have been deemed as independent; two members, 
one of whom is independent, possess expertise in the fields of accounting and auditing.

as regards 7: To date, one member of the Supervisory Board will exceed the age limit of 75 years at the end of his 
term of office.

Cooperation Between the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board work closely with one another in an atmosphere of trust for the 
good of the Company, thus meeting both the requirements of effective enterprise control and the need to be able 
to make decisions quickly. Their common goal is to secure the continued existence of the Company and steadily 
increase its value. To this end, the Managing Board keeps the Supervisory Board promptly and comprehensively 
informed, both in writing and verbally, and during regular meetings about the Company’s position, current busi
ness developments and all relevant questions pertaining to strategic planning, risk management and important 
compliance matters. The Quarterly Financial Reports and the Half-Yearly Financial Report are discussed with the 
Mana ging Board on a regular basis during audit Committee meetings prior to their publication.

outside meetings, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and his Deputy are also in contact with the Managing 
Board to discuss significant business transactions and upcoming decisions and are informed of key developments 
immediately.

Shareholders and annual General Meeting

SMa Solar Technology aG shareholders discuss their codetermination and control rights at the annual General 
Meeting, which takes place at least once a year. The annual General Meeting adopts resolutions with binding 
effect and each share grants one vote. every shareholder who registers on time is entitled to participate in the 
annual General Meeting. In addition, shareholders may have their voting rights exercised by a credit institution,  
a shareholder association, the proxies deployed by SMa Solar Technology aG and bound by the shareholder’s 
instructions or by another authorized representative. The invitation to the annual General Meeting and all reports  
and information necessary for adopting resolutions, including the annual Report, are published in accordance with 
the provisions of the Stock Corporation act and are available in the runup to the annual General Meeting on our 
website at www.IR.SMa.de.

See also  
www.IR.SMA.de

Information Concerning Takeovers Required by  
Sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) HGB
number 1: The share capital of SMa Solar Technology aG amounts to €34.7 million. The capital is divided up into 
34,700,000 nopar value bearer shares. The rights and obligations associated with the shareholdings fall under the 
regulations in the German Stock Corporation act.

number 2: each share has the right to one vote. on october 1, 2010, the four founders and main shareholders  
of SMa Solar Technology aG, Dr.Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer, Peter Drews, Prof. (em.) Dr.Ing. Werner Kleinkauf 
and Reiner Wettlaufer, transferred equity stakes to the next generation within their families by way of a gift. The 
acquiring shareholders concluded a pooling agreement for a period of seven years. During the term of this agree
ment, the voting rights emanating from the shares transferred may only be exercised as a block vote. In addition, 
the shares may only be sold to third parties with the consent of the other members of the pool or if narrowly defined 
prerequisites are satisfied. At the end of the fiscal year, the shareholders who coordinate their voting rights in 
“Poolvertrag SMa Solar Technology aG” (pooling agreement) hold a total of 8,744,470 shares or 25.20% of  
the Company’s voting rights. Beyond this, the Managing Board is not aware of any restrictions affecting voting 
rights or the transferability of shares.

number 3: Danfoss A/S, Denmark, holds 20.00% of the Company’s share capital.

Shareholders who coordinate their voting rights in “Poolvertrag SMa Solar Technology aG” (see number 2) hold 
25.20% of the Company’s share capital. Lars Cramer as individual shareholder of the “Poolvertrag SMa Solar 
Technology aG” holds 11.05% of the Company’s share capital.

numbers 4 and 5: The shareholders do not have any special rights conferring them any particular powers of control.

number 6: appointment and dismissal of the Managing Board takes place pursuant to Sections 84 and 85 of the 
German Stock Corporation act (aktG) together with Section 31 of the CoDetermination act (MitBestG). Under 
 article 5 of the articles of Incorporation, the Managing Board consists of at least two members and the exact num
ber is laid down by the Supervisory Board. Under Section 179 of the aktG, the articles of Incorporation may be 
amended by a resolution adopted by the annual General Meeting with a majority of threequarters of the share 
capital represented at the vote.

number 7: The articles of Incorporation include the provisions on the powers of the Managing Board regarding 
authorized Capital II. The Managing Board, after obtaining the consent of the Supervisory Board, is entitled 
to increase the share capital on one or several occasions by up to a total of €10 million by issuing new bearer 
shares in return for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind in the period up to May 22, 2018. The 
Managing Board, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, is entitled to cancel the statutory subscription rights of 
shareholders: a) in the case of capital increases in return for contributions in kind for the acquisition of or investment  
in companies, parts of companies or investments in companies, b) for the purpose of issuing shares to employees 
of the Company and companies affiliated with the Company, c) to exclude fractions and d) in the case of capital 
increases in return for cash contributions if the issue amount of the new shares does not fall significantly below the 
stock exchange price of shares of the same class and terms that are already listed at the time the Managing Board  
sets the final issue amount, and the total pro rata amount of the issued capital attributable to the new shares in   
res pect of which the subscription right is excluded may not exceed 10% of the issued capital available at the time  
the new shares are issued.
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Furthermore, following a resolution adopted by the annual General Meeting on May 27, 2010, the Managing 
Board, in the period up to May 26, 2015, was entitled to acquire its own shares up to a value of 10% of the exist
ing capital stock at the time the resolution was adopted by the annual General Meeting, and to dispose of shares 
acquired in this way with the consent of the Supervisory Board by means other than through the stock exchange, 
or an offer made to all the shareholders, provided the shares are sold in return for cash at a price that does not fall 
significantly below the stock exchange price of shares in the Company issued under the same terms or the shares 
are sold in return for inkind contributions, or they are offered in return for shares held by persons that either had or 
have an employment relationship with the Company, or with one of its affiliated companies, or members of bodies in 
companies that depend on the Company. additionally, if the Managing Board sold its own shares by offering them 
to all the shareholders with the consent of the Supervisory Board, the Managing Board was entitled to exclude the 
shareholders’ right of subscription for fractions. In addition, the Managing Board was entitled to cancel any shares  
it had acquired after obtaining the consent of the Supervisory Board. The Managing Board did not exercise this 
entitlement. 

number 8: Credit lines agreed with banks with a volume of €26 million contain a changeofcontrol clause that 
 includes the special termination right of the relevant bank.

number 9: If the employment contract with a member of the Managing Board ends after being amicably cancelled 
within a period of nine months from a change of control, this member is entitled to severance pay amounting to his/her 
remuneration rights for the remaining term of the employment contract, however, no longer than a period of two years.

Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Report summarizes the principles that are decisive when it comes to determining remuneration for the 
Supervisory Board and Managing Board and also explains the remuneration structure and the emoluments payable.

Managing Board Remuneration and emoluments

The remuneration system for the Managing Board (including the most important contractual elements) is decided  
at a Supervisory Board plenary session. The contracts concluded with Managing Board members currently in force 
have a term of five years. The Supervisory Board regularly examines the remuneration system for the Managing 
Board and defines targets for the variable components of the emoluments. The criteria for determining remuner-
ation include evaluating the tasks of the individual Managing Board members, their personal performance, the 
overall financial situation and Company success, using compensation peer benchmarking and the Company’s 
 usual remuneration structure. In its assessment, the Supervisory Board also included Managing Board remunera
tion in relation to the remuneration of the toplevel executives and the workforce as a whole, taking into account 
 changes over time, and thus laid out comparable peer groups from toplevel executives and the workforce. The 
remuneration is assessed in a way that ensures it is competitive with the market for highly qualified managerial staff. 
apart from statutory requirements, the remuneration system also complies with the stipulations of the German 
Corporate Governance Code and with case law and was approved by the annual General Meeting on May 27, 
2014. The remuneration of the Managing Board consists of the following components in which the fixed compo
nent of the emoluments amounts to 40% to 50% and the variable component and the longterm bonus in the case 
of good business performance to 50% to 60% of the total remuneration before additional benefits. At least one 
half of the variable component of the emoluments must correspond to the longterm bonus.

nonPeRFoRManCeBaSeD FIXeD ReMUneRaTIon

The annual fixed emoluments are divided up into 13 monthly salaries. The 13th salary is paid with the salary for 
novem  ber, on a pro rata basis for those taking up or leaving their posts during the year.

TaRGeTBaSeD SHoRTTeRM vaRIaBLe ReMUneRaTIon

The Managing Board members also receive a targetbased variable salary component, which depends on earnings 
before taxes (EBT), sales achieved as recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements for a fiscal year audited by 
the auditor, and achievement of personal objectives (personal performance). The personal objectives agreed upon 
with the Managing Board members for 2015 related to issues of cost reduction, implementation of the Company’s 
transformation, process improvement and expansion of internationalization. For shortterm variable remuneration, if 
earnings are negative in any given fiscal year, they are set off against the EBT recorded for the next fiscal year. The 
targets (EBT/sales/personal performance) are adjusted annually by the Supervisory Board. If at least 100% of the 
target values are achieved, the full variable salary component agreed upon may be claimed. values inbetween are 
determined on a linear basis. If the total value of the individual target components is exceeded, this does not entitle 
payment of a higher variable component of the emoluments (cap). The performancebased variable component is 
paid out after the approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements, which usually takes place at the end of March 
of the following year. If the Managing Board member’s duties do not extend beyond one full fiscal year, then he/
she receives one twelfth of the performance-based variable remuneration determined for the entire fiscal year for 
each month of the fiscal year in which he/she carries out his/her duties. 

LonGTeRM BonUS

Managing Board members also receive a longterm bonus, which depends on the mean eBT margin as recorded in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements audited by the auditors over a period of three fiscal years. The target value 
(EBT margin) is determined annually by the Supervisory Board for the subsequent three fiscal years. If 100% of the 
target value is achieved, then the full agreed upon longterm bonus may be claimed. values inbetween are deter
mined on a linear basis. If the target value is exceeded, this does not entitle payment of a higher longterm bonus 
(cap). The bonus is payable, at the very earliest, upon expiration of the threeyear period. Payment takes place 
after the third Consolidated Financial Statements have been approved, usually at the end of March, even if the em
ployment contract ends before the end of the performance period. If the employment contract still has a term of at 
least two years to run when payment becomes due, then the Managing Board member is expected to invest the net 
amount payable, in part, in shares in SMA Solar Technology AG and to hold these shares until his/her Managing 
Board duties in the Company have ended.
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aDDITIonaL BeneFITS 

all Managing Board members are entitled to

 a company car,
  reimbursement of travel costs and any expenses incurred on company business,
 employer’s contribution up to the contribution assessment ceiling of the statutory social insurance scheme  

(pension, health, nursing care), even in the case of voluntary insurance and without furnishing any proof,
 appropriate professional indemnity insurance (D&o insurance).
 
any taxes due must be borne by the Managing Board member. 

oTHeR ConTRaCTUaL BeneFITS

In the event of death or permanent disability, the emoluments will continue to be paid for six months. In the event of 
early termination of Managing Board duties without good cause, the compensation payable is limited to the total 
remuneration for the remaining term of the contract and up to a maximum of two years’ emoluments (severance pay 
cap). If the employment contract with a member of the Managing Board ends because it is amicably cancelled with  
in a period of nine months from a change of control, this member is also entitled to a severance payment amounting 
to his/her remuneration claims. The same calculation basis applies as in the case of the severance pay cap. All 
members of the Managing Board are subject to a posttermination noncompete clause valid for a period of two 
years that provides a compensation payment amounting to 50% of the average annual emoluments. The calculation 
basis is the annual salary (fixed and variable components) paid out for the last full calendar year. The Managing 
Board member must set off any monies earned while he/she is otherwise employed during the non-compete period. 
The maximum cash value of the compensation sums payable in a noncompete clause after conclusion of Managing 
Board duties amounts to €0.643 million for Managing Board members Roland Grebe and Dr.Ing. Jürgen Reinert 
(2014: €0.391 million and €0.294 million), and €0.809 million (2014: €0.391 million) for Managing Board member 
PierrePascal Urbon. 

In the 2015 fiscal year, the total emoluments payable to all members of the Managing Board in office in the fiscal 
year amounted to €6.106 million (2014: €3.012 million). This included variable emoluments of €1.355 million 
paid to the Managing Board in 2015 (2014: €1.447 million). The Managing Board members receive no separate 
remuneration for carrying out tasks at subsidiaries.

The table below provides information on the remuneration of the Managing Board in accordance with the rules of 
the German Corporate Governance Code of May 2015. The values in the “Inflow” table relate to the emoluments 
of individual Managing Board members for the 2015 fiscal year. The “Grants” table also shows the minimum and 
maximum remuneration achievable with regard to the variable remuneration components for the fiscal year. 

In connection with her stepping down from the Managing Board, Lydia Sommer received a single payment totaling 
€0.982 million to settle the existing noncompete clause and as severance pay. In connection with his stepping 
down from the Managing Board, Martin Kinne received a single payment totaling €1.800 million to settle existing 
remuneration claims and as severance pay.

No credits were granted nor were any advances paid to Managing Board members during the fiscal year. There 
are no pension commitments.

InFLoW

roland Grebe  
Board Member for  

Human resources and It 
Joined 2009/06/11

Martin Kinne
Board Member for  
Sales and Service 
Left 2015/12/31

1

in €`000 2014 2015 2014 2015
Fixed remuneration 350 415 480
Additional benefits / Others 22 22 34
Total 372 437 514
oneyear variable remuneration 253 305 270
Multiyear variable remuneration
Longterm variable remuneration 2012–2014 0
Longterm variable remuneration 2013–2015 0 0
Total 253 305 270
Pension contribution 0 0 0
total remuneration 625 742 784

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen reinert
Board Member  
for technology  

Joined 2014/04/01

Lydia Sommer 
Board Member for  

Finance and Hr/CFo 
Left 2015/02/28

2

in €`000 2014 2015 2014 2015
Fixed remuneration 263 415 350 54
Additional benefits / Others 16 22 23 4
Total 279 437 373 58
oneyear variable remuneration 239 305 103 0
Multiyear variable remuneration
Longterm variable remuneration 2012–2014 0 0
Longterm variable remuneration 2013–2015 0 0
Total 239 305 103 0
Pension contribution 0 0 0 0
total remuneration 518 742 476 58

pierre-pascal Urbon  
Board Member for Strategy  

and Finance/Ceo  
Joined 2006/07/01

Marko Werner  
Chief Sales officer

Left 2014/06/10

3

in €`000 2014 2015 2014 2015
Fixed remuneration 350 500 156
Additional benefits / Others 23 23 11
Total 373 523 167
oneyear variable remuneration 853 475 0
Multiyear variable remuneration
Longterm variable remuneration 2012–2014 0 0
Longterm variable remuneration 2013–2015 0
Total 853 475 0
Pension contribution 0 0 0
total remuneration 1,226 998 167

1 Martin Kinne left the Managing Board as of December 31, 2015.  
2 Lydia Sommer left the Managing Board as of February 28, 2015.  
3 Marko Werner’s contract expired as scheduled.  
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GrantS

roland Grebe  
Board Member for  

Human resources and It 
Joined 2009/06/11

Martin Kinne
Board Member for  
Sales and Service 
Left 2015/12/31

1

in €`000 2014 2015
2015 
(min)

2015 
(max) 2014 2015

2015 
(min)

2015 
(max)

Fixed remuneration 350 415 415 415 480 480 480
Additional benefits / Others 22 22 22 22 34 34 34
Total 372 437 437 437 514 514 514
oneyear variable remuneration 375 305 65 305 270 102 270
Longterm variable remuneration 2014–2016 175
Longterm variable remuneration 2015–2017 240 0 240 0 0 0
Total 550 545 65 545 270 102 270
Pension contribution 0 0 0 0
total remuneration 922 982 502 982 784 616 784

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen reinert
Board Member  
for technology  

Joined 2014/04/01

Lydia Sommer 
Board Member for  

Finance and Hr/CFo 
Left 2015/02/28

2

in €`000 2014 2015
2015 
(min)

2015 
(max) 2014 2015

2015 
(min)

2015 
(max)

Fixed remuneration 263 415 415 415 350 54 54 54
Additional benefits / Others 16 22 22 22 23 4 4 4
Total 279 437 437 437 373 58 58 58
oneyear variable remuneration 331 305 65 305 225 0 0 0
Longterm variable remuneration 2014–2016 131 0 175 0
Longterm variable remuneration 2015–2017 240 0 240 29 0 29
Total 462 545 65 545 400 29 0 29
Pension contribution 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
total remuneration 741 982 502 982 773 87 58 87

pierre-pascal Urbon  
Board Member for Strategy  

and Finance/Ceo  
Joined 2006/07/01

Marko Werner  
Chief Sales officer

Left 2014/06/10

3

in €`000 2014 2015
2015 
(min)

2015 
(max) 2014 2015

2015 
(min)

2015 
(max)

Fixed remuneration 350 500 500 500 156
Additional benefits / Others 23 23 23 23 11
Total 373 523 523 523 167
oneyear variable remuneration 975 475 150 475 175
Longterm variable remuneration 2014–2016 175 175
Longterm variable remuneration 2015–2017 325 0 325
Total 1,150 800 150 800 350
Pension contribution 0 0 0 0 0
total remuneration 1,523 1,323 673 1,323 517

1 Martin Kinne left the Managing Board as of December 31, 2015.  
2 Lydia Sommer left the Managing Board as of February 28, 2015.  
3 Marko Werner’s contract expired as scheduled.

Supervisory Board Remuneration and emoluments

In accordance with the regulations on Supervisory Board remuneration in effect since the 2013 fiscal year, Super
visory Board members receive fixed remuneration of €25,000 a year. The remuneration payable to the Chairman 
amounts to twice the amount mentioned above and the remuneration payable to his/her deputy amounts to one 
and a half times the aforementioned amount.

Members of the Supervisory Board audit Committee receive an annual remuneration of an additional €7,500. For 
members of the Supervisory Board Presidial Committee, the total annual remuneration is an additional €5,000. The 
chairpersons of these committees receive twice the aforementioned amounts. Members of other committees do  
not receive any special remuneration for their committee duties.

Supervisory Board members receive an additional €750 per meeting day for their meeting participation. If they take 
part in several meetings in one day, they receive a maximum payment of twice the aforementioned amount. The 
remuneration is payable at the end of the fiscal year. Supervisory Board members who have only sat on the Super-
visory Board or a committee for part of the fiscal year receive remuneration pro rata temporis.

No other remuneration or benefits for personally rendered services, in particular consulting and mediation services, 
were granted to Supervisory Board members. Similarly, in the year under review, the Supervisory Board members 
were granted no credits or advances.

as of December 31, 2015, six of the members of the Supervisory Board held SMa shares.

The emoluments payable to the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to a total of €0.460 million in the 2015 
fiscal year (2014: €0.495 million).

Beyond the remuneration of the Supervisory Board, the employee representatives that are employees of the Com
pany receive fee payments unrelated to their Supervisory Board duties.
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other 

The Company has taken out professional indemnity insurance (D&o insurance) for the members of the corporate 
bodies of all SMa Group companies. It is effected or extended every year. The insurance covers the personal 
 liability risk of the members resulting from a breach of duty when exercising their duties in the event that any claims 
for economic losses are asserted against them. The deductible in the policy for the 2015 fiscal year was 10% of  
the damage, however, no higher than one and a half times the fixed annual emoluments of the member of the cor
porate body.

reMUneratIon oF tHe SUpervISorY BoarD

remuneration for  
Supervisory Board duties

remuneration for  
committee duties total

in €`000 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Roland Bent (as of January 28, 2015) 26.9 23.9 0.0 ./ 0. 26.9 0 0.

Dr.Ing. e. h. Günther Cramer
(Chairman until January 6, 2015) 0.8 51.5 0.2 11.5 1.0 63.0
oliver Dietzel 32.5 31.8 12.8 3.4 45.3 35.2
Peter Drews 31.0 31.0 0.0 0.0 31.0 31.0
Dr. erik ehrentraut (Deputy Chairman
until February 11, 2015, Chairman as of  
February 11, 2015) 56.1 44.3 33.4 28.3 89.5 72.6
Kim Fausing (Deputy Chairman) 0.0* 0.0* 0.0* 0.0* 0.0* 0.0*
Dr. Günther Häckl (until May 21, 2015) 14.3 31.8 4.2 8.8 18.5 40.6
Johannes Häde 31.8 31.8 12.8 12.8 44.6 44.6
Heike Haigis 31.8 7.9 0.0 0.0 31.8 7.9
Dr. Winfried Hoffmann 30.3 30.3 0.0 0.0 30.3 30.3
Prof. (em.) Dr.Ing. Werner Kleinkauf  
(until august 27, 2014) ./ 0. 21.7 ./ 0. 0.0 ./ 0. 21.7
alexander naujoks  
(until September 30, 2014) ./ 0. 23.9 ./ 0. 8.6 ./ 0. 32.5
Joachim Schlosser (until May 21, 2015) 14.3 31.8 0.0 0.0 14.3 31.8
Yvonne Siebert (as of May 21, 2015) 18.3 23.9 4.6 ./ 0. 22.9 ./ 0.

Dr. Matthias victor (as of May 21, 2015) 18.3 23.9 4.6 ./ 0. 22.9 ./ 0.

HansDieter Werner (as of May 21, 2015) 18.3 23.9 0.0 ./ 0. 18.3 ./ 0.

Reiner Wettlaufer 31.0 30.3 12.8 12.8 43.8 43.1
Mirko Zeidler (until May 21, 2015) 14.3 31.8 4.2 8.8 18.5 40.6
total 370.0 399.9 89.6 95.0 459.6 494.9

* Kim Fausing waives his entitlements from the Company.      
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The Residential business unit serves the attractive long-term market of small PV systems for private applications. The 
portfolio comprises micro and string inverters, energy management solutions, storage solutions, and communication 
products and accessories.

The Commercial business unit focuses on the fast-growing market of medium-sized PV systems for commercial 
applications, producing three-phase string inverters as well as integrated energy management solutions, medium 
voltage technology and other accessories. 

The Utility business unit focuses on the growing market for PV power plants with outputs in the multi-megawatt range 
with central inverters. In addition to medium- and high-voltage technology, the product and service portfolio also 
comprises grid service and monitoring functions as well as accessories. 

The portfolio of the Service business unit includes commissioning, warranty extensions, service and maintenance 
contracts, operational management, remote system monitoring and spare parts business. 

Other Business comprises Railway Technology and Zeversolar as well as the Off-Grid and Storage business unit. In 
the Consolidated Financial Statements, the business sector Zeversolar is presented with its own information under 
the regulations of IFRS 8.13.

ManaGeMenT and COnTROl

as required by the German Stock Corporation act (aktG), the executive bodies consist of the annual General 
Meeting, the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board. The Managing Board manages the Company; the 
 Supervisory Board appoints, supervises and advises the Managing Board. The annual General Meeting elects  
the shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board and grants or refuses discharge to the Managing Board 
and the Supervisory Board.

dOwnSIZInG OF The ManaGInG BOaRd

as part of the Company’s transformation, the Supervisory Board of SMa Solar Technology aG reduced the number 
of Managing Board members in the reporting period. lydia Sommer left the Managing Board at the end of February 
2015, Martin Kinne at the end of december 2015. Since January 1, 2016, the Managing Board of SMa Solar 
Technology aG has comprised the following members: Roland Grebe (Board Member for human Resources and 
IT), dr.-Ing. Jürgen Reinert (Board Member for Oper ations and Technology), Pierre-Pascal Urbon (Chief executive 
Officer, Board Member for Finance/Legal and Sales). 

COMPOSITIOn OF The SUPeRVISORy BOaRd

In the reporting period, the SMa Supervisory Board, which represents shareholders and employees in equal 
measure, consisted of Roland Bent (as of January 28, 2015), Peter drews, dr. erik ehrentraut (Chairman as of 
February 11, 2015), Kim Fausing (deputy Chairman as of February 11, 2015), dr. winfried hoffmann and Reiner 
Wettlaufer. The shareholder representatives were confirmed in office at the Annual General Meeting on May 21, 
2015. Following the scheduled election, since May 21, 2015, the employees have been represented by Oliver 
dietzel, Johannes häde, heike haigis, yvonne Siebert, dr. Matthias Victor and hans-dieter werner. Sadly, the 
Company‘s founder and long-standing Supervisory Board Chairman dr.-Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer died on 
January 6, 2015, after a long and serious illness. The vacant position on the SMA Supervisory Board was filled  
by Roland Bent, member of the executive Board of Phoenix Contact Gmbh & Co. KG.

Basic information aBout the Group 

Business Activity and Organization
SMa Solar Technology aG (SMa) and its subsidiaries (SMa Group) develop, produce and distribute PV inverters, 
transformers, choke coils, monitoring and energy management systems for PV systems and power electronic compo-
nents for railway technology. another area of business is providing operation and maintenance service for photo-
voltaic power plants (O&M business), in addition to other services.  

Organizational Structure

leGal STRUCTURe OF The GROUP

as the parent company of SMa Group, SMa, headquartered in niestetal near Kassel, Germany, provides all of the 
functions required for its operative business. with the exception of Jiangsu Zeversolar new energy Co., ltd., the 
parent company holds, either directly or indirectly, 100% of the shares of all the operating companies that belong 
to SMa Group. as of december 31, 2015, SMa has a 99.34% majority shareholding in Jiangsu Zeversolar new 
energy Co., ltd. The annual Report includes information regarding the parent company and all 35 Group companies 
(2014: 37), including eight domestic companies and 27 companies based abroad. 

The scope of consolidation as of december 31, 2015 changed in comparison to december 31, 2014 as a result 
of the liquidation of SMa Beijing Commercial Company ltd. as of august 7, 2015, and SMa Central and eastern 
europe s.r.o. as of december 31, 2015. 

new ORGanIZaTIOnal STRUCTURe

In accordance with market requirements, SMa regularly reviews its organizational structure in order to make it  
as efficient as possible. Given the considerable decline in sales in recent years, SMA adjusted its organizational 
structure at the beginning of 2015. Since January 1, 2015, SMa Group has operated under its new functional 
organization. In this new organization, the Residential, Commercial, Utility and Service business units take overall 
responsibility and manage development, Sales and Operations. Railway Technology and Zeversolar as well as  
the Off-Grid and Storage business unit have been combined under Other Business. This compact organization 
allows for faster decisions and a leaner management structure. 

reportinG structure

sma Group

residential
Business unit

commercial 
Business unit

utility 
Business unit

service 
Business unit other Business
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In April 2015, the Residential business unit launched the first products of a new inverter generation in this segment. 
The new Sunny Boy 1.5/2.5, with outputs of 1.5 kW and 2.5 kW, enables a high level of self-consumption, is 
extremely versatile and can be easily installed and integrated into the home network via plug and play in just a few 
minutes. 

In the field of intelligent energy management (SMA Smart Home), the Company enhanced the Sunny Home Man-
ager in the reporting period to make communication with household appliances via EEBus possible.

The Commercial business unit focuses on the growing market of medium-sized PV systems for commercial applications. 
The portfolio comprises three-phase inverters from the Sunny Tripower brand with outputs of more than 12 kW as 
well as energy management solutions, medium-voltage technology and other accessories. 

In the reporting period, SMA expanded the successful Sunny Tripower family with the Sunny Tripower 20000TL/ 
25000TL. This new product boasts the new grid management functions “Integrated Plant Control” and “Q on 
 Demand 24/7,” which enable reactive power to be provided both during operation and at night to stabilize the 
utility grid. In addition, SMA certified new Sunny Tripower series products that are specifically tailored to the relevant 
market requirements for the U.S. and Japan in order to increase its market share in these important photovoltaic 
markets.

The Utility business unit serves the growing market for PV power plants with outputs ranging from 500 kW to the 
multi-megawatt range with central inverters from the Sunny Central brand. In addition to medium- and high-voltage 
technology, the product and service portfolio also comprises grid service and monitoring functions as well as  
accessories. 

The Sunny Central Compact Power Family product range includes a variety of different versions, providing optimal 
technical solutions and maximum investment security for any large-scale project and meeting the conditions for  
the respective country. In addition to high efficiencies of up to 99%, our inverters are known for their extensive grid 
management functions. As the market leader in this segment, SMA also produces central inverters that feed directly 
into the medium-voltage grid of electric utility companies, thus contributing to a greater energy yield of the overall 
system.

An important strategic development of the Utility business unit is the partnership with Siemens’ energy management 
division. In this partnership, the companies offer customers coordinated system solutions and services from a single 
source. The partners worked together to develop the innovative container solution Medium Voltage Power Station 
2200SC/2500SC. The system solution for DC voltages of 1,000/1,500 volt unites a 2.5 MW central inverter from 
SMA and a medium-voltage transformer and medium-voltage switchgear from Siemens in a turnkey, standard con-
tainer. Along with this, SMA presented a new string-monitor for reliable monitoring and control of PV power plants. 

In the reporting period, the Service business unit provided support to SMA customers worldwide, offering exten sive 
services to optimize system performance and ensure high yield stability. SMA’s service portfolio includes commis-
sioning, warranty extensions, service and maintenance contracts, operational management, remote system monitor-
ing and spare parts business. Through a global network, SMA Service can guarantee rapid reaction time for SMA 
inverters installed all over the world.

See Research and  
Development,  

page 45 et seqq.

Reactive Power  
see also Glossary,  

page 165 

See Research and  
Development,  

page 45 et seqq.

See Research and  
Development  

page 45 et seqq.

GLOBAL MARKET LEADERSHIP IN PV INVERTERS

According to the independent analysis company IHS, SMA is the clear global market leader for PV inverters in terms 
of sales. The Company can offer a technically appropriate inverter for every type of photovoltaic module and all 
power classes and for various regional requirements around the world — both for grid-connected applications and 
for stand-alone operation. SMA also offers integrated solutions for future energy supply structures and com prehensive 
services. The Zeversolar product portfolio has fewer product versions than SMA, different functions, its own product 
design and service that is adapted to its target markets.

Self-consumption, the share of energy from the PV system that a household or a commercial enterprise can use itself,  
will become increasingly important in Europe, North America, Japan and Australia. With the SMA Smart Home, SMA 
offers an integrated system for intelligent increased self-consumption and intermediate storage of solar electricity aimed 
specifically at this segment. 

GLOBAL PRESENCE

The SMA Group is represented with its subsidiaries in 20 countries. No other competitor has a comparable inter-
national sales and service structure with experienced photovoltaics specialists. Modern production sites with an 
overall annual capacity of up to 20 GW make an important contribution to local added value in Niestetal and 
Kassel (Germany), Denver (U.S.), Mississauga near Toronto (Canada), Yangzhong (China) and Cape Town 
(South Africa). The competence center for coils (electromagnetic components) is based in Zabierzów, near Krakow 
(Poland). 

Products and Services
As a specialist in system technology, SMA develops and markets high-quality PV inverters and innovative techn-
o l  ogies for intelligent management and efficient use of energy. SMA’s product portfolio contains a wide range of 
PV inverters and system technology for grid-connected PV systems as well as for off-grid and hybrid systems. SMA 
offers technically and cost-optimized system solutions for all size classes and system types as well as different 
regional requirements. Core growth segments for the Company include complete solutions that are perfectly  
tai lored to future energy supply requirements. In addition, comprehensive services that also encompass operational 
management of large-scale PV power plants represent an attractive business area.

The Residential business unit serves the attractive long-term market of small PV systems for private applications. The 
portfolio comprises micro inverters and single-phase string inverters with the brand name Sunny Boy,  three-phase 
inverters in the lower output range up to 12 kW with the brand name Sunny Tripower, energy management solu-
tions, storage systems such as the Sunny Boy Smart Energy, and communication products and accessories.  
With this portfolio of products and services, SMA can offer a suitable technical solution for private PV systems in  
all major photovoltaic markets. 
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One important business field for the Service business unit is operational management and maintenance (O&M). 
Here, SMA takes on complete technical management of a PV system. The all-around service not only covers the 
inverters, but also the medium-voltage components, modules, racks, all cabling and the planting and enclosure 
of the system. The services include repair, device replacement, visual inspections and maintenance. SMA thus 
guarantees PV system operators the highest performance and planning security. In the reporting year, this full 
service was in demand in North America and Europe in particular: SMA has PV power plants with a capacity of 
1.4 GW under contract. According to a study by GTM Research published in November 2015, SMA moved  
up to fourth place in the global ranking of O&M maintenance providers.

In the Other Business segment, customers are increasingly focusing on the integration of battery storage systems. 
In addition to increasing self-consumption of PV power in order to save electricity costs, a second focus here is on 
reliably and cost-effectively supplying power to remote areas. In this field, SMA is collaborating with all leading 
battery manufacturers as well as with companies from the automotive industry and can thus always offer customers  
the highest-performance solution at lowest system costs. 

In January 2015, SMA launched two new battery inverters for solar applications in the lower power range. The 
SMA Sunny Island 3.0M and Sunny Island 4.4M ensure an optimum energy supply in PV systems, both for grid-
connected PV systems and stand-alone off-grid systems. These battery inverters allow PV system operators to reduce 
their electricity costs and become more independent in terms of their energy supply.

With the new Sunny Boy Storage, which will be launched in March 2016, SMA ensures cost-effective, easy and 
flexible integration of the solution into new or existing photovoltaic systems. This new battery inverter has been 
designed especially for high-voltage batteries like the Tesla Powerwall.

To allow for even more efficient integration of solar power into diesel grids, SMA has enhanced its SMA Fuel Save 
Controller (FSC). SMA thus offers individually tailored solutions for a reliable, resource-conserving and economically 
efficient energy supply to industrial applications with limited or no access to the utility grid.

The secondary brand Zeversolar, which is also a part of the Other Business segment, provides technologically 
simple products with an adjusted service range for the low-price segment in selected markets. In June 2015, 
Zeversolar launched new inverters of the Zeverlution product series for private and commercial use. The devices 
cover the entire range from 1 kW to 33 kW. In September, the new online monitoring portal Zevercloud was 
launched.

The Railway Technology business area manufactures converters for short- and long-distance railway traffic and  
complete energy supply systems for railway coaches and multiple-unit trains. One new product in this business area  
is the SMARTconverter 3, an on-board power system converter for subway and suburban railway trains that is  
designed as a platform device and was delivered for the first time in May 2015. 

See Research and  
Development, 

page 45 et seqq.

See Research and  
Development, 

page 45 et seqq.

See Research and  
Development,  

page 45 et seqq.

Important Sales Markets and Competitive Situation
In 2015, global demand for PV systems increased significantly after recording weak levels in the previous year. 
According to SMA estimates, which in this case and throughout the entire Management Report relate to new 
installations not including battery inverter technology, PV systems with an output of around 51 GW (2014: approx. 
42 GW) were installed worldwide in the reporting period. Global sales from PV inverter technology, which in this 
case and throughout the entire Management Report relate to new installations, retrofitting existing PV systems and 
battery inverter technology, posted only slight growth due to the continued immense price pressure and amounted  
to €4.7 billion (2014: €4.5 billion) according to SMA estimates. 

Growth Stimuli Coming From International Business

International photovoltaic markets developed more positively than initially expected. Overall, there was no sig-
nif icant regional shift in demand, measured in gigawatts, in the past calendar year. 

The share of global sales from PV inverter technology attributable to the photovoltaic markets in Europe, the Middle 
East and Africa (EMEA) fell only slightly year on year in 2015, as the UK compensated for the decline in demand 
in Germany. According to SMA Managing Board estimates, EMEA accounted for about 21.5% (2014: 23.3%) 
of global demand. The Chinese market grew slightly to a level of 10.7% (2014: 10.5%). The American markets 
became increasingly important, accounting for 25.0% (2014: 21.3%) of global sales in the past year. By contrast, 
the share of global sales of the Asia-Pacific region (not including China) declined to 42.8% (2014: 44.9%).

In most foreign markets, investors implemented more large-scale PV power plants. Large solar projects picked up 
momentum, especially in the U.S., Great Britain, Japan, India, China and Chile.

SMA Successfully Positions Itself in Growth Markets

With its comprehensive range of solutions, high product quality and flexibility, presence in 20 countries and com prehen -
sive service structure, SMA is well-positioned in the global photovoltaic market. This is also reflected in a global 
study by the analysis company IHS, according to which SMA is by far the most popular inverter brand worldwide 
for the fourth time in a row. 

With its international presence, SMA has further reduced its dependence on individual photovoltaic markets. The 
Company can benefit from global growth in demand with highly efficient PV inverters, integrated system solutions 
for PV systems of all power classes, intelligent energy management systems and battery storage solutions, complete 
solutions for PV/diesel hybrid applications, and extensive services up to and including operational management.

In 2015, SMA sold inverters with a total power of approximately 7.3 GW (2014: 5.1 GW) and generated 
€999.6 million in sales (2014: €805.4 million). Measured in terms of sales, SMA accounted for approximately 
21% (2014: approx. 17%) of global demand for PV inverters (excluding battery inverter technology). Therefore, 
SMA has not only defended its position as clear market leader but has expanded this unique position.
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The Company countered the price pressure on the market that continues to be very high with an extensive trans-
formation that already brought about a turnaround in the reporting year. The cost reduction methods include 
process and productivity optimizations, adjustments of the personnel structure, a standardized global logistics concept 
and the use of synergies from the strategic partnership with Danfoss A/S entered into in 2014. In addition, SMA 
concentrated development on strategically important projects to maintain its global technology leadership at a high 
level.

SMA has its own service companies in all important photovoltaic markets. With an installed capacity of nearly 
50 GW worldwide, SMA leverages economies of scale to manage its service business profitably and expand it 
further. Responsibility for operation and maintenance services for PV power plants (O&M business) is an important 
 driver of the Service segment growth strategy. Service business, which was expanded considerably in 2013, has 
been profitable since 2014. It continued to develop positively in the reporting year. 

In addition, SMA is advancing its strategic positioning in major future fields such as storage integration, digitization 
of the electricity supply and the combined use of renewable energies and fossil fuels in PV/diesel hybrid systems.

Vision and Strategy
Our vision that millions of people will be able to generate their own clean energy in a decentralized way and share 
it with others through intelligent utility grids is progressively becoming a global reality. SMA solutions play an 
instrumental role in this. Through continued cost reductions, further product and system solution enhancements and 
innovations, we will continuously make installation, operation and maintenance of PV systems simpler, more reliable, 
secure and, above all, more efficient.

As a market and technology leader, we started focusing our strategy on exploiting international growth opportunities 
in a market environment characterized by strong competition and price pressure early on, and have responded 
quickly to demand fluctuations reaping the long-term benefits from the transition to a new energy supply system based 
on decentralized renewable energies. SMA’s strategic cornerstones are the development of product solutions and 
services for all fields of application of photovoltaics, coverage of all regions and high flexibility. 

SMA can consistently implement its long-term strategy with its own funds since the Group generates profits and has 
a very sound financial base with an equity ratio of around 50% and high net cash of more than €285 million. 

Corporate Goals

Expanding Global Market leadership Through Internationalization

Despite the regional shift in demand during the last five years, SMA has expanded its global market leadership, 
and, according to its own estimates, it now accounts for about 21% of global demand for PV inverter technology 
(excluding battery inverter technology) measured in euros. This success is largely attributable to the systematic 
implementation of the internationalization strategy. With its own sales and service companies in 20 countries, SMA 
is represented in all major photovoltaic markets. To enable it to respond rapidly to demand in the different regions, 
the Company maintains five production sites around the world. 

SMA’s current strength in the U.S., its most important individual market, is based on the formation of the sales and 
service company in California in 2000 and the establishment of the production facility in Colorado in 2009. This 
local presence and the adjustment of products in all segments to U.S. requirements enabled SMA to secure the 
leading position on one of the most important photovoltaic markets, where it currently has a market share of around 
40% of all PV systems installed. With its unique position in North America, SMA is well prepared for the anticipated 
increase in demand. 

SMA has also successfully gained a foothold in markets with high entry barriers, such as Japan. With a local com-
pany, inverters that are specially adapted to Japanese requirements are sold for all market segments. The portfolio  
is complemented by comprehensive services. SMA was the first international inverter manufacturer to sell more than 
a gigawatt of inverter output on the Japanese market. With the high quality of our products and our broad customer 
base, we have systematically created the conditions for further market share gains.

SMA also operates successfully in price-sensitive markets. For example, the Company has now sold more than a 
gigawatt of inverter output also in India and estimates that it accounts for about 22% of the total PV inverter output 
installed in India. 

In sales markets with a high share of renewable energy, SMA provides significant support for the energy transition 
with an extensive range of products for intelligent energy management. For example, SMA Smart Home enables 
private households in Germany to use the solar power they generate with their PV systems themselves to an in-
creasing extent. With innovative product solutions, good access to solar power professionals and strategic partner-
ships, SMA will be able to bolster the market position it has built up over many years. 

SMA will adapt the existing global sales and service infrastructure to regional demand to benefit from the very 
different momentum in the individual photovoltaic markets and market segments. The objective is to further improve 
the Company’s unique positioning in all relevant markets.

Tapping Into New Growth Segments With Innovations

In the medium term, growth stimuli will arise from new segments such as the integration of electric storage systems,  
the combination of different energy carriers, and service business. 
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The use of storage systems is essential for the transformation of the energy market toward decentralized and renew able 
energy. With over 30 years of experience, SMA has unparalleled expertise in the field of decentralized energy.  
The seamless integration of battery storage into the system has been a key element of the technological development for 
many years. SMA will further expand its range of products and services for the integration of different battery techno-
logies into new and existing PV systems. In this context, we will also continue the strategic development of business 
relationships with renowned automotive groups and battery manufacturers. 

In many countries in the Earth’s Sunbelt, a significant portion of the electricity supply is still based on stationary diesel 
gensets. Despite the generally low oil price at present, supplementing the diesel electricity supply with solar power 
systems promises high growth rates in the medium to long term. SMA has therefore developed innovative solutions 
for photovoltaic/diesel hybrid applications that ensure simple integration of the systems and a high level of technical 
availability. This enables customers to reduce the operating time of diesel gensets and thus to cut back on expenses 
not only for diesel but also for maintenance. In order to systematically tap into this segment, SMA will step up its  
marketing and expand the product range. 

Growth in the field of services is based on new installations and the installed basis. SMA has a unique service infra-
structure in all major photovoltaic markets and can therefore offer comprehensive services. Its service portfolio ranges 
from extended warranties to complete operational management of large-scale PV power plants. Thanks to its high 
level of expertise and its technical monitoring options, SMA now has contractually agreed orders for the operational 
management and maintenance of large-scale PV power plants with an output of about 1.4 GW. This already puts  
us in fourth place worldwide among O&M maintenance providers. In order to tap this growth segment further, SMA 
will expand its service infrastructure in all major photovoltaic markets. 

High Flexibility Through Optimized Processes

In an industry where change is the only thing that stays the same, flexibility must be the most important corporate 
strategy. As part of the Company’s transformation, SMA took extensive measures to effectively reduce fixed costs 
and increase its financial and operational flexibility. One key factor driving this development was the more efficient 
arrangement of processes across the entire value chain. We were thus able to shorten process lead times, reduce 
inventories and take advantage of options of purchasing partnerships. In addition, SMA introduced a functional 
organization in order to increase the speed of decision making. With the Company’s transformation, we established 
the basis for reacting flexibly to the volatile market development in the future. The significant reduction in fixed costs 
means that SMA can now generate profits even when sales are lower than before. SMA will further optimize its 
processes so as to reduce capital tie-up. At the same time, the management will continue to pay close attention to 
fixed costs in order to maintain the financial flexibility that has been achieved. 

Research and Development
As the global market leader in photovoltaics, SMA has set trends in the global photovoltaics industry for many 
years. We use our systems expertise to develop complete solutions for different photovoltaic applications. In order 
to offer our customers in the individual market segments and regions the best complete solution in terms of both 
technology and economic efficiency, we selectively collaborate with strong partners. With our continuous research 
and our market- and customer-focused development, we can further reduce the consumer cost of PV electricity and 
thus make a significant contribution to a successful global energy transition. Our innovations have won numerous 
awards. Our technology is protected by many patents. 

Forward-looking Development Approach

Our thorough understanding of the different market requirements and our close proximity to our customers enable 
us to anticipate future system technology requirements. Customers used to be concerned primarily with energy yield, 
service life and design flexibility. Now, however, the system’s consumer costs of PV electricity, system integration 
as well as connectivity are the most important factors in making a purchasing decision. SMA is pursuing a platform 
strategy aimed at systematically cutting the cost of PV inverters and being able to react fast to market changes. By 
standardizing the core inverter, we can increase the proportion of identical components across the entire portfolio. 
Customization in line with different markets and customer needs is implemented through the connection area and 
software. 

Continuing High Capacity for Innovation

As part of the Company’s transformation, SMA also significantly reduced research and development costs. Despite 
the many changes, we succeeded in maintaining our high capacity for innovation and launching new products  
and product enhancements within a very short space of time. In doing so, the development teams at the locations in 
Germany, the U.S. and China work together closely and thus allow for optimal use of development capacity. With 
R&D expenses of €99.2 million (including capitalized development projects), we reduced total R&D expenses by 
23.2% in the reporting period compared to the previous year. SMA invested about 10% of its sales in the future, 
which was at the same level as the German electronics industry (about 9%). 

So far, SMA has been granted 694 patents and utility models worldwide (December 31, 2015). Ongoing appli ca-
tion procedures over the next years will most likely result in more than 600 patents. This figure underscores SMA’s 
continuing strong focus on technology. SMA also holds the rights to 743 trademarks.

ReSeARCh And deVelOpMent eXpenSeS OF the SMA GROup

in € million 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Research and development expenses 99.2 129.1 102.5 108.1 99.9 
of which capitalized development projects 31.5 40.9 22.9 20.2 16.1 
Depreciation of capitalized 
development projects (scheduled) 19.5 14.9 14.9 7.5 5.6 
Research and development ratio in %
in relation to sales 9.9 16.0 11.0 7.4 6.0 
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New Solutions for Greater Customer Benefit

PRIVATE SySTEMS: FOCUS ON MORE SElF-CONSUMPTION

In mid-April 2015, SMA successfully launched the first products of its new inverter generation in the smaller rooftop 
system market segment (Residential) with outputs of 1.5 kW and 2.5 kW. The completely new Sunny Boy 1.5/ 
2.5 offers advantages in installation and commissioning thanks to its innovative design, broad input voltage range 
and novel communication concept. The inverter makes a high level of self-consumption possible, is extremely 
versatile and can be easily integrated into the home network via plug and play in a matter of minutes. The inverter 
has received an extremely positive response from customers since its launch. The newly integrated user interface 
makes it possible to monitor PV system data on any smartphone or tablet. Weighing only 9 kg, the inverter can also 
be mounted with just two screw fittings and does not require an additional wall mounting bracket. Furthermore, its 
direct communication with the SMA Energy Meter not only enables the 70% curtailment required in Germany but 
also makes complete curtailment and increased self-consumption possible. This functionality is necessary to stabilize 
transmission lines when renewable energy makes up a large proportion of electricity production.

SMA also pressed ahead with further development of the Sunny Home Manager. The intelligent energy manager 
plans household energy consumption as the central control unit in the SMA Smart Home. It uses weather forecasts  
to predict power generation, plans and controls consumption by household appliances via radio-controlled sockets, 
and also incorporates storage systems in this process. Alongside household appliances by Miele and heat pumps 
from StiebelEltron and Vaillant, household appliances by Bosch and Siemens can also be integrated via EEBus into 
the intelligent energy management system featuring the SMA Smart Home since the update in September 2015. 

The use of battery-storage systems makes end users increasingly independent from their utility companies and is 
taking center stage due to falling prices for storage solutions. More and more people want to save energy costs 
and contribute to environmental protection in this way. SMA identified this trend at an early stage. In the reporting 
period, in addition to the existing solutions in its portfolio, SMA developed the new Sunny Boy Storage, an inverter 
for private households that is specially tailored to high-voltage batteries such as the Tesla Powerwall. Integration of 
high-voltage batteries involves particularly high technological requirements. With its new solution, SMA is the only 
provider that can offer an AC-coupled system operating in parallel with the PV system, making it possible to easily 
and cost-effectively integrate battery storage systems into new and also existing PV installations, while also flexibly 
enhancing the storage system. The reason for this is that with an AC-coupled storage solution it is not necessary  
to touch the PV system. At the same time, the system costs were reduced to the extent that the cost of storing electricity  
is now already comparable to household electricity rates in Germany. After a development period of just a few 
months, the Sunny Boy Storage will be launched on the German market in March 2016. Other major storage 
 markets such as Italy, the UK, Australia and the U.S. will follow. 

AC see Glossary,  
page 164 

COMMERCIAl APPlICATIONS: NEW PRODUCTS FOR THE U.S. AND JAPAN 

In the medium-sized inverter segment (Commercial), SMA had the new Sunny Tripower 60-US certified for the 
U.S. market as planned in March 2015. Sunny Tripower products are particularly in demand on the U.S. market, 
because more and more commercial companies want to increase self-consumption of PV power. A higher-output, 
cost-optimized Sunny Tripower with an output of 30 kW was qualified in December and successfully launched in 
January 2016. The output of the device was increased from 24 kW to 30 kW using  cutting edge technology   
based on experience with existing systems, while at the same time specific costs were reduced. The U.S. portfolio, 
which has now been completed with the Sunny Tripower 30-US and Sunny Tripower 60-US products, offers attrac - 
  tive and flexible solutions that further consolidate SMA’s position as market leader in the U.S. commercial and utility 
segments and support the trend toward decentralized construction of ground-based PV systems and large-scale  
PV rooftop systems.

To increase market share in Japan over the course of 2015, SMA has further augmented its product portfolio. For 
example, the new Sunny Tripower with an output of 25 kW was launched onto the market. The device is based on 
the current, global Sunny Tripower platform and primarily offers considerable advantages over the products of local 
competitors in terms of efficiency, cost, flexibility of application and grid integration. As a result of this enhance ment  
of its product portfolio, SMA gained distribution companies and leading project developers as major new customers  
in the commercial segment. 

Another innovation is the new Medium Voltage Station (MVS) for the Sunny Tripower 60 inverter, which SMA 
launches in March 2016. The new system solution enables large PV systems with string inverters to be connected 
to medium-voltage grids quickly and easily. SMA is the first company to provide a fully integrated solution with  pre-
configured components for the global market. A robust 10-foot container holds the medium-voltage transformer, 
medium-voltage switchgear from Siemens and a distribution box. 

PV POWER PlANTS: COORDINATED COMPlETE SOlUTIONS FROM A SINGlE SOURCE 

In June 2015, SMA announced its partnership with Siemens’ energy management division in the PV power plant 
segment (Utility). The partners offer coordinated system solutions and services from a single source – from the DC 
side to grid connection. The first result of the collaboration is an innovative solution that unites a 2.5 MW central 
inverter from SMA and a medium-voltage transformer and medium-voltage switchgear from Siemens in a turnkey, 
standard container. SMA presented the Medium Voltage Power Station 2200SC/2500SC for the first time at 
Intersolar Europe in Munich, where it was a crowd drawer. The system solution for DC voltages of 1,000/1,500 volts 
can be used worldwide in large-scale and the largest-scale PV power plants currently being installed and erected 
outdoors in all ambient conditions. It reduces transport, installation and operating costs by virtue of its power density 
and compactness, which are unique on the market.

In addition, SMA launched another central inverter back in the first quarter of 2015. The Sunny Central 1000CP XT 
rounded off the Company’s globally successful CP central inverter family with an additional power class. Photo-
voltaics projects requiring bids for 1-MW blocks, in particular, are benefiting from the new device. As a compo nent  
of the SMA Medium Voltage Power Station, the Sunny Central 1000CP XT devices deliver an output of 2 MW  
in the turnkey container station, which can be used globally. This enables solar power plant developers to face the 
high price pressure and tight schedules required in the bidding process.

DC see Glossary, 
page 164 et seqq.
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OTHER BUSINESS: STORAGE INTEGRATION FOR All APPlICATIONS

The integration of battery-storage systems plays an important role in the Other Business segment, be it here in Germany 
for small residential PV systems to increase self-consumption or in off-grid regions where the integration of photo-
voltaics into existing diesel power supplies on an industrial scale saves costs long term (PV/diesel hybrid systems). 
In January 2015, with the Sunny Island 3.0M/4.4.M, SMA launched new battery inverters for small PV systems, 
which allow a markedly flexible and cost-effective solution both for grid-connected systems and for stand-alone off-
grid systems. Through our collaboration with all leading international battery manufacturers, SMA makes it possible  
for customers to utilize the best, most modern and most efficient battery technology on the market. 

In the reporting period, SMA developed the new SMA multicluster technology, that is now also suited for operation 
on the utility grid, for the more powerful Sunny Island 6.0H/8.0H battery inverters. This technology helps commer  - 
cial users such as supermarkets, agricultural businesses and other commercial enterprises to achieve increased self- 
consumption using storage systems. A diesel generator can also be integrated to bypass grid failures when the 
battery is discharged. 

To allow for even more efficient integration of solar power into diesel grids, SMA enhanced its Fuel Save Controller 
(FSC) in the reporting period. The 2014 Intersolar Award winner is now available for different output requirements. 
The simple and affordable complete solution FSC M for PV power feed-in of up to 1 MW in PV/diesel hybrid systems, 
the FSC L solution for PV power feed-in of up to 5 MW and optional storage integration, and the customer-specific 
solution for systems with up to 50 MW of PV power. 

Employees

Personnel Adjustment Almost Completed

Owing to the enormous structural changes in the solar industry, SMA had to adapt its corporate structures to the 
anticipated future sales level in the reporting period. Within a very short period of time, SMA almost completed 
the most extensive round of personnel adjustments in the Company’s history in a socially responsible manner. The 
number of employees who had left SMA by the end of December 2015 corresponds to 1,400 full-time equival-
ents. Only very few companies in Germany have reduced their workforce by such a high percentage in a socially 
 responsible manner and in such a short period of time. This was possible at SMA through a process characterized 
by openness, fairness and cooperativeness. 

Fortunately, the staff reduction did not have a considerable impact on the labor market in the region. Media reports 
state that the number of unemployed people in North Hesse increased only on a seasonal basis. Thanks to the high 
qualifications of SMA employees and close collaboration with the Employment Agency in Kassel, the vast number of 
former SMA employees found new jobs within a short period of time. 

Following the end of the severance program in March 2015, extensive restructuring took place to reallocate 
 re spon sibilities and teams within the Company. To make the transfer process successful, the Management and 
Works Council collaborated closely and very constructively. 

Compared to the same period in 2014, the number of employees as of the reporting date declined considerably. 

In Germany, the number of employees fell by 35.1%, or 1,216 people, to 2,253 employees (December 31, 2014: 
3,469 employees, figures exclude temporary employees). The number of employees abroad also declined. It fell by 
334 to a total of 1,257 employees (December 31, 2014: 1,591 employees, figures exclude temporary employees).

At the end of the reporting period, the SMA Group had a total of 3,510 employees (December 31, 2014:  
5,060 employees, figures exclude temporary employees). This equates to a decrease of 30.6% compared with  
the previous year. 

SMA still uses temporary employees to absorb order fluctuations. Their hourly rate of pay is in line with that of SMA 
employees. In addition, the temporary employees working at SMA also participate in the Company’s success. As  
of December 31, 2015, the number of temporary employees rose to 673 globally due to the high level of incoming 
orders (December 31, 2014: 467 temporary employees).

High Proportion of Value Creation in Germany

Although SMA now generates almost 90% of its sales abroad, the Company remains committed to its site in 
Germany. The large share of employees in Germany reflects SMA’s high proportion of local value creation. The 
main location for development and production is still Niestetal/Kassel, even after the Company’s transformation. 
SMA is thus part of a future-oriented sector that is very important to the Federal Republic of Germany in terms of 
industrial policy: There are currently about 300,000 people working in the field of renewable energy in Germany, 
including some 45,000 in the solar industry. Not only is SMA the third-biggest employer in the North Hesse region,  
it also safeguards jobs at suppliers and service providers in Germany. 

eMplOYeeS

Reporting date 2015/12/31 2014/12/31 2013/12/31 2012/12/31 2011/12/31
Employees (excl. temporary employees) 3,510 5,060  5,141 5,992 5,532 
of which domestic 2,253 3,469 3,736 4,649 4,670 
of which abroad 1,257 1,591 1,405 1,343 862 
Temporary employees 673 467 662 639 943 
Total employees (incl. temporary employees) 4,183 5,527 5,803 6,631 6,475
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SMA Employees Get Involved to Help Refugees

Under the motto “SMA employees pitch in”, the Company initiated targeted and coordinated aid for refugees 
in September. In this initiative, local aid organizations work with SMA employees to help refugees in the Kassel 
region through a database that lists the specific needs. SMA will give every employee who commits at least 
16 hours to the project one extra day of paid leave. In addition, SMA offers internship opportunities for qualified 
refugees in selected professions to make their subsequent integration easier. SMA’s commitment to helping 
refugees is sustainable, and the concepts are set up to run long-term. The contribution made by SMA with regard  
to this sociopolitical issue has been well-received by SMA employees and commended by aid organizations  
and politicians. SMA is proud to make this contribution. 

Vocational Training and Recruitment of young Professionals Are a High Priority

young people have been receiving vocational training at SMA since 1985. More than 400 former trainees still 
work at the Company, and in the “Week of Former Trainees” during the reporting period, they highlighted the 
development opportunities that exist at SMA after the final examination and the potential for highly qualified skilled 
staff that can accrue within the Company. At SMA, vocational training will remain a key element in the technical 
qualification of new employees and likewise a component for securing and fostering the next generation.

The following five professions can be learned at SMA: office management, industrial business management, device 
and system electronics, industrial electronics specializing in devices and systems, and mechatronics. Vocational 
training at SMA is characterized by a very strong focus on practical application and projects. The trainees very 
quickly take on responsibility for the tasks and projects assigned to them, learn on a self-organized basis and  
solve complex tasks as part of a team. In addition, SMA offers in-house classes to teach the theoretical content 
in depth in line with training plans and to comprehensively train the participants’ knowledge and skills. Extensive 
preparation for examinations, internal and external training courses and seminars, introductory weeks, and IT  
and technology projects complement the training programs. We thereby promote not only the technical expertise  
but also the social skills needed by successful specialists in the future. These objectives in relation to both profes-
sional training and the transfer of expertise will enable SMA to implement successful development of young 
employees and prevent a shortage of skilled staff.

As of the reporting period, a total of 122 young people were in vocational training at SMA (December 31, 2014: 
173 people). 77 trainees completed their vocational training during the reporting period. The best graduates were 
offered further employment at SMA. In the new cohort of trainees, 35 trainees commenced their vocational training.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
SMA understands sustainability as combining long-term economic success with protection of the environment and 
social responsibility. We take social responsibility seriously by considering social and environmental interests. From 
this claim, we have derived specific maxims. In 2012, SMA defined its 10 most strategically important action areas  
for increased sustainability and formulated a sustainability mission statement. The mission statement is supplemented 
by the SMA Business Principles, which set out clear standards of conduct for all employees.

ACTING RESPONSIBly AlONG THE WHOlE VAlUE CHAIN 

The ten action areas defined in the guidelines will be combined into four focus areas. These focus areas are to be 
anchored in all stages of the value chain. In the future, SMA will increasingly incorporate upstream and downstream 
company activities. For all company activities, the SMA Global Operations unit coordinates  implementation of the 
sustainability strategy.

lIVING OUR VAlUES AND PRINCIPlES 

Clearly defined values and principles are at the heart of our mind-set and actions at SMA. As an internationally 
operating company, we align our activities with nationally and internationally recognized standards. For example, 
by signing the United Nations (UN) Global Compact in 2011, SMA publicly declared its commitment to respon-
sible corporate governance. At the core of the UN initiative are 10 principles in the areas of human rights, labor 
standards, environmental protection and anticorruption.

Our social and environmental responsibility also extends to collaboration with our suppliers and business partners. 
As early as 2009, SMA signed the cross-sector Code of Conduct issued by the German Association of Materials 
Management, Purchasing and logistics. In 2010, we supplemented this Code of Conduct with SMA’s own guide-
lines for suppliers (Supplier Code). These cover topics such as corruption, antitrust law, ethical principles, labor 
 standards and employee rights, environmental protection, quality and product safety.

 ACtIOn AReAS FOR A SuStAInABle deVelOpMent

 1 Sustainable economics
 2 Innovative products for a sustainable energy supply
 3 production without waste
 4 Socially and environmentally responsible supply chain
 5 environmental management for sustainable economics
 6 Efficient and renewable energy supply with minimized consumption
 7 Committed employees
 8 Sustainable regional development
 9 A livable and sustainable society – everywhere
 10 Constructive dialogue

See www.sma.de/ 
en/company/corporate- 

social-responsibility
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In 2014, the Supplier Code was supplemented to include conflict minerals. Suppliers must ensure that the tantalum, 
tin, tungsten and gold employed are not used to finance or support – either directly or indirectly – armed groups 
that are guilty of serious human rights violations in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or in neighboring coun-
tries. SMA expects suppliers to keep track of the origins of the minerals they use throughout the supply chain and  
to disclose these precautionary measures to SMA at its request.

CONTRIBUTING TO THE ENERGy TRANSITION WITH THE ClIMATE ROADMAP  

SMA attaches great importance to sustainability, not only in its products but also in its manufacturing process. 
This is why the corporate energy management policy is part of the sustainability strategy. The goal is to supply 
SMA entirely with decentralized renewable energy from the local region by 2020. In this context, the SMA 
Climate Roadmap stands for continuous development of projects contributing to the energy transition at SMA’s 
headquarters.

SMA’s corporate energy management policy is based on three levels: avoiding energy consumption, using energy 
more efficiently and increasing the share of renewable energies used. SMA is aiming to achieve completely carbon-
neutral production in defined stages. SMA has already undertaken a number of flagship projects in the past with 
its CO2-neutral inverter production facility at Solar Factory 1, the Solar Academy, which functions independently 
from the utility grid, and the Data Processing Center, which was completed in 2013 and is one of the most resource-
efficient centers of its kind. These projects are a testament to the high priority SMA places on its sustainable energy 
strategy. In 2015, we were able to increase the share of self-generated solar electricity in our total electricity con-
sumption to more than 26%.

The environmental management system at the production sites in Niestetal/Kassel and Denver is also certified in 
 accordance with DIN EN ISO 14001. Certification in accordance with DIN EN ISO 50001 was supplemented  
in 2013. This internationally recognized certification attests to SMA’s particularly efficient and sustainable use  
of energy in production and management.

PRODUCT lIFE CyClE ASSESSMENTS 

However, improving the energy supply at SMA’s own site only covers one aspect of the environmental impact of  
the manu facturing process. It will therefore be essential to examine the entire product life cycle. In 2015, SMA 
 applied this method for the Sunny Boy 1.5/2.5 inverter for the first time. In the future, SMA will increasingly focus on 
life  cycle  assessments. Our highly efficient inverters generate almost 100% yield utilization and do not create any 
direct emissions. The long service life, and thus a high quality standard, is another key factor with a positive effect.

MAKING OUR CARBON FOOTPRINT MORE TRANSPARENT

The global climate change caused by greenhouse gas emissions is one of the most important sustainability issues  
of our time and a major focus of public interest. Figures for greenhouse gas emissions have not been included in our 
sustainability reporting so far, although we already have an exemplary carbon balance at our site in Niestetal/Kassel. 

SMA will present its own carbon footprint in a more transparent manner. In the long term, we plan to extend this to 
the entire value chain. The production of raw materials, all of our suppliers, the utilization phase and recycling of the 
products are also to be taken into consideration here. 

AWARD-WINNING ENVIRONMENTAlly FRIENDly VEHIClE FlEET

Corporate mobility management within SMA has already received a number of accolades. It is intended to encour-
age employees to use environmentally friendly mobility options for getting to and from work as well as raise aware-
ness of an intelligent choice of transport between SMA sites. In 2015, the Deutsche Umwelthilfe e.V. (German 
Environmental Aid Organization) again awarded SMA with a prize for its concept and particularly praised the fleet 
organization as a good example of climate protection in the area of mobility. In its fleet organization, SMA limits  
the CO2 emissions of its vehicles to 120 g/km. A bonus-malus system provides an enhanced incentive to reduce CO2 
emissions further. SMA has modernized its charging infrastructure for electric vehicles and increased the number of 
charging points to 16. A further expansion is planned in 2016.

FOCUS ON SOCIAl COMMITMENT

For SMA, taking its share of responsibility for social development is a matter of course. Over the past years, we 
have thus supported many different projects, organizations and initiatives — on a regional and national level as well 
as in newly industrialized and developing countries. In 2015, SMA focused on the urgent sociopolitical issue of aid 
for refugees. In this initiative, local aid organizations work with SMA employees to help refugees in the Kassel region 
through a database that lists the specific needs. SMA will give every employee who commits at least 16 hours to  
the project one extra day of paid leave. In addition, SMA offers internships for refugees in selected professions to 
make their subsequent integration easier. This initiative is set up to run long-term. 

PROMOTING KNOWlEDGE THROUGH NETWORKS 

SMA is involved in numerous networks, collaborative projects and initiatives that play an important role in further 
development of the North Hesse region in various ways including by providing expertise and human resources. 
SMA has been supporting deENet, the competence network for decentralized energy technologies, as an active 
member since 2003. The organization has made it its mission to turn North Hesse into a location renowned for  
its decentralized energy supply through renewable energies using technological progress and sustainable regional 
development. Furthermore, SMA joined 2015 “House of Energy,” a union of companies, research institutes and  
the federal state government of Hesse that aims to push ahead the energy transition. 
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Enterprise Management

leading Indicators

To be able to react to market changes in a timely manner, it is very important for us to recognize opportunities and 
risks early on. To achieve this, we will have ongoing discussions about what are commonly referred to as oper  -
ative leading indicators at both the Board and business unit level with the business unit managers, vice presidents 
and the general managers of the subsidiaries. Indicators relevant to SMA include changes in PV system incentive 
programs and their effect on regional market potential, growth and competitiveness of SMA in regional markets, 
customer acceptance of new products as well as market-related information stemming from discussions with 
customers, suppliers and associations.

However, the myriad of influencing factors and the complex way they interact make it difficult to produce a detailed 
forecast that holds up long term. Therefore, based on operative leading indicators, we have drawn up scenarios 
for annual and medium-term planning. In the reporting period, the Managing Board and business unit management 
were informed on a monthly basis both about the financial development of the entire SMA Group and the individual 
business units and about changes in operative leading indicators.

Financial Management Parameters

In 2014, SMA used the following key financial management parameters for its operative business as explained 
below. There are no changes compared with the previous year in calculation of key figures or in the management 
system.

SAlES

Sales include all of the sales generated over the reporting period. Because the market for inverters was shaped 
 partly by plummeting prices, we also measure, in addition to sales, inverter output sold and the average selling price 
per watt. We calculate sales at both the Group and business unit level.

OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT)/OPERATIVE EARNINGS MARGIN

Operating profit also includes function costs and other expenses in addition to sales and cost of sales. SMA uses 
this key figure to measure the profitability of the individual business units and the Group. To determine the operative 
earnings margin, we calculate operating profit in relation to total sales. We measure operating profit and the oper-
ative earnings margin at both the Group and business unit level.

NET WORKING CAPITAL/NET WORKING CAPITAL RATIO

Net working capital management plays an important role. In addition to inventories, net working capital includes 
trade receivables and trade payables. We measure our customers’ and suppliers’ accounts receivables as well as 
product manufacturing inventories regularly in relation to sales over the past 12 months. We measure and manage 
net working capital at the corporate Group level.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Capital expenditure is another key driver of liquidity planning. To manage capital expenditure, we formulate 
 budgets as part of our annual planning, which the Managing Board approves over the course of the fiscal year.  
This particularly applies to large-scale capital expenditure projects, which are additionally evaluated with a pro-
fitability calculation. We manage capital expenditure at the corporate Group level.

Intragroup Reporting and Management

INTRAGROUP REPORTING

The monthly reporting includes, among other information, detailed status reports on orders placed and order vol-
umes, the amount of inverter output sold, sales figures, results of operation, cash flow statements, research and 
development activities, investments and net working capital. The aim is to compare changes in decisive items on the 
income statement and balance sheet both with the budget and with the figures of the previous month and to take 
any corrective measures necessary. SMA checks annual planning and medium-term planning every six months and 
adjusts them if necessary. An electronic management information system (SAP Business Warehouse) serves as the 
‘home’ for the information used for reporting.

INTRAGROUP MANAGEMENT SySTEM

In the reporting period, the basic elements of the intragroup management system were the weekly Managing Board 
meeting and monthly discussions on results with the business unit managers. Strategy implementation was also 
 discussed during quarterly business reviews with the business units as was an assessment on the progress of objectives. 
In addition, the SMA intragroup management system encompasses the regular Risks and Opportunities Report and  
the report prepared by the Internal Auditing department.
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Fiscal Year 2015 

General Economic Conditions and  
Economic Conditions in the Sector

General Economic Conditions

Growth of the global economy decelerated slightly in 2015 compared to the previous year. The International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) expects global growth of 3.1% (2014: 3.4%). Gross domestic product (GDP) in developed 
national economies increased by 1.9% (2014: 1.8%). Growth in developing and newly industrialized countries  
was 4.0% in the reporting period (2014: 4.6%) and therefore declined for the fifth time in a row.

The IMF sees three major factors influencing the development of the global economy in 2015 and beyond: the 
economic downturn and accompanying structural change in China, the low energy and commodities prices and  
the divergence of monetary policy between the U.S. and the central banks of the other developed national econ
omies. The U.S. Federal Reserve initiated the longawaited interest rate reversal in December and raised the base 
rate to between 0.25% and 0.5%. 

In Europe, the main concern among politicians and economic players up until the middle of the year was Greece’s 
place in the euro. Despite the uncertainty, the economy of the euro zone grew notably on the previous year at 1.5% 
(2014: 0.9%). The danger of stagnation therefore seems to have been averted for the time being. 

Alongside the European national economies, other key foreign markets for SMA developed in extremely varied 
ways in 2015. In the U.S., the economy continued to grow stably at a rate of 2.5% (2014: 2.4%). Japan’s econ
omy expanded marginally by 0.6% (2014: 0,0%). In China, GDP increased at a slightly lower rate of 6.9% 
compared with the previous year (2014: 7.3%). At 7.3% (2014: 7.3%), India maintained a constantly high level  
of growth. 

Economic Conditions in the Sector  

In the reporting period, the global photovoltaic market developed more positively than originally expected. SMA 
expects newly installed PV power of approximately 51 GW (2014: approx. 42 GW). Price pressure remained 
high in all segments and regions. Global sales of PV inverter technology slightly increased again because of 
the considerable growth in newly installed PV power. According to SMA estimates, they rose by about 4% to 
€4.7 billion (2014: €4.5 billion). The regional distribution of demand changed only slightly in 2015. Accounting  
for roughly 22% of global sales, the significance of the PV markets in European countries, the Middle East and 
Africa (EMEA) slightly declined (2014: 23%). At €1.1 billion, sales were slightly increased in comparison to the 
previous year ( 2014: €1.0 billion). American photovoltaic markets developed positively, making up 25% of  
global sales at €1.2 billion (2014: €1.0 billion; 21%). The Chinese market registered considerably higher new 
installations than in the previous year, but did not increase in significance in terms of euros because of the high  
price pressure. China therefore still represented only approximately 11% of sales with €0.5 billion in 2015  
(2014: €0.5 billion; 11%). The Asia-Pacific photovoltaic markets (excluding China) accounted for 43% of the 
global market with unchanged sales of €2.0 billion, thereby losing market share (2014: €2.0 billion; 45%).

EMEA: GREAT BRITAIN REMAINS MOST IMPORTANT MARKET

The 2015 fiscal year in the EMEA region was charcterized by significant adjustments to solar electricity tariffs in  
key European markets and delays in tendering procedures in Africa and the Middle East. Demand increased 
slightly; newly installed PV power amounted to 9.6 GW (2014: 9.2 GW). However, the increase in demand could 
not compensate for the sharp decline in prices. 

Great Britain was the most important photovoltaic market in Europe in the reporting year, resulting from a very 
strong first quarter with 3.5 GW. This was due to the expiration of the subsidy for large-scale PV power plants 
with an output of over 5 MW as of April 1, 2015. Further cuts to subsidization for largescale PV power plants are 
already planned: Starting April 1, 2016, PV systems with power over 1 MW will no longer be subsidized. At the 
 beginning of 2016, there was also a radical reduction in the feedin tariff, which is mainly used by operators of 
smaller systems. Quarterly subsidy caps will also ensure that the PV market in Great Britain will play a less impor  
tant role in the next few years. 

In Germany, the Federal Ministry of Economics’ expansion target of 2.5 GW was missed by a considerable margin 
again in the reporting period, with only 1.5 GW being achieved. The Federal Ministry of Economics contributed to 
end customers’ continued uncertainty by discussing the potential expiration of storage system subsidies. Overall, the 
numerous subsidy cuts of recent years have resulted in Germany losing its role as a frontrunner in one of the most 
important industries of the 21st century. With a remaining share of just 3% of the world’s newly installed power, the 
German market no longer plays a significant role internationally. 

NONEUROPEAN MARKETS: U.S. MARKET CONTINUES TO GROW

The U.S. market for photovoltaics is continuing to grow strongly. In the reporting year, the growth rate was about  
7.3 GW, PV inverter sales amounted to nearly €1 billion. According to SMA estimates, about 66% of the new in  
stallations were largescale solar projects with an output power of at least 1 MW. However, PV systems for  private 
use grew the most. These accounted for 29% of new installations. Demand for solar power systems in the U.S. is  
being supported in particular by tax incentive programs. In December, the market’s hopedfor extension of the tax 
incentives to 2020 came to pass, creating stable conditions on the U.S. market for the years to come. In addition, 
portfolio standards are having an impact on the investing activities of electric utility companies. These stand ards 
 ensure that electric utility companies include a certain share of renewable energy in their energy generation port
folios. Against this backdrop, persistently positive market development and new installation of tens of gigawatts  
per year can be expected.

JAPAN AND CHINA DOMINATE THE MARKET IN ASIA

In Japan, the investment in inverter technologies in the reporting period was approximately €1.5 billion, while in  
China it amounted to €0.5 billion. Commercial systems and largescale PV power plants are driving segments in  
both countries. 
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According to SMA estimates, PV systems with total power of about 11 GW were connected to the grid in Japan  
in 2015.  More than half of the new installations were mediumsized PV systems for commercial applications,   
and  largescale solar projects accounted for about 37%. About 9% related to smaller PV systems for private use.  
In Japan, there are a large number of planned and approved projects. Japan will therefore remain one of the  
most important PV markets in Asia and worldwide in 2016. 

In China, the market grew again in the reporting period after installation declined in 2014. With around 15 GW 
of newly installed power, growth was approximately 40% higher than in the previous year, according to SMA 
 estimates. More than 90% was attributable to largescale solar projects and 8% to commercial applications. The 
growth was based on the government increasing its expansion target from 100 to 150 GW by 2020 (the in  
stalled base amounted to about 44 GW at the end of 2015). The Chinese photovoltaic market continues to be 
dominated by opaque tendering procedures. Significant market shares fall only to Chinese providers, some of  
which are state owned. 

India now also plays an important role; the market is developing positively. There are various incentive programs 
and a fundamental effort on the part of the government to supply the entire country with power. The Indian 
government has therefore set an ambitious target for new PV installations: 100 GW by 2022. In the reporting 
period, the country saw 2.1 GW of new PV power being installed, more than twice as much as last year  
(2014: 1 GW). More than 90% of the new installations were largescale projects. Mediumsized commercial  
and small private systems still play a minor role in India. The prices in India are only slightly above the level in 
China. The market structures, however, allow for fair competition. 

Impact of General Conditions on  
Business Development in 2015
Development of the global photovoltaic market had a positive effect on SMA’s business performance. The SMA 
Group sold PV inverters with a total power of 7,260 MW in the reporting period. This equates to growth of 43.7% 
compared with the previous year (2014: 5,051 MW). Sales increased by 24.1% to €999.6 million. In 2015,  
the international share of sales increased to 87.3% (2014: 78.3%). The most important foreign markets were the 
U.S., followed by Great Britain, Japan and Australia. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) were again  
positive at €34.3 million (2014: € –164.9 million); the EBIT margin was 3.4% (2014: –20.5%). SMA returned  
to profitability in 2015 after two loss-making years through an extensive transformation of the Group and is 
emerging from the global crisis of the photovoltaic industry with renewed strength.

In the Residential business unit, the inverter power sold increased by 4.0%. Because of the high price pressure, 
sales increased slightly less by 1.4% to €252.7 million (2014: €249.2 million). Business development in the 
Commercial business unit was distinctly positive. Inverter power sold increased by 50%; sales grew by 30.2% to 
€207.4 million (2014: €159.3 million). The Utility business unit benefited from the shift in demand toward large-
scale PV power plants. Inverter power sold increased by 59%; sales climbed by 47.7% to €416.0 million (2014: 
€281.7 million). The Service business unit also grew. At €49.5 million, external sales here were 20.1% higher  
than in the previous year (2014: €41.2 million).

Comparison of the Actual Business Development  
With the Forecast
The SMA Managing Board published an initial forecast for the 2015 fiscal year on January 30, 2015. At  
this time, the Managing Board expected sales of €730 million to €770 million. SMA anticipated earnings before 
interest and taxes (EBIT) of €–30 million to €–60 million. The Managing Board emphasized that the return to 
profitability largely depended on the speed of implementing the Company’s transformation measures, which were  
simultaneously presented for the first time. 

With publication of the 2014 Annual Report on March 26, 2015, the SMA Managing Board confirmed and  
specified the forecast. SMA aimed for a net working capital ratio in relation to sales over the past twelve months  
of between 23% and 26%. Investments were to be reduced to between €30 million and €40 million in 2015.  
The SMA Managing Board expected to return to positive operating earnings (EBIT) in 2016. 

On July 9, 2015, the SMA Managing Board increased its sales and earnings forecast. The new forecast predicted 
SMA Group sales of between €800 million and €850 million in the 2015 fiscal year. In the best-case scenario, 
the Managing Board expected to break even in terms of operating earnings. At this time, the Managing Board 
anticipated an EBIT of €–25 million at the lower end of the earnings forecast. The Managing Board identified  
the better than expected growth of the global market for photovoltaic inverters, a considerable advance in SMA’s 
competitiveness and a consistently high order backlog as reasons for the increase in the forecast.

In the financial report for January to June 2015, published on August 13, 2015, SMA confirmed the forecast 
that it had issued on July 9, 2015. In this publication, the SMA Managing Board indicated that around 80% of 
the forecasted sales had already been accounted for by the sales in the first six months of 2015 and the order 
backlog for this fiscal year. Taking into consideration the Company’s improved business performance and timely 
implementation of its transformation, the Managing Board confirmed its expectation of a break-even in terms of  
EBIT in the bestcase scenario in 2015.

On September 29, 2015, the SMA Managing Board again raised its sales and earnings forecast. At this time,  
SMA expected to achieve sales of between €850 million and €900 million and anticipated an EBIT of €0 million 
to €10 million for the current fiscal year. In light of still extremely positive business performance, successful new 
product launches and the sustainable improvement in competitiveness, the Managing Board therefore held out the 
prospect of achieving the turnaround already in 2015. 

On November 11, 2015, the SMA Managing Board increased its sales and earnings forecast once again. At 
this time, SMA expected to achieve sales of between €925 million and €975 million and anticipated operating 
 earnings of €10 million to €30 million for the current fiscal year. This was due to notably positive business perform-
ance from January to October 2015, a significant year-on-year improvement in sales and earnings development  
in the third quarter and a high order backlog. With publication of the financial report for January to September 
2015 on November 12, 2015, the Managing Board specified its statements and predicted that SMA would  
generate positive free cash flow and further increase net cash in the reporting period.

With sales of €999.6 million in 2015, SMA also exceeded this forecast. Operating earnings were €34.3million 
and therefore higher than the Managing Board expected. Adjusted free cash flow was €54.3 million as of December 
31, 2015; net cash increased to €285.6 million (December 31, 2014: €225.4 million). Adjusted free cash  
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flow (net of term deposit investments) is negatively affected by the severance payments to employees who left the 
Company in 2015. At €50.6 million, SMA slightly exceeded its forecasted range (up to €50 million) for planned 
 investments in intangible assets and buildings and the acquisition of machinery and equipment. The net working 
 capital ratio for the reporting year was 22.3% and therefore even better than the range of 23% to 26% targeted by 
the Managing Board. 

TarGeT-acTUal cOMParisON FOr 2015

in € million sales Operating profit (eBiT) capital expenditure
Forecast on January 30, 2015 730 to 770 –30 to –60 30 to 40 
Forecast on July 9, 2015 800 to 850 –25 to 0 to 45 
Forecast on September 29, 2015 850 to 900 0 to 10 to 50
Forecast on November 11, 2015               925 to 975 10 to 30 to 50
2015 results 999.6 34.3 50.6
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Results of Operations

Sales and Earnings

SMA GENERATES POSITIVE EBIT EARLIER THAN EXPECTED 

In the 2015 fiscal year, the SMA Group increased its sales considerably to €999.6 million (2014: €805.4 million). 
This equates to sales growth of 24.1% compared with the previous year. Sold PV inverter output rose by 43.7% 
in the same period to 7,260 MW (2014: 5,051 MW), bringing it roughly into line with the level observed in the 
2012 fiscal year (2012: 7,188 MW). However, high price pressure in all segments and regions along with the 
greater share of higher-performance inverters in the product mix resulted in significantly lower sales than in 2012 
(2012 sales: €1,463.4 million). 

Thanks to its excellent positioning internationally, SMA benefited from the positive development seen in foreign 
photovoltaic markets in 2015. The regional shift in demand observed in recent years is also reflected in the inter-
national share of sales. Whereas in 2012, SMA generated 56.3% of its sales abroad, in the past fiscal year the 
international share accounted for 87.3% of sales (2014: 78.3%). In 2015, the SMA Group’s most important 
for eign markets were North America, Great Britain, Japan and Australia. Systematically implementing its inter
nationalization strategy over the past few years has allowed SMA to reduce its dependency on individual photo
voltaic markets. In 2015, in relation to gross sales, the North and South American (Americas) regions accounted  
for 42.2% of sales, with the European countries, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA) and the Asia-Pacific (APAC) 
regions contributing 36.1% and 21.7% respectively. Even the Utility, Commercial, Residential and Service seg  
 ments are exhibiting a balanced distribution of sales. SMA generated 41.6% of sales from products in the Utility  
segment, with products from the Residential and Commercial segments accounting for 25.3% and 20.7% of  
sales respectively. Service business generated 5.0% of sales. 

In addition to high sales levels in the reporting year, SMA also had an order backlog amounting to €699.8 million  
as of December 31, 2015. Of this amount, €370.9 million was attributable to the service business. This part of  
the order backlog will be realized over the next few years. An order backlog of €328.9 million can be attributed  
to the product business. Amounting to €198.6 million, the Utility segment makes up 60% of the productrelated 
 order backlog. The Commercial and Residential segments account for €36.6 million (11%) and €30.4 million (9%)  
of the productrelated order backlog. The remaining order backlog of €63.3 million relates to Other Business.

As a result of good sales development, fixed cost reduction and positive exchange rate effects, EBITDA improved 
considerably to €113.3 million in 2015 (EBITDA margin: 11.3%; 2014: €–58.4 million, –7.3%). EBIT increased  
to €34.3 million (2014: €–164.9 million). This equates to an EBIT margin of 3.4% (2014: –20.5%). Consolidated 
earn ings amounted to €14.3 million (2014: €–179.3 million). Earnings per share amounted to €0.41 (2014: 
€–5.16). Overall, SMA has gotten itself back on the road to long–term profitability much quicker than originally 
planned. 
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MANAGING BOARD RECOMMENDS DIVIDEND PAYMENT OF €0.14 PER SHARE

In fiscal year 2015, SMA Solar Technology AG as the parent company of the SMA Group registered an annual   
net income of €30.8 million (2014: €–197.1 million) in its separate commercial statements. The Managing Board 
will recommend that the Supervisory Board proposes to pay out a dividend of €0.14 per dividendbearing share  
at the Annual General Meeting on May 31, 2016. The amount paid out in dividends will thus amount to a total of 
€4.9 million (2014: €0.0 million). In relation to the consolidated net profit of €14.3 million, the payout ratio is 
34.3%, and therefore falls within the margin of 20% to 40% announced by the Managing Board. This makes SMA 
the only listed solar company in Germany to allow its shareholders to participate in its business success by  
way of a dividend in 2015. Since its IPO in 2008, SMA has paid out a total of €7.20 dividends per share so far. 

Sales and Earnings per Segment

RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS UNIT IS PROFITABLE AGAIN

The Residential business unit serves the attractive longterm market of small PV systems for private applications with 
micro inverters and singlephase string inverters with the brand name Sunny Boy, threephase inverters in the lower 
 output range up to 12 kW with the brand name Sunny Tripower, energy management solutions, storage systems 
such as the Sunny Boy Smart Energy, and communication products and accessories. With this portfolio of products 
and services, SMA can offer a suitable technical solution for private PV systems in all major photovoltaic markets. 

At €252.7 million, external sales in the Residential business unit were slightly higher than in the previous year (2014: 
€249.2 million). Its share of SMA Group’s sales was 25.3% (2014: 30.9%). The significant increase in sales in 
North America more than offset sales decline in Germany. In addition to North America, the most  important foreign 
markets continued to be Australia and Japan. In the reporting period, the major sales drivers were the Sunny Boy 
4500 to 6000TL inverters. 
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The Residential business unit’s EBIT improved significantly year on year due to reduced fixed costs, productivity 
increases and the launch of new products, amounting to €1.8 million (2014: €–46.9 million). In relation to internal 
and external sales, the EBIT margin was 0.7% (2014: –18.8%).

COMMERCIAL BUSINESS UNIT CONSIDERABLY INCREASES SALES ABROAD

The Commercial business unit focuses on the growing market of mediumsized PV systems for commercial appli ca tions. 
The portfolio includes threephase inverters from the Sunny Tripower brand with outputs of more than 12 kW, as 
well as complete energy management solutions for mediumsized solar power systems, mediumvoltage technology 
and other accessories. 

In 2015, external sales in the Commercial business unit improved by 30.2% year on year to €207.4 million (2014: 
€159.3 million). Its share of SMA Group’s sales was 20.7% (2014: 19.8%). The sharp decline in sales in Germany 
was more than offset by sales increases in the most important foreign markets of North America, Japan and Great 
Britain. In the reporting period, the major sales drivers were products based on the Sunny Tripower platform, which 
was optimized in terms of cost last year.

EBIT was influenced by a one-time item from a warranty claim and was €–25.6 million in 2015 (2014: €–22.8 mil-
lion). In relation to internal and external sales, the EBIT margin was –12.3% (2014: –14.3%). Without the onetime 
item, the Commercial business unit would have generated EBIT of €–17.6 million (EBIT margin: –8.5%). 

UTILITY BUSINESS UNIT IS THE KEY GROWTH DRIVER

The Utility business unit serves the growing market for largescale PV power plants with outputs ranging from 
500 kW to the megawatt range with central inverters from the Sunny Central brand. In addition to medium and 
highvoltage technology, the product and service portfolio also comprises grid service and monitoring functions as  
well as accessories. 

In 2015, external sales of the Utility business unit increased significantly by 47.7% year on year to €416.0 million 
(2014: €281.7 million). This success is primarily attributable to implementation of projects in North America and 
Great Britain. The Utility business unit’s share of SMA Group’s total sales increased to 41.6% (2014: 35.0%). It is 
thus the strongestselling business unit in the Group. The most important foreign markets were North America, Great 
Britain, Japan and the Philippines. The most successful products included the Sunny Central Compact Power series 
of inverters.

EBIT was €56.5 million in the reporting year, much higher than in the previous year (2014: €0.0 million).  
The main reasons for this were higher sales, reduction in fixed costs and introduction of the new Sunny Central in 
combination with the Medium Voltage Power Station. In relation to internal and external sales, the EBIT margin  
was 13.6% (2014: 0.0%).
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SERVICE BUSINESS UNIT INCREASES SALES AND PROFITABILITY

SMA has its own service companies in all important photovoltaic markets. With an installed capacity of almost 
50 GW worldwide, SMA leverages economies of scale to manage its service business profitably. Services offered 
include commissioning, warranty extensions, service and maintenance contracts, operational management, remote 
system monitoring and spare parts business.

In 2015, external service sales increased by 20.1% to €49.5 million (2014: €41.2 million). This was predominantly 
the result of increased demand in North America. Its share of SMA Group’s sales was 5.0% (2014: 5.1%). Not  
able sales drivers were operational management (O&M business), maintenance and service contracts subject to 
charge and chargeable commissioning. In the reporting period, EBIT was €14.4 million (2014: €4.5 million). In  
relation to internal and external sales, the EBIT margin notably increased to 12.4% (2014: 3.4%).

OTHER BUSINESS STILL GENERATING LOSSES

The Other Business segment comprises Railway Technology and Zeversolar as well as the OffGrid and Storage 
 business unit. In the reporting period, external sales totaled €74.0 million (2014: €74.0 million). Its share of SMA 
Group’s sales was 7.4% (2014: 9.2%). EBIT was €–16.5 million (2014: €–26.0 million). In relation to internal  
and external sales, the EBIT margin was –22.3% (2014: –35.1%). In the Consolidated Financial Statements, the 
business sector Zeversolar is presented with its own information under the regulations of IFRS 8.13.
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Development of Significant Income Statement Items

FIX COSTS SIGNIFICANTLY REDUCED

The cost of sales increased by 16.9% to €785.7 million (2014: €672.4 million) and thus at a considerably lower  
rate than sales. The cost of sales was positively affected by specific material cost reductions, introduction of  
new products with lower specific costs of sales (costs of sales per watt) and reduction in fixed costs. The gross  
margin increased to 21.4% (2014: 16.5%).

Personnel expenses included in cost of sales fell by 3.3% year on year from €134.8 million to €130.4 million 
despite a higher production volume. The first savings from personnel adjustments were partially offset by the 
collectively agreed upon wage increase, employee bonus and greater demand for temporary employees. 

Depreciation and amortization included in cost of sales decreased by 8.7% to €68.4 million in 2015 (2014: 
€74.9 million). This included scheduled depreciation on capitalized development costs of €19.5 million  
(2014: €14.9 million). 

The €18.7 million increase in other expenses primarily resulted from the addition of salesbased provisions for 
warranty obligations compared with the same period of the previous year.

Selling expenses fell by 13.1% year on year to €56.4 million in 2015 (2014: €64.9 million), due to savings in 
material costs in the wake of cost reduction measures. The cost of sales ratio was 5.6% in the reporting period 
(2014: 8.1%), due, in particular, to an increase in sales.

Research and development expenses not including capitalized development projects decreased to €67.7 mil    
lion as planned (2014: €88.2 million). Total research and development expenses including capital ized  
devel op ment projects amounted to €99.2 million in 2015, down significantly on the previous year’s level (2014: 
€129.1 million). In 2015, the research and development cost ratio (gross) amounted to 9.9% (2014: 16.0%). 
Development projects were capitalized in the amount of €31.5 million in the reporting period (2014: €40.9 million).

Administrative expenses in 2015 totaled €61.0 million (2014: €80.6 million). The substantial decrease in adminis 
 trative expenses of 24.3% is mainly attributable to staff reductions and measures taken to reduce material costs.  
In relation to considerably higher sales compared with the previous year, the ratio of administrative expenses  
thus declined to 6.1% (2014: 10.0%).

At €5.4 million, the balance of other operating income and expenses had a positive effect in 2015 and was a 
considerable improvement on the previous year’s expenses (2014: €–64.3 million). In the reporting period, this 
includes effects from foreign currency valuation, expenses for assets measured at fair value through profit or loss  
and reversal of provisions, e.g. for restructuring. Despite the additional staff reduction required over the reporting 
period, the restructuring provision was not adjusted as this reduction was achieved through a newly agreed  
upon voluntary severance program.
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FINANCIAL RESULT

The financial result worsened by €–1.9 million to €–5.0 million in 2015 (2014: €–3.1 million). The reason for this 
was a drop in financial income in 2015 from €3.0 million to €1.9 million. This was primarily due to lower interest 
income on bank balances and measurement of financial instruments at fair value. Financial expenses also increased  
to €7.0 million in 2015 (2014: €6.1 million). This was due to the interests anticipated from the audit for the years  
2010 through 2012. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of €113.3 million resulted in an EBITDA 
margin of 11.3% (2014: €–58.4 million, –7.3%). SMA achieved a return on sales (EBT in relation to sales) of 2.9% 
(2014: –20.8%). The return on equity after taxes (consolidated net loss/consolidated net profit in relation to aver - 
age total equity in the reporting period) came to 2.5% in the reporting year (2014: –28.1%); the return on assets 
after taxes (consolidated net loss/consolidated net profit in relation to average total assets in the reporting period) 
was 1.2% (2014: –14.7%).
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Value Added

SHARP INCREASE IN NET VALUE ADDED DUE TO HIGHER SALES

The value added statement shows the overall performance of the SMA Group minus intermediate input. Gross 
value added defines the material expenses, changes in inventories and other expenses as intermediate input. When 
 determining net value added, depreciations are also considered as intermediate input. The distribution statement 
shows the share of those participating in the value added process.

In the 2015 fiscal year, net value added was €355.5 million (2014: €169.2 million). The increase was primarily  
the result of significantly higher sales. Other expenses also fell dramatically thanks to measures taken to reduce  
fixed costs. Reduced depreciation and amortization of €79.0 million compared with the previous year (2014:  
€106.5 million) can be attributed to higher unscheduled depreciation in 2014. At 71.7%, a considerably lower 
share of net value added was apportioned to SMA employees in comparison with the previous year (2014: 
195.6%), while the share attribut able to the Company increased significantly year on year to 20.7% (2014: –105.9%).

The consolidated net profit in 2015 and the associated higher income taxes saw the value of the public sector 
 increase to €15.1 million (2014: €11.4 million). With a planned dividend payout totaling €4.9 million in 2015,  
the shareholders’ share of net value added comes to 1.4% (2014: 0.0%).

MUlTi-PeriOd OVerVieW OF resUlTs OF OPeraTiON

in % 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
EBIT margin 3.4 –20.5 –9.6 7.0 14.3 
EBITDA margin 11.3 –7.3 –0.6 11.7 17.3 
EBT margin (return on sales) 2.9 –20.8 –9.5 7.2 14.5 
Return on equity after taxes 2.5 –28.1 –8.7 9.3 21.9 
Return on assets (after taxes) 1.2 –14.7 –5.2 5.6 12.7 
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ValUe added sTaTeMeNT

Output method
2015

€ million
2015 

%
2014

€ million
2014 

%
change  

%
Sales 999.6 92.4 805.4 89.5 
Financial income 1.9 0.2 3.0 0.3 
Other income 47.8 4.4 47.5 5.3 
Own work capitalized 32.0 3.0 44.0 4.9 
company performance 1,081.3 100.0 899.9 100.0 20.2 

Material expenses 520.7 48.2 467.8 52.0
Changes in inventories –32.2 –3.0 –18.8 –2.1
Other expenses 158.3 14.6 175.3 19.5
Prepayments 646.8 59.8 624.3 69.4 3.6 
Gross value added 434.5 40.2 275.7 30.6 57.6 
Depreciation and amortization 79.0 7.3 106.5 11.8
Net value added 355.5 32.9 169.2 18.8 110.1 
distribution statement
Employees 254.9 71.7 331.0 195.6 –23.0 
Lenders 6.9 2.0 6.1 3.6 14.8 
Government 15.1 4.2 11.4 6.7 32.5 
Shareholders 4.9 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 
SMA Group 73.7 20.7 –179.3 –105.9 –141.3 
Net value added 355.5 100.0 169.2 100.0 110.1 

Financial Position

Principles and Objectives of Financial Management

Its robust financing allows SMA the flexibility and independence to take advantage of opportunities that arise in  
the photovoltaic market, without having to revert to banks or credit institutions.

Financial management is adjusted to both the short and mediumterm needs of operative business and to the 
long-term corporate strategy. The primary objective of our conservative financial management is to retain sufficient 
liquidity reserves as a solid financial foundation.

Corporate Treasury is responsible for financing and liquidity control in the Group, as well as for the strategic orien-
tation towards customer credit management.

Inflows of funds from operative business activities constitute the key source of financing. Cash holdings are managed 
and invested centrally by Corporate Treasury. The decision is based not only on returns but also the credit rating  
of the bank partner. In the case of supplier credits granted, counterparty risk is monitored continuously. The decision 
is primarily based on the customer’s payment practices and financial circumstances. To cover potential payment 
defaults, SMA has also taken out commercial credit insurance.

We systematically recognize market risks – above all currency risks – that might jeopardize the operating results 
and preclude such risks through hedging operations, provided this is economically expedient.

Financing Analysis

The loans assumed as part of the Zeversolar acquisition were again restructured and partially paid off through Group 
financing. Bank loans expiring in 2016 will also be paid off at the respective due date through Group financing. 
Restructuring its financing will enable SMA to dramatically reduce its annual interest charges. 

In total, financial liabilities fell by €22.4 million from €69.3 million as of the end of 2014 to €46.9 million as of the 
end of 2015. Sufficient credit lines for operative business continue to be available from five core banks.

Most of the provisions set aside by the SMA Group are for warranty obligations from our various product families. 
The equity ratio of 49.1% as of the end of 2015 (December 31, 2014: 46.8%) underscores the still solid balance 
sheet structure.

68 SMA Solar Technology AG    Annual Report 2015 To Our Shareholders
Corporate Governance
consolidated Management report    Fiscal Year 2015
Consolidated Financial Statements 
Other Information

69



Liquidity Analysis

SMA INCREASES NET CASH TO OVER €285 MILLION

Gross cash flow improved significantly, climbing by €99.1 million to €61.8 million (2014: €–37.3 million). This 
improvement was made despite the substantial outflow of funds over the course of the socially responsible staff 
reduction. The rise in gross cash flow is primarily due to the significantly improved consolidated result before taxes. 

The strong business performance also seen in the fourth quarter drove trade receivables up by 12.8% to €180.0 mil - 
lion (December 31, 2014: €159.6 million). Trade payables amounted to €103.1 million (December 31, 2014: 
€111.8 million). In 2015, SMA sustainably reduced inventory by 57.1% to €146.1 million (December 31, 2014: 
€203.2 million) by means of extensive measures taken to increase throughput speeds and eliminate interim storage. 
As a result of inventory reduction and continued positive business performance, net working capital decreased by 
11.2% to €223.0 million in 2015 (December 31, 2014: €251.0 million). The net working capital ratio in relation  
to sales over the past twelve months fell to 22.3% (December 31, 2014: 31.2%) and is thus below the range of 
23% to 26% targeted by the management. Net cash flow from operating activities climbed significantly by  
€131.8 million to €104.2 million (2014: €–27.6 million). 

Net cash flow from investing activities decreased in the reporting period to a total of €–66.3 million (2014: 
€24.7 million). This includes investments for fixed assets and intangible assets amounting to €50.6 million (2014: 
€75.5 million). At €31.5 million (2014: €40.9 million), a significant portion of the investments went to capitalized 
development projects, in particular, the introduction of a new product family of central inverters. The balance of 
proceeds and payments for the investment amounted to €–15.0 million (2014: €101.4 million).

As of December 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents amounting to €200.2 million (December 31, 2014: 
€184.0 mil lion) include cash in hand, bank balances and shortterm deposits with an original term to maturity of   
less than three months. With time deposits that have a term to maturity of more than three months, fixed-interest-
bearing securities, liquid assets pledged as collateral and after deducting interest-bearing financial liabilities, this  
resulted in adjusted net cash of €285.6 million (December 31, 2014: €225.4 million). Despite the outflow of 
funds in connection with the socially acceptable staff reductions, SMA strengthened its high liquidity reserve in the 
reporting period.

Investment Analysis

In the 2015 fiscal year, investments in fixed assets and intangible assets totaled €50.6 million and were thus clearly 
below the previous year’s figure of €75.5 million. This equates to an investment ratio in relation to sales of 5.1% 
compared with 9.4% in the 2014 fiscal year.

€17.6 million was invested in fixed assets (2014: €29.5 million), primarily for machinery and equipment. The invest-
ments were mostly made in connection with the launch of new products. The investment ratio for fixed  assets (in 
relation to net sales) was 1.8% in the fiscal year (2014: 3.7%). Scheduled depreciation of fixed assets declined 
slightly to €47.3 million (2014: €51.5 million).

Investments in intangible assets amounted to €33.0 million (2014: €46.0 million). They largely related to capita l
ized development projects. Amortization of intangible assets amounted to €31.7 million and was thus clearly below 
the previous year’s figure of €55.0 million. 

MUlTi-PeriOd OVerVieW OF sMa GrOUP FiNaNcial POsiTiON

in € million 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Shareholders‘ equity 570.2 552.0 724.4 820.7 789.3
Equity ratio in % 49.1 46.8 57.5 61.8 57.4
Noncurrent liabilities 281.2 284.0 287.0 263.6 241.1
Current liabilities 309.1 344.3 248.5 244.4 343.9
Share of noncurrent provisions 
in total assets in % 7.5 7.4 8.1 8.5 7.9
Financial liabilities 46.9 69.3 73.4 35.6 33.9
Net cash 285.6 225.4 329.7 446.3 473.3
Net working capital 223.0 251.0 247.6 268.0 281.7
Net cash flow from  
operating activities 104.2 –27.6 –2.4 116.1 238.9
Net cash flow from  
investing activities –66.3 24.7 34.4 –260.1 –129.1
Net cash flow from  
financing activities –23.2 –10.0 –16.4 –43.2 –91.4

iNVesTMeNTs cOMPared TO dePreciaTiONs aNd  
NeT cash FlOW FrOM OPeraTiNG acTiViTies

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Net cash flow  
from operating activities 104.2 –27.6 –2.4 116.1 238.9 
Capital expenditure1 50.6 75.5 53.2 100.2 160.2 
Depreciation and amortization 79.0 106.5 83.6 69.9 50.4 

1  See Notes, section 16 and 17, page 138 et seqq.
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Net Assets

SMA Has a Solid Equity Ratio of 49.1%

As of December 31, 2015, the balance sheet decreased slightly to €1,160.5 million (December 31, 2014: 
€1,180.3 million). At €473.5 million, noncurrent assets remained slightly below the level observed at the end  
of 2014 (December 31, 2014: €488.2 million).

Net working capital amounted to €223.0 million (December 31, 2014: €251.0 million). The net working capital 
ratio in relation to sales over the past 12 months was 22.3%. The positive business performance also seen in  
the fourth quarter drove trade receivables up by 12.8% to €180.0 million at the end of the fiscal year compared 
with the figure on December 31, 2014 (€159.6 million). Despite the higher international share, days sales out-
standing were reduced slightly to 62.0 days (December 31, 2014: 64.3 days). Inventory was down 28.1% at 
€146.1 million (December 31, 2014: €203.2 million), chiefly due to positive business performance and optimized 
replenishment times for raw materials, consumables and supplies. Despite business expansion, trade payables 
declined by €8.7 million to €103.1 million (December 31, 2014: €111.8 million). The share of trade credit in  
total assets decreased to 8.9% (December 31, 2014: 9.5%).

In 2015, the Group’s equity capital base increased by 18.2% to €570.2 million (December 31, 2014: 
€552.0 million). With an equity ratio of 49.1%, SMA has a comfortable equity capital base and therefore an 
extremely solid balance sheet structure.

Importance of OffBalance Sheet Financing Instruments

The SMA Group uses lease agreements for plant and office equipment. Future obligations under tenancy and lease 
agreements are shown in the Notes in section 29 Obligations Under Leases and Other Financial Obligations.

SMA is not involved in any other off-balance sheet transactions that might have a significant impact on its financial  
position, results of operations, investment expenditure, net assets or capital expenditure – neither currently nor in  
the future.

See Notes, 
page 151 et seqq.

MUlTi-PeriOd OVerVieW OF NeT asseTs sMa GrOUP

in € million 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Goodwill, intangible assets and fixed assets 385.9 413.1 441.1 443.8 417.7
Financial assets and longterm securities  
(incl. deposits with a total term to maturity  
of more than three months) 97.7 82.5 185.1 295.5 135.6
Cash and cash equivalents (incl. deposits 
with a total term to maturity of less than three 
months)

  
200.2  184.0 192.4 185.3 371.1

SMA Solar Technology AG  
(Notes Based on the German Commercial Code – HGB)
In addition to reporting on the SMA Group, business development of SMA Solar Technology AG (SMA AG) is 
 outlined below.

SMA AG is the parent company of the SMA Group and has its headquarters in Niestetal, Germany. Its primary 
business operations include the development, production and sale of PV inverters as well as monitoring and energy 
management systems for PV systems. Another area of business is providing operation and maintenance service  
(O&M business), and other services. In addition to its own operative business, SMA AG also functions as a holding 
company for the SMA Group. All key management mechanisms of SMA AG are oriented toward the SMA Group.

The SMA AG Annual Financial Statement is prepared according to the German Commercial Law (HGB). The 
 Con   so lidated Financial Statements follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). This leads to  differ   
ences between accounting and valuation methods. These mainly relate to intangible assets, inventory measure  
ment,  provisions, financial instruments, accrual items and deferred taxes.

Results of Operations

sMa sOlar TechNOlOGY aG iNcOMe sTaTeMeNTs iN accOrdaNce WiTh hGB (aBsTracT)
FOr The PeriOd FrOM JaNUarY 1 TO deceMBer 31, 2015

€‘000 2015 2014
Sales 666,006 545,697 
Increase or decrease in finished goods and work in progress –12,443 8,606 

653,563 554,303 
Other own work capitalized 3,240 2,962 
Other operating income 140,818 128,072 
Material expenses 395,708 336,383 
Personnel expenses 140,555 230,502 
Depreciation and amortization of intangible and fixed assets 43,273 50,697 
Other operating expenses 204,553 213,653 
Financial result 22,605 –44,441 
Net operating income (loss) 36,137 –190,339 
Taxes on income 5,024 6,701 
Other taxes 278 106 
annual net income 30,835 –197,146 
Accumulated income/losses brought forward 295,254 492,400 
Profit available for distribution 326,089 295,254 
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PV inverters from SMA AG with a total capacity of 4.7 GW were sold in 2015 (2014: 3.0 GW). Of this, 1.4 GW 
(2014: 0.6 GW) were attributable to associated companies. With sales of €251.8 million, the largescale PV 
power plant segment (Utility) was the segment with the strongest sales across SMA AG (2014: €143.7 million). 
With a growth rate of 75.2% year on year, it was also the fastest growing segment. Sales in the commercial PV 
system segment (Commercial) increased by 21.1% to €162.1 million (2014: €133.8 million). By contrast, external 
sales from residential PV systems (Residential) declined by 16.3% to €145.3 million (2014: €173.6 million). 
The subsidy situation in the sales markets was primarily responsible for the varying development of the segments. 
Sales in the Service division amounted to €40.5 million, 9.8% higher than in the previous year (2014: €36.9 mil   
lion). Sales were generated from services subject to charge, commissioning of PV systems and repair charges.

Other operating income amounted to €140.8 million (2014: €128.1 million). This included €40.3 million (2014: 
€18.0 million) from license income and €63.5 million (2014: €72.5 million) from the reversal and utilization of 
provisions. Income from foreign currency gains totaled €18.5 million in the fiscal year (2014: €14.4 million).

Material expenses increased by €59.3 million year on year to €395.7 million (2014: €336.4 million). The 17.6% 
increase in material expenses is significantly less than the increase in the sales volume (56.7%). This is mainly due  
to changes in the product mix compared with the previous year.

Personnel expenses declined by 39.0% to €140.6 million (2014: €230.5 million). In addition to the reduction 
in the average number of employees (not including temporary employees, trainees or interns) by 674 to 
2,362 employees, this trend can be explained primarily by the fact that the nonrecurring expense for the trans
formation project had a negative impact on the result in the previous year. 

Depreciation and amortization of intangible and fixed assets declined by €7.4 million to €43.3 million  
(2014: €50.7 million). The reduction in depreciation and amortization was mainly due to lower investing activities.

The €9.0 million decrease in other operating expenses to €204.6 million (2014: €213.6 million) is primarily the  
result of reduced expenditure for external services. Expenses related to foreign currency valuation were €6.6 million  
for the fiscal year (2014: €3.8 million). 

The financial result amounted to €22.6 million (2014: €–44.4 million). The increase is primarily a result of a write 
up of financial assets. At the same time, write-downs of financial assets declined considerably year on year.

The net operating income (loss) of SMA AG improved to a level of €36.1 million (2014: €–190.3 million). This  
was on account of substantial sales growth and lower expenditure. 

Taxes on income decreased by €1.7 million. This includes tax expenditure for previous years.

The consolidated net result for 2015 improved considerably after deduction of taxes. The annual net income 
amounted to €30.8 million compared with an annual net loss of €–197.1 million in the past fiscal year.

Net Assets and Financial Position

As of December 31, 2015, total assets of SMA AG increased by €3.7 million to €873.4 million (2014: 
€869.7 million).

Noncurrent assets increased by €20.8 million to €375.5 million (2014: €354.7 million). This rise is primarily  
a result of increased investment book values in financial assets.

As of December 31, 2015, total inventories of €88.1 million were clearly below the previous year’s level   
(2014: €113.5 million). The decrease of 22.4% year on year is the result of reduced inventories of raw  
materials, consumables and supplies (€–12.8 million to €44.0 million), reduced inventories of finished goods  
(€–9.9 million to €29.2 million) and reduced inventories of unfinished goods (€–2.5 million to €14.9 million).

sMa sOlar TechNOlOGY aG BalaNce sheeT iN accOrdaNce WiTh hGB (aBsTracT)  
as OF deceMBer 31, 2015    

€‘000 2015/12/31 2014/12/31
asseTs 
a. Non-current assets
I. Intangible assets 17,586 19,805 
II.  Fixed assets 230,085 256,339 
III. Financial assets 127,845 78,517 

375,516 354,661 
B.  current assets
I.  Inventories 88,095 113,496 
II.  Receivables and other assets 167,732 184,846 
III. Securities 47,636 52,480 
IV. Cash and cash equivalents 193,136 162,350 

496,599 513,172 
c. Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 1,243 1,825 

873,358 869,658
liaBiliTies
a.  shareholders‘ equity
I.  Share capital 34,700 34,700 
II.  Capital reserves 124,200 124,200 
III. Retained earnings
 1. Statutory reserve 400 400 
 2. Other retained earnings 3,136 3,136 
IV. Profit available for distribution 326,089 295,254 

488,525 457,690 
B.  special account with reserve characteristics 141 190 
c. Provisions 151,696 201,233 
d. Trade payables 108,231 100,056 
e.  accrued liabilities 124,765 110,489 

873,358 869,658 
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Trade receivables rose as a result of increased sales and totaled €76.0 million on the reporting date (2014: 
€48.8 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents and securities increased by 12.1% to €240.8 million (2014: €214.8 million). 

Equity increased considerably, as a result of earnings, by €30.8 million to €488.5 million compared with  
December 31, 2014. The equity ratio is 55.9% (2014: 52.6%).

The provisions of SMA AG largely comprise provisions for warranty obligations for our various product  
families and personnel provisions. The successfully implemented company transformation was the main factor  
accounting for the reduction in provisions by €49.5 million to €151.7 million (2014: €201.2 million).

Trade payables went up by €14.2 million year on year to €66.6 million (2014: €52.4 million). This increase  
is attributable to the higher purchasing volume as a result of sales growth.

Accrued liabilities of €124.8 million (2014: €110.5 million) were reported for deferred sales for extended  
warranties sold for subsequent years.

RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

The business performance of SMA AG is essentially exposed to the same risks and opportunities as the SMA  
Group. SMA AG also partakes in the risks affecting its investments and subsidiary companies proportionate  
to its respective holding. The risks are presented in the Risks and Opportunities Report. The relationships with  
our investments can also result in negative effects from statutory or contractual provisions for liabilities (partic  
ularly financing).

OUTLOOK

As a result of SMA AG’s interdependence with its Group companies and its importance within the Group,  
please refer to our statements in the Forecast Report for the SMA Group, which also outline the expectations  
for the parent company specifically.

Managing Board Statement on the Business  
Trends in 2015
The SMA Group significantly exceeded the sales and earnings targets it had set for itself at the beginning of the  
year. At €999.6 million, its sales were up 24.1% on the previous year’s level. EBIT was €34.3 million (EBIT margin: 
3.4%). SMA thus returned to profitability earlier than expected. In addition, sales and earnings were higher than 
the Managing Board’s forecast, which was last raised in November. Sales were largely driven by the segment of 
 largescale PV power plants (Utility). At the same time, the segments for residential PV systems (Residential) and  
commercial PV systems (Commercial) and the service business also recorded growth. Despite continued intense 
competition, SMA expanded its market leadership; according to the Company’s own estimates, its global market  
share rose from 17% to 21%. 

Business development continued to be marked by high dynamism in the different photovoltaic markets and sub 
segments. In the North American region in particular, demand for PV inverters saw stronger growth than anti
cipated in 2015. SMA’s growth in North America and in Great Britain more than compensated for the decline 
in other countries. Inverter output sold totaled 7,260 MW, 43.7% higher than the previous year’s figure (2014: 
5,051 MW). 

The SMA Group has a sound financial base and is emerging stronger from the structural change in the industry as 
a result of its extensive transformation. By the end of the reporting year, the equity ratio had risen to 49.1% (2014: 
46.8%), while net cash had also increased to €285.6 million (2014: €225.4 million). 

New Products for Changes in Customer Needs

In the reporting period, SMA continued to enhance the portfolio of the Sunny Boy, Sunny Tripower, Sunny Central 
and Sunny Island product families by extending the power range of the inverters and reducing the specific cost of  
sales through technical innovations. In the field of residential PV systems (Residential), SMA successfully launched 
the new Sunny Boy 1.5/2.5 in April 2015. Due to higher switching frequencies and a modular design, the material 
costs for the device are considerably lower than for the predecessor model. As a result of the simplified product 
structure, the production time per inverter was halved, too. The modern communications technology also allows  
for simple commissioning of the inverter and monitoring of the PV system. In the commercial PV system segment 
(Commercial), SMA expanded its market position, in particular with new Sunny Tripower series products for the  
key markets of the U.S. and Japan. 

In the field of large-scale PV power plants (Utility), the Company enjoyed success with the launch of the new  
Sunny Central generation. The central inverters deliver more power in less space and their 1,500volt technology  
allows for considerably more efficient design and operation of large-scale PV power plants. Another milestone  
for the  stra tegic development was the partnership with Siemens’ energy management division as announced in  
June. SMA’s main contribution to this partnership is its stateoftheart PV inverter solutions and its many years of 
experience in designing complex systems, while Siemens contributes transformers and switchgear for the high and 
 mediumvoltage range, including the grid connection. The partners are thus able to offer coordinated system solu  
tions and services from a single source – from the DC side to grid connection. The jointly developed Medium 
 Voltage  Power Station 2200SC/2500SC, which unites a 2.5 MW central inverter from SMA and a medium- 
voltage transformer and mediumvoltage switchgear from Siemens in a turnkey, standard container, is being met 
with great interest and is already being delivered for initial projects. 
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Service Business Enhanced

SMA also successfully expanded its service business over the course of 2015. Operation and maintenance con
tracts for largescale solar projects (O&M business) played a particularly important role here. SMA achieved 
considerable success in this area in 2015, especially in North America, and according to a study by GTM Research 
published in November 2015, it moved up to fourth place in the global ranking of O&M maintenance providers.  
The Company’s goal is to further expand its O&M service business in Europe and North America, benefiting in  
this context from its high level of service expertise and installed base.

Transformation Complete 

In the reporting period, SMA successfully completed an extensive Company transformation within a very short 
 space of time. By effectively reducing fixed costs and adapting its structures to lower sales levels, the Company 
 lowered its break-even point and is well positioned to react flexibly to the high fluctuations in the global photo - 
voltaic markets.
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Significant Events since the Beginning of the 2016 Fiscal Year 

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s situation or market environment since the beginning of 
the 2016 fiscal year.

Other Elements of the Consolidated Management Report
The following sections are elements of the Consolidated Management Report:

 The Corporate Governance Statement in accordance with Section 289a HGB starting on page 22
 Company-Relevant Statements and Explanations starting on page 27
 The Remuneration Report starting on page 28
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Risk Assessment

In the quarterly risk identification process, risk officers determine the risk situation in a standardized bottom-up 
process. In doing so, the relevant risk officer assesses the probability of a risk occurring and the amount of damage 
that might be caused by any individual risks detected. For the first three quarters, the probability of occurrence  
was classified according to the evaluation categories “unlikely”, “possible”, “likely” and “very likely,” as in the 
previous year. In the fourth quarter, this evaluation was made exclusively in the two categories “likely” and 
“possible.” In the future, this change will create an even better link with the balance sheet accounting of risks for 
which provisions could or must be recognized. In the first three quarters, the effect of risks on the Group’s earn-
ings was measured according to the categories “slight”, “medium”, “high” and “very high,” as in the previous 
year. Since the fourth quarter, these four damage categories have been condensed into the three categories 
“slight”, “medium” and “high”, and the thresholds were adjusted on the basis of the volatile business performance. 
Qualitative and quantitative assessments are used consistently throughout the Company.

Gross and net risk values have to be determined for every individual risk within an observation period of two years. 
Gross risk value represents the largest possible negative financial effect before the Company takes measures to  
influence the risk. Net risk value considers risk-reduction activities. This shows the influence the countermeasures may 
have. Changes in conditions between evaluation dates may of course result in a re-evaluation of individual risks.

Risk Management

While taking into account the corporate strategy, the objective of risk management is to actively influence identified 
and assessed individual risks. The aim is to influence the risk potential with targeted countermeasures. Risks are  
identified by an early-warning system so that they can be controlled (e.g., through damage prevention or steps to 
limit damage), sufficient security reserves can be formed, or individual risks can be transferred to third parties  
(e.g., through insurance companies). With regard to risk management, these measures and their implementation  
are subject to regular monitoring and adjustment. 

Continuous Risk Monitoring and Reporting

The development of risks remaining after measures have been taken or risks that cannot be influenced is monitored 
regularly using suitable early-warning tools and key figures. If a risk tends to increase, management must be 
notified in good time to be able to take countermeasures. Our Risk Management System is designed to ensure 
that the appropriate employees can identify risks early on and report them to the responsible decision-makers in 
the Company. These reports are first made to the central Group Risk Manager and to the Managing Board if the 
individual risks are classified at least as “medium.” Apart from quarterly risk notifications, immediate reporting 
duties have been outlined for all risk officers, who must report to the Managing Board if the risk situation changes 
significantly. Significant reported risks and countermeasures and adjustments to the risk management process 
are addressed separately in regular Risk & Opportunity Board meetings. Since the fourth quarter, the heads of 
business units have preceded the Managing Board in the regular process. They ensure that all significant risks and 
opportunities for their respective business field are fully documented and correctly evaluated in the risk management 
system. This relates in particular to risks regarding the pricing, earnings, sales and market share of the business field  
as well as the product, development and application portfolio. In addition, the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee  

riSkS and opportunitieS report

Risk and Opportunity Management

Risk Management System

In the context of its global business activity, the SMA Group is exposed to a range of risks. Although SMA must to 
a certain extent accept risks, which can impair target attainment in the implementation of strategies in the business 
units, suitable countermeasures can be used to control and influence them. In addition, with regard to opportunity 
management, a balanced ratio between risks and opportunities is used. Major potential opportunities are described 
in more detail below, each in connection with the corresponding individual risks, and are listed in the Forecast 
Report. The risk management system we employ helps identify risks at an early stage and communicate them in an 
understandable manner. The system is oriented toward the COSO Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) – Integrated 
Framework (COSO ERM), which is an internationally accepted standard for establishing and systematically devel-
oping a Company-wide risk management system. This includes not only strategic risks, but also all downstream  
risks on the operative and procedural level. In addition, COSO ERM serves as an aid in formulating a risk strategy to 
identify risks at an early stage and proactively manage them. A software application is used throughout the Group  
to map risks in order to make recognition of opportunities and risks easier and to meet documentation requirements.

Integration Into the Existing Structure and Process-Oriented Organization

The SMA Managing Board bears overall responsibility for effective risk and opportunity management to ensure that 
all risks and opportunities are considered comprehensively and uniformly. The Supervisory Board is responsible for 
monitoring the effectiveness of the Group-wide risk management system. In order for this task to be performed, the 
Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee processes the information for the Supervisory Board. The task of implementing 
and developing the system further was transferred to the Group risk management position, which is directly subor-
dinate to the Chief Executive Officer.

Risk Identification

A risk is defined by SMA as an event that ensues from a decision made by Management (strategic), an action 
(operative) or external circumstances and – if the risk transpires – results in a negative deviation from the planned 
earnings. The goal of risk management is to identify risks above a defined threshold as early as possible to limit  
the potential impact by employing suitable measures. In addition, the Company must accept risks to a certain extent 
in order to utilize opportunities.

The Managing Board laid out the objectives of risk management in terms of risk strategy and principles of organi-
zation, analysis and communication in a risk handbook. It contains principles for dealing with risks; requirements, 
value limits and regular and immediate uniform reporting processes are bindingly defined. Responsibility for iden-
tifying risks lies primarily with the corresponding risk officer. As a rule, these are executives of the first two levels 
below the Managing Board and selected central Group functions. Involving these two management levels ensures 
active identification, analysis and measurement of risks, and creates the necessary transparency in a potential  
risk situation. To support them, there is a catalog of potential risks to guarantee the recognition of all risks to the 
Company as a going concern.
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against unauthorized access by using appropriate authorization systems and access restrictions. The Supervisory 
Board’s Audit Committee and the Internal Auditing department are incorporated into the internal monitoring system 
with process-independent audit activities.

The Internal Auditing department is subordinate to the Chief Executive Officer and reports directly to him and to the 
Supervisory Board or the Audit Committee. As part of its auditing tasks, the Internal Auditing department regularly 
examines the effectiveness of the Internal Control System on the basis of a risk-orientated audit plan by means of  
sampling, and thus also checks the Internal Control and Risk Management System as it pertains to the (Group’s) 
accounting process. Alongside the Internal Auditing department, the auditor of the Annual Financial Statements also 
carries out an evaluation. Under the terms of his/her audit of the Financial Statements, the auditor is obliged to 
report any risks found related to accounting and any fundamental weaknesses in the Internal Control and Risk Man- 
 agement System to the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. Audits of the Annual Financial Statements and 
Consolidated Financial Statements, by the auditor, and of the local financial statements submitted by the Group 
companies included in the scope of consolidation, safeguard the basic process-independent monitoring mech anism  
in the accounting system.

Risks With Regard to the (Group) Accounting Process

Important risks in the (Group’s) accounting process include the possibility that the local financial statements of the 
Group companies included in the scope of consolidation fail to properly reflect the true net assets, financial position 
and results of operation due to unintentional or deliberate wrongdoing, or that publication of the Quarterly and 
Annual Financial Statements is late. These risks may permanently impair the confidence of shareholders or the repu-
tation of SMA. As an integral part of SMA, the Risk Management System as it pertains to (Group) accounting 
is concerned with detecting the risk of misstatements in the Group’s bookkeeping as well as in external financial 
reporting. In order to ensure systematic early identification of risks Group-wide, SMA has installed a monitoring 
system to identify risks, early on, that threaten the existence of the Company in accordance with Section 91 (2) AktG, 
permitting – beyond the limits of statutory regulations – prompt identification, control and monitoring of all exis t-
ence-threatening and other risks. The auditor assesses proper functioning of the early risk identification system in 
accordance with Section 317 (4) HGB. More detailed explanations are provided in the Risks and Opportunities 
Report.

Regulations and Controls Designed to Ensure Propriety of (Group) Accounting

The internal control measures are aimed at securing proper and reliable (Group) accounting and ensure business 
transactions are fully and promptly recorded in accordance with legal provisions and the Articles of Association. 
They also guarantee that inventory-taking is properly implemented and that assets and liabilities are properly recog-
nized, measured and carried in the Annual Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements. Further-
more, the regulations ensure that accounting records provide reliable and comprehensible information. The functions 
of the departments that play a major role in the (Group) accounting process are clearly separated and their areas  
of responsibility are clearly assigned. The relevant departments are staffed with trained personnel in sufficient num-
bers; the four-eyes principle consistently applies to processes associated with (Group) accounting.

is informed of significant risks with a considerable impact and newly identified issues that exceed defined value  
limits every six months. In order to ensure integration with the (Group) accounting process, the risk management 
process follows a coordinated timetable and thus guarantees full provision of information to all SMA functions 
involved in (Group) accounting and financial reporting. Further methods for detecting risks are evaluation of 
customer and supplier information, systematic market and competitive analyses and monitoring economic, legal  
and subsidy-related framework conditions in the important existing and target markets.

Opportunity Management

Making use of existing opportunities is one of the core tasks of each and every enterprise. This can pertain to both 
internal and external potential. As part of our integrated and system-based risk and opportunity management 
approach, we regularly identify and assess opportunities. Identifying these opportunities early on and regularly is 
above all the task of management. We assess opportunities to the best of our knowledge, basing our assessment 
on assumptions relating to market development, the market potential of technology or products and the expected 
changes in demand and prices. The cornerstones of this are the Group-wide planning process as well as strategy 
meetings held by the Managing Board with executives from the top two levels of management, which result in the 
strategy reports. In order to identify our opportunities, we continuously employ market and competitive analysis  
and systematic knowledge management, and place great importance on an open information policy within the 
Group. In doing so, we strive to create a balanced relationship between opportunities and risks.

More details on opportunities for the next fiscal year may be found by referring to the Forecast Report.

Internal Control System
SMA’s Internal Control System includes all the principles, procedures and measures available to ensure business 
 activities maintain the proper course. It is made up of systematically created organizational and technical measures 
and controls within the Company aimed at guaranteeing adherence to laws and regulations, as well as guidelines  
for preventing damage that might be caused by its employees or third parties. The Managing Board is responsible  
for implementation and adequacy of the Internal Control System; effectiveness is monitored by the Supervisory 
Board or its Audit Committee.

Key Features of the Internal Control and Risk Management System in Relation to the 
(Group) Accounting Process (Section 289 (5) and Section 315 (2) No. 5 HGB)

The Internal Control System pertaining to the accounting process is part of the Overall Internal Control System, which  
is embedded in the Company-wide Risk Management System. Process-integrated and process-independent 
monitoring steps constitute the basis of the internal monitoring system. Automated IT process controls are an impor - 
tant constituent part of the process-integrated measures. Additional controls are the organizational monitoring 
methods, such as the four-eyes principle, organizational separation of administration, execution, settlement and 
approval functions and work instructions. Furthermore, wherever possible we protect the IT systems deployed 
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SMA constantly evaluates laws, financial reporting standards and other agreements and considers their relevance 
and effect on the (Group) accounting process. We promptly communicate applicable requirements to SMA com-
panies. The uniform IT platform and Group account plan and standardized processes ensure proper and timely 
 recording of all important business transactions. There are binding rules regarding additional, manual documen-
tation of business transactions. An accounting manual specifies the accounting provisions in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It applies to all employees involved in the (Group) accoun ting  
process; the accounting provisions also apply to all external service providers involved. In addition to general account-
ing principles and methods, these provisions above all include rules concerning the balance sheet, in come state-
ment, statement of comprehensive income, Notes, Management Report, cash flow statement, statement of changes 
in equity and segment reporting in compliance with EU legislation. By defining clear requirements, the risk of incon-
sistent practices when recognizing, measuring and carrying assets and liabilities should be reduced. In  addition, 
a check is carried out centrally on the financial statements submitted by the companies included in the scope of 
consolidation while referring to the audit reports drafted by the local auditors. Each month upon submission of the 
reporting packages, those responsible at the subsidiaries also confirm the propriety and completeness of each  
financial statement by way of an internal declaration of completeness. 

Use of IT Systems

Business transactions at SMA and at all the larger subsidiaries are primarily recorded using ERP systems from SAP 
AG, Walldorf (Germany). These are protected from misuse by appropriate authorization systems and access 
 restrictions. The authorizations granted are reviewed and amended regularly. The centralized control and monitoring 
of nearly all IT systems, centralized change management and regular system backups minimize not only the risk of 
 data loss, but also the risk of IT system failures related to (Group) accounting. External service providers with their 
own IT systems are employed in the case of smaller companies.

Use of the Group-wide IT consolidation system ensures that all data is recorded properly and completely and that 
Group-internal business transactions are eliminated. This is where the various components of the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, including important data for the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are prepared. 

Disclaimer

The Internal Control and Risk Management System enables control of risks that might otherwise prevent the Annual 
Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements from being properly drawn up and is therefore 
continuously being improved. However, Company-wide application of the regulatory and control measures cannot 
guarantee absolute reliability with regard to the accurate, complete and timely recording of facts in (Group) 
accounting and in the detection of irregularities.

Individual Risks
The following section describes significant risks with considerable disadvantageous effects on business and the  
associated net assets, financial position and results of operation of the Group and the Company’s reputation.   
The possibility of occurrence as well as accompanying effects after countermeasures have been taken are assessed 
(net risk). The order of the risks presented in the four categories reflects their current assessment for SMA.

The probability of occurrence and the possible effect of a risk as well as its year-on-year development are assessed  
by the following criteria:

FeatureS oF tHe riSk aSSeSSment

probability  
of occurrence
(1st–3rd  
quarter 2015)

probability  
of occurrence
(as of 4th  
quarter 2015)1

potential effects

Future risk development as of 
the reporting date (trend)

(1st–3rd quarter 
2015)

(as of 4th quarter 
2015)

unlikely Slight Slight   Higher than previous year
(> 0 to < 15%) Limited negative effects on expected earnings, 

no loss of reputation, no threat to customer 
relationships

possible possible medium medium   Same as previous year
(≥ 15 to < 50%) (> 0 to < 50%) Some negative effects on expected earnings, 

moderate loss of reputation, potential threat to 
customer relationships, identifiable disruption  
to business operations (primarily internal effect)

likely likely High High   lower than previous year
(≥ 50 to < 85%) (≥ 50 to < 100%) Substantial negative effects on expected 

 earn ings, high loss of reputation (not yet  
a threat to existence), major threat to  
customer relationships, significant disruption  
to business operations (with external effect)

Very likely Very high
(≥ 85 to < 100%) Harmful negative effects on business, connected 

with a very high loss of reputation, very major 
threat to customer relationships, disruption of 
business operations that threatens existence 
Since the fourth quarter of 2015, this manifes- 
t ation is included in the “high” category.

1  For the first three quarters, the probability of occurrence was classified according to the evaluation categories “unlikely”, “possible”, “likely” and “very likely,” as in the 
previous year. In the fourth quarter, this evaluation was made exclusively in the two categories “likely” and “possible.” In the future, this change will create an even better 
link with the balance sheet accounting of risks for which provisions could or must be recognized.
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for continually high growth rates for the years to come in what is our most important sales market worldwide. In   
the APAC region (not including China), SMA is well positioned and can therefore benefit from the growth in these 
markets. For example, the total SMA PV inverter output installed in Japan, Thailand and India now exceeds 1 GW  
in each country. 

SMA performs market research to be able to respond promptly to emerging changes in subsidies in target and 
 existing markets. Short-term fluctuations in demand are discussed with local sales managers and operations in 
the regular forecast process. Thanks to its high level of flexibility in production, SMA can usually react quickly to 
 changes. 

For more information on the development in individual markets, please refer to the remarks in the Forecast Report,  
“Future General Economic Conditions in the Photovoltaics Sector” section.

THE RISK OF AGGRESSIVE COMPETITION

Some markets offer attractive PV system incentive programs. The concomitant high demand leads to intense com-
petition. Existing and new competitors will attempt to secure market shares through an aggressive pricing policy and 
advantageous payment terms. Moreover, saturated markets and bidding processes for large-scale solar projects 
lead to more transparency and more intense price competition. Although SMA continues to press ahead with inter-
nationalization, changes to subsidies could cause additional price pressure, potentially with substantial negative 
effects on further business development in these markets and SMA’s earnings. 

Other possible scenarios include competitors improving the quality, functionality or performance of their products  
or local competitors reacting more flexibly and adapting better to the prevailing market requirements in certain  
markets. Such competition may in the future lead to further declines in prices for products and services produced  
by SMA and likewise to a loss in market shares. In addition, increasing market fragmentation can be seen. Success  
in markets that are still young requires local infrastructure, in some cases with local added value. In turn, this leads  
to higher costs and affects the competitive playing field. Should our competitors succeed in being able to quote  
well below SMA’s prices on a sustained basis, this will impair earnings growth or have a negative effect on SMA’s 
break-even point. 

The SMA Managing Board continues to forecast a sharp price decline. This price decline is expected to be offset 
by growth in volume. In addition, SMA is meeting this price competition with market-appropriate and cost-optimized 
products and solutions. With expenditure for research and development of €99.2 million in 2015 (including cap-
italized development projects), SMA remains well positioned to set important trends with new products and solutions. 
Regular monitoring and reporting to the Managing Board ensure early identification of project delays and initiation  
of appropriate countermeasures (see also Research and Development Risks). 

In addition, there are opportunities for further development of international markets. The international share of sales  
is already nearly 90%. SMA will continue to develop existing infrastructure abroad in order to benefit from the 
growth emerging in foreign markets. In addition, SMA has already proven on multiple occasions that the Group is 
able to successfully develop young markets within a short space of time. In order to identify and use this business  
potential at an early stage, the Managing Board has adopted a process for systematic analysis of potential markets. 

See Forecast Report 
page 97 et seqq.

Strategic Risks

REGULATORY RISKS

The photovoltaics sector worldwide depends to a large extent on state subsidies. Due to differing subsidies and 
changes to them, both in terms of content and regionally, markets remain highly volatile. Volume fluctuations not 
 only occur regionally but also cyclically, complicating planning significantly. The risk situation has improved year  
on year because of the increasing international share. 

While the European photovoltaic markets continued to develop stably year on year in 2015, the North and South 
American and Asia-Pacific regions boasted some significant growth in terms of new installations measured in giga-
watts. On a cumulative basis, approximately 38% of PV inverter output already installed in the Americas region is 
attributable to SMA. The Company confirmed its status as the leading provider of PV inverter solutions with its large 
number of installations in the Americas region in 2015. Overall market conditions have improved because the U. S. 
Congress extended the tax incentives for PV systems until 2020 shortly before the end of the past fiscal year. Orig-
inally, the program had been planned to expire at the end of 2016. The U.S. government has thus created stability 

preSentation oF tHe indiVidual riSkS

areas of risk
probability of
occurrence

potential 
financial
impact

risk  
development 
2014/12/31

risk  
development  
2015/12/31

Strategic risks
Regulatory risks Likely High
Competition risks Likely High
Market risks Likely High
Investment risks Possible Medium
Risks from research and development activities Likely High
operating risks
Procurement and inventory risks Likely High
Product risks Likely High
Personnel-related risks Likely Medium
IT risks Likely High
Financial risks
Financing and liquidity risks Possible Slight
Risks from exchange rate fluctuations Possible Slight
Risks from customer bad debt Possible Medium
Compliance risks
Export risks Possible Medium
Antitrust risks Possible High
Risks from violating data protection law Possible Slight
Risks from environmental damage Likely      Slight
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SMA can reduce its dependence on individual photovoltaic markets with its global positioning. Additionally, SMA 
offers products and solutions for all major areas of application. The range includes high-efficiency PV inverters, 
complete system solutions for PV systems of all power classes, electric batteries and intelligent energy management 
systems. The range is rounded off by complete solutions for PV/diesel hybrid applications and extensive services  
up to and including operational management. 

There are high barriers of entry into individual markets. The entry barriers can be divided into size-dependent and 
experience-dependent barriers. For example, the size-dependent barriers include the scope of the product and 
service portfolio, global infrastructure and economies of scale. The entry barriers that depend on experience in-  
clude the ability to design complete and coordinated solutions for PV applications (e.g., storage solutions) or to  
meet certification requirements in the respective sales regions. If SMA cannot or can only partially overcome  
these barriers to entry, this would have significant effects on future development. SMA has therefore entered into  
targeted strategic alliances to generate economies of scale (e.g., the alliance with Danfoss). In addition, SMA  
works to contact the certification authorities and electric utility companies abroad to be able to make the necessary  
adjustments to its product and service portfolio early on. 

Formation of buying syndicates can increase the dependency of SMA on a few wholesalers or specialist whole-
salers and other customers generating large sales. This dependency harbors a risk as a result of these large 
 customers gaining more negotiating power coupled with increased price pressure. SMA avoids dependency on  
individual customers by deploying a targeted sales strategy. The share in total sales of the ten largest customers 
worldwide therefore fell to approximately 30% in the fiscal year. 

For more information on development in individual markets, please see the remarks in the Forecast Report, “Future 
General Economic Conditions in the Photovoltaics Sector” section.

INVESTMENT RISKS

If we improperly assess market changes in the future, this could lead to failure in fully utilizing our production cap a  - 
cities and to unscheduled depreciation of production equipment and product developments. The non-utilized infra-
structure would have a negative effect on our earnings. Through the Company’s transformation in 2015, SMA  
considerably lowered fixed costs year on year and can therefore generate profits even with lower sales. Investing 
activities were also restricted. The completion of important development projects allowed for capitalization of 
 research and development costs to be reduced. Our regular forecast process allows us to recognize fluctuations  
in demand early on and take corrective measures. Thanks to the high degree of production flexibility at SMA,  
we can largely absorb negative demand fluctuations. Through interim solutions, we try to delay investments for as  
long as it is economically rational. 

For more information on development in individual markets, please see the remarks in the Forecast Report, “Overall 
Statement From the Managing Board on the Expected Development of SMA Group” section.

See Forecast Report, 
page 97 et seqq.

See Forecast Report, 
page 97 et seqq.

Opening up new business areas to increase sales is one of the central elements of SMA’s corporate strategy. In  
this context, the Managing Board sees services (e.g., in the operation and maintenance business, O&M business), 
system technology for storage applications and intelligent energy management solutions as areas of business with 
opportunities to increase sales. The SMA Managing Board has therefore decided to continue expanding its service 
business to further differentiate the Group from the competition. The service business offers a solid foundation for this 
because it is not subject to such high volatility as are other segments. In addition, SMA already offers solutions for 
both integration of electric batteries with different technologies and for intelligent energy management. The portfolio  
of products and solutions for these applications will be expanded further in the future. 

Also important are the cost-out measures and projects that will be consistently pursued to increase efficiency and 
realize cost savings potential. Continuous review and optimization of global cost structures will be the key to SMA’s 
long-term success. Use of flexible tools for inventory management and in procurement and production is intended  
to sustainably increase flexibility in the face of demand fluctuations (see also procurement and inventory risks). 

For more information on development in individual markets, please see the remarks in the Forecast Report, “Overall 
Statement From the Managing Board on the Expected Development of SMA Group” section.

MARKET RISKS

If market saturation occurs in our important target and existing markets, this usually results in a drop in demand.  
In the past, the high demand for PV systems resulted partially from the sharp increase in conventional energy carrier 
prices. Although prices for oil and gas declined sharply at the end of the year, energy prices are expected to rise 
again in the medium term. The higher the price of energy from these sources, the more attractive generating electricity  
from sunlight becomes. Photovoltaics has proven to be increasingly competitive in recent years. In a growing 
 number of regions around the world, solar power is now more cost-efficient than conventional energy. 

The risk of declining market shares in conjunction with the risk of aggressive competition or changes in market 
 development is monitored globally by the heads of the business units based on the forecast process with sales. 
These risks are countered with the market-appropriate adjustment of the product and solution portfolio. In addition, 
SMA is consistently positioning the SMA and Zeversolar brands to serve the largest possible market. While the 
products and solutions sold under the SMA brand are brought to market in all of SMA’s sales regions, Zeversolar 
products are mainly deployed in the low-price segments in Australia, Great Britain, Benelux and India. Zeversolar  
also serves demand in the price-sensitive Chinese market. 

In the past fiscal year, SMA was again voted the world’s most popular inverter brand by the “PV Inverter Customer  
Insight Survey – 2015.” The IHS institute for market research and business consulting surveyed buyers of inverters  
in over 40 countries. This study shows that SMA is the preferred inverter brand among all customer groups around  
the world and in many of the large photovoltaic markets for the fourth year in a row despite the fierce global com-
petition between inverter manufacturers. 

Nonetheless, the dependence on individual regions or markets (e.g., U.S. - utility business) is considerable. If, for 
example, this market was to break away because of regulatory changes, this would have substantial, potentially  
existence-threatening effects on SMA.

See Forecast Report,  
page 97 et seqq.
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Like political conditions, the risk from new technical directives can only be influenced to a limited extent. The risk 
of not meeting such requirements remains unchanged. Only an accelerated development process and specific  
market knowledge will enable SMA to limit this risk in the future. Therefore, our employees actively contribute to 
new tech nical guidelines through standards associations and other organizations. In addition, the assumptions  
and  associated risks with regard to strategic projects are regularly reviewed. Based on future continued focus of  
our development capacities, key developments should be identified and advanced more quickly. These proce  dures  
allow us to recognize and implement changes in what is required of our products early on.

For additional details, please refer to the information on research and development in the Consolidated Manage-
ment Report.

Operating Risks

PROCUREMENT AND INVENTORY RISKS

SMA is increasingly dependent on certain suppliers. We work to minimize these risks through market analyses, care - 
ful evaluation of suppliers, flexible supplier agreements, clearly defined quality standards and reducing dependence 
on individual suppliers. Therefore, SMA will make greater use of standard components in future innovations and  
qualify alternative suppliers to increase flexibility. 

Regular inventory reviews are carried out in connection with increasingly shorter innovation cycles and resulting 
potential inventory write-down requirements. Inventories are adjusted with controlling tools (e.g., vendor-managed 
inventory/consignment stock, pull principle, outsourcing, adjustment of procurement parameters) and early-warning 
systems. By monitoring changes in important raw material prices, development trends should be identified in a timely 
manner and compensatory mechanisms developed with suppliers before they affect purchase prices and negatively 
influence SMA’s earnings. Despite these measures, supply problems with important suppliers could threaten the  
delivery capacity for existing and new products and SMA’s competitive advantage. 

Another measure also intensively pursued in the past fiscal year was the internationalization of our purchasing struc-
tures by establishing and expanding decentralized purchasing teams in the U.S., Poland and China to lower pur-
chase prices and logistics costs and to reduce dependence on local suppliers. As part of the global purchasing and 
commodity strategy, these activities should be monitored more closely than before. Danfoss and SMA have been 
working together in a cross-company purchasing partnership for over a year. Since the start of 2015, the Finnish in-
verter manufacturer Vacon, which Danfoss took over, has also been integrated into the partnership. The objective  
of the partnership is to further reduce costs through joint purchasing activities. By pooling their requirements, all three 
companies have already been able to lower their procurement prices. Another advantage of the partnership is,  
for example, sharing of information and process knowledge, methods and tools (benchmarking), and best practice 
insights so as to further improve specific negotiations and our competitiveness in the long term.

See Research and 
Development, 

page 45 et seqq.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT RISKS

SMA’s extensive product portfolio includes inverters for all applications, power classes and module types,   
comple mented by intelligent energy management and monitoring systems and storage applications. In addition to 
optimization of existing products and solutions, the SMA Managing Board’s goal is to concentrate above all on  
the development of future product generations. However, this inherently gives rise to the risk that vital technology 
trends are identified too late or that market launch is delayed due to development stages that are too long. As this  
could lead to sales losses and smaller market shares, SMA will continue to invest up to 10% of sales in research  
and development activities in order to develop new processes, technologies, products and services. The Devel-
opment division has developed timetables for all projects, which are regularly submitted to the Managing Board. 
The planned development times can be adhered to by consistently monitoring milestones. One of the key tasks  
on the way to faster and more efficient product development is simplification and standardization of the current 
product development process at SMA. An interdisciplinary team was charged with this task in the past fiscal  
year, so the optimized process will be implemented as early as 2016. This process still accounts for the inter na-
tional development locations in the U.S. and China established in the previous year. SMA is consciously seeking 
collaboration with research facilities to advance strategic development projects with the aim of further reducing 
development time of innovative products. However, we cannot rule out that individual development projects  
will fail to deliver economically exploitable results or do so in the expected time frame.

The Managing Board sees storage applications (e.g., in large-scale storage projects) and integration of storage 
solutions as providing particular opportunities to strengthen core business. SMA is the only inverter manufacturer  
to collaborate with nearly all world-leading manufacturers of stationary battery-storage systems. SMA inverters  
are therefore qualified for use with various battery technologies and thus enable future-proof technical solutions  
for integration of batteries into PV systems of every power class. However, the market success of these solutions 
depends largely on storage system prices. The sharp declines in prices for electric battery-storage systems in recent 
years have improved sales prospects. 

With our patents and through constant monitoring of technologies and competitors relevant to SMA, we work to 
maintain and expand our technological edge. In addition to the largely exclusive use of inventions, patents also 
promote innovation and thus future economic benefit. Because competitors and research institutes also file a large 
number of patent applications, we cannot rule out that, in spite of regular, extensive research, we will not infringe 
on third-party patent rights or other industrial property rights or that, vice versa, our rights will be violated by third 
parties. If the former occurs, SMA may incur considerable costs related to claims for compensation, in its defense 
against such claims or in relation to royalty payments to third parties. It is therefore important that the product will 
be checked for third-party rights in a timely manner before approval and market launch. Corresponding mile-
stones have been included in the guidelines and process descriptions on product development and market launch. 
The Intellectual Property Management department actively protects proprietary technologies and monitors patent 
applications. By employing patent attorneys, SMA also strives to avoid the risk of lawsuits and any litigation costs. 
We make provisions for disputes related to intellectual property, when necessary, if we consider it likely that such 
claims might be asserted against us. 
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could not compensate for the sharp decline in sales and earnings in recent years, the personnel structures had to be 
adapted to the sales level expected in the future. This transformation process is largely complete. Nonetheless, there 
is still a risk that talented individuals could leave the Company and not be replaceable at short notice. We offer 
performance-based remuneration systems and participation in the Company’s success, flexible working hours and 
options for training, qualification and balancing family and career. By integrating university research and education 
into our work at the Kassel site, and building other partnerships with universities and institutes, SMA is also making 
a significant contribution to being perceived as an attractive employer and thereby recruiting highly qualified young 
staff to the Company long term.

For additional details, please refer to the information in the Section “Employees” in the Consolidated Management 
Report.

IT-RELATED RISKS

As a global market, technology and innovation leader and publicly traded stock corporation, SMA is in the public 
eye and therefore heavily under threat of industrial espionage. Increasing connectivity and the need for permanent 
availability place ever higher demands on our IT systems. We reduce the risks of IT breakdowns by continually 
reviewing and improving IT security and employing advanced hardware and software solutions. Efficient protective 
programs are put in place to defend against malware. Distributed data centers and mirrored databases also 
reduce the risk of data losses. Alongside securing network and server availability, it is most important to minimize 
information loss via employees, service providers or external attacks. These activities are coordinated and moni  - 
tored by our information security officer. Together with the Group’s data protection officer, our employees ensure 
that personal data is processed in the system in accordance with the regulations of the Federal Data Protection  
Act.  Furthermore, additional measures initiated protect business information and the private sphere of our employees 
and business partners.

Financial Risks

FINANCING, CURRENCY AND LIQUIDITY RISKS

As an international company, SMA is inevitably exposed to financial risks. These include risks from changes to 
general interest rates, exchange rate fluctuations and financing and liquidity risks. For example, the current chal-
lenges in the industry make it difficult to borrow despite good key financial figures, not least because there is a 
delay between the successful implementation of restructuring and its effect on key financial figures. Due to consis tent 
implementation of the transformation measures, suppliers expanded their commitment in the past fiscal year. The 
collaboration with credit institutions and trade credit insurers is trusting and good. 

SMA’s Corporate Treasury department controls Group financing and the limitation of financial risks. The principle 
underlying our hedging policy is to protect SMA against sharp changes in prices, exchange rates and interest 
rates by means of contracts and hedging transactions to an economically feasible extent. The permissible hedging 
instruments have been laid out by the Managing Board in Group-wide guidelines that also regulate the entire 
process-oriented organization including hedging strategies, responsibilities and control mechanisms. For example, 

See Employees, 
page 48 et seqq.

Another key strategic measure is to confront the competition in the U.S. with a local, more flexible supplier base  
and short supply chains. To reliably serve the high demand forecasted in the U.S. and to eliminate the high risks of  
a single production site, the SMA Managing Board decided in the past fiscal year to produce Sunny Central invert-
ers for North and South America in Denver starting in the second half of 2016. 

For more information on development in individual markets, please see the remarks in the Forecast Report, “Overall 
Statement From the Managing Board on the Expected Development of SMA Group” section.

PRODUCT RISKS

We are always striving to develop new products and solutions and to improve existing ones. For this reason, we use 
new materials in development or even sometimes employ new technologies to make innovations possible. This  
can result in SMA products being defective. Large delivery lots bear the risk of errors or defects affecting a product 
series or several product batches. Production shortcomings may on the one hand derive from SMA errors or from 
defects in primary products provided by SMA suppliers. Therefore, proper handling and communication in instances 
of product defects are essential. Unidentified incompatibilities can also emerge after products are launched, which 
requires improvement to the customer system after installation to prevent the product from posing a danger to the 
customer, in the worst-case scenario. A lapse of reliability could result in a long-term loss of trust and reputation.  
In addition, any necessary product recall would have a negative impact on earnings. If responsibility for the error 
lies with the supplier, then the supplier must bear the direct costs. If SMA is responsible for the error, then product 
liability insurance will cover the losses incurred. However, this does not cover the cost of materials. In this respect, 
new product developments are potentially subject to more failures than established products that have beentried  
and tested for a longer period. We are able to minimize this risk through comprehensive testing during the devel-
opment phases, accompanying quality inspections during production, field testing prior to scheduled serial pro-
duction and product liability insurance. We make provisions for disputes related to product risks if we consider it 
likely that such claims can be asserted against us.

To keep continuously improving the quality of our products, in addition to general process improvements covering 
the entire value chain, new developments are backed by specific stress and qualification tests, tests are carried out 
on the entire series and advance quality planning is integrated into the development process. Plus, with a sufficient 
staffing, SMA is well positioned in Research and Development and Service. Depending on the nature and scope  
of the technical fault, Service assesses the necessity for repair or replacement of the device and carries out appro-
priate countermeasures. To meet customer needs even better in the future, the SMA Managing Board will continue  
to establish and expand service capacities despite the Company-wide cost reduction measures. This decision is 
based on a global demand analysis and a regional concept regarding the various service products and services. 

PERSONNEL-RELATED RISKS

Qualified and motivated employees are key to the evolution of our enterprise, increased internationalization of 
sales, purchasing and service activities and SMA’s business success. SMA’s future viability depends on retaining 
engineers and other skilled staff at the Company for the long term as well as filling management positions ade-
quately. However, in the context of the transformation carried out in the past fiscal year, this was countered by 
numerous organizational changes, some of which are still being implemented. As the cost savings made so far 

See Forecast Report,  
page 97 et seqq. 
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Compliance Risks

Our influential position on the market as a technology and innovation leader, which is also being strengthened by 
market consolidation, as well as our steadily increasing international business give rise to diverse tax, brand, patent, 
competition, antitrust and environmental risks.

There is a risk that SMA could be involved in unlawful business conduct or that individual employees could violate 
SMA’s business principles and directives. In particular, this includes the risk of corruption and fraud; the effects on SMA’s 
development could be significant.

Group Compliance issued the SMA business principles and directives globally to counter this risk. Basic work 
 sequences and processes were derived from these and implemented globally. Therefore, in the context of their 
work for SMA, all employees are obligated to act ethically and in accordance with the laws and regulations of the 
legal system of their country. These regulations and obligations are consolidated globally by mandatory business 
 principle training sessions. For additional details, please refer to the information on corporate social responsibility in 
the Consolidated Management Report.

EXPORT RISKS

As a result of increasing internationalization and an international share of sales of almost 90%, there will be more 
risks for SMA in importing and exporting materials, and providing services and finished products. SMA must meet 
the legal requirements for imports from and exports to many countries to stay competitive and meet the needs of its 
increasingly international customers. An additional customs risk has arisen for SMA in connection with the delivery  
of components from Germany to production sites abroad.

Violations of these trade restrictions and customs laws are subject to significant penalties and could damage SMA’s 
reputation. SMA is diligent in its efforts to comply with customs and export control regulations and particularly with 
trade restrictions. In addition, SMA purposefully monitors its obligations under commercial and customs law using 
an IT system, which reduces the risk of potential non-compliance. 

Due to the global business operations and another increase in the international share of sales of more than 10% 
year on year, SMA is subject to diverse tax laws and regulations abroad. Changes in tax laws in Germany and 
abroad could affect the SMA Group’s tax accounting items. In addition to changes in legal regulations, assessment 
and interpretation of complex tax regulations, such as those regarding transfer prices, may also affect our results  
of operations, financial position and net assets. We therefore collaborate closely with tax consultants in those coun-
tries where SMA operates to identify risks and carry out audits at regular intervals.

ANTITRUST LAW

Group Compliance has issued a new Antitrust Directive with the primary goal of minimizing antitrust risks from the 
outset. The directive stipulates clear do’s and don’ts for all major business situations. In addition, all employees must 
receive antitrust law training within a stipulated period.

See Corporate  
Social Responsibility,  

page 51 et seqq.

extensive currency hedges were concluded. Due to the relocation of sources of procurement to the USD currency 
area described above, however, the SMA Managing Board expects the hedging volume to decrease significantly 
as of 2017. In the past fiscal year, currency effects had a positive effect on earnings.

For additional details, please refer to the information under Financial Position - Principles and Objectives of Financial 
Management in the Consolidated Management Report. 

For detailed information regarding the financial market risks and risk management, please also refer to the Notes  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 157 et seqq. under 37. Objectives and Methods Concerning 
Financial Risk Management.

RISK OF DEFAULT OR CUSTOMER INSOLVENCY

In some of SMA’s target and existing markets, subsidy conditions have worsened or further cuts are planned (e.g., 
Great Britain). In addition, the financial markets are erratic. For these reasons, potential non-payment risks arise  
with some customers due to financial problems. In addition, the competitive situation and internationalization require 
extension of payment periods, coupled with the reduction of collateral (e.g., in the form of bank guarantees). If  
customers can no longer keep up with their payment obligations, there is a higher default risk for receivables and  
as a result potentially considerable write-downs in the future with negative effects on SMA’s results of operation, 
financial  position and net assets. However, the level of receivables could increase because of the planned growth  
in the utility segment and large-scale PV project business. This potential development is, however, backed by  
appropriate  securities in the project business.

As part of our credit control, we minimize the risk of nonpayment by individual customers in accordance with the 
Company’s credit guidelines by obtaining references and credit information for the purposes of a credit check and 
continuously monitoring general payment practices. Depending on the volume and the credit rating of the customer 
and the country, we request collateral for customer deliveries, and also evaluate historical data from our previous 
business relationship to preclude nonpayment in the future. SMA allocates each customer a standard credit limit 
 determined by sales in the last 12 months, the market growth factor and the agreed upon payment terms. If it is 
expected that the credit limit calculated in this manner is not sufficient for our future business relationship, then we 
examine whether we should ask the customer to furnish collaterals or whether we can accept the residual risk. To 
cover potential payment defaults, SMA has also taken out commercial credit insurance. Payment periods were 
largely stable in the past fiscal year; SMA did not sustain any material defaults thanks to effective accounts receiv-
able and customer credit management. The SMA Managing Board sees the greatest potential for reducing the 
risk of default through consistent implementation of accounts receivable management. Central commercial project 
 management at the locations in the U.S. and Germany represents another effective measure to avoid or minimize  
risk to project business, which is an important aspect of SMA’s portfolio. All project contracts entailing risks are 
systematically subjected to a legal and commercial risk assessment. Based on this, risky agreements are mitigated 
for SMA with additional financial securities or contractual adjustments made together with sales and the customer. 
 Remaining project risks are assessed and approved separately from the heads of the business units and the  
Man aging Board, provided these risks are proportionate. Due to the expansion of business activity in Service (e.g., 
O&M business), it has been decided to also transfer this project risk management to Service.

See Financial Position, 
page 69 et seqq.  

See Consolidated 
Financial Statements, 

page 157 et seqq.
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RISKS OF VIOLATING DATA PROTECTION LAW

There is a risk that the necessary care is not taken in processing of PV system operators’ data and, for example, 
data is used for cross-promotional purposes. Risks also include the increasingly widespread storage and processing 
of data using cloud solutions, where permissibility regarding data protection law is disputed. Against the backdrop 
of the changing business environment and the necessary development of new sales channels, this risk is becoming 
increasingly significant. 

SMA counters data protection risks by having the Company’s data protection officer educate those employees 
who process personal data and monitor all projects where PV system operators’ personal data is processed. If 
agreements with third parties are to be reached, the necessary data protection clauses must be applied, taking  
into account EU standards.

ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

SMA employs a small amount of hazardous substances during production that, in principle, pose a risk to the 
environ ment. The comprehensive measures we take in production and in quality management ensure that SMA 
products are manufactured in a way that is environmentally friendly and guarantees compliance with all environ-
mental regulations. Furthermore, SMA has safeguarded itself against certain environmental risks. For additional  
details, please refer to the information on corporate social responsibility in the Consolidated Management Report.

OVERALL STATEMENT ON THE GROUP’S RISK SITUATION

On the basis of our risk management system, we continue to assess the overall situation regarding risks to SMA’s 
future development to be manageable. However, on the basis of the present assessment, individual risks still have 
been identified that, particularly if they all transpired at once, could significantly impair business development  
should the strategic targets and the planned measures be missed. The risk profile has improved year on year. In  
the past fiscal year, SMA sustainably reduced fixed costs as part of a transformation. In addition, new products 
allowed variable costs to be effectively reduced. The ongoing internationalization of sales activities is also expected 
to make a significant contribution to securing the current sales level. The result of this bundle of measures is that 
operational and financial flexibility will positively influence the earnings situation as long as sales remain the same. 

Furthermore, SMA will take additional measures to counter the described risks and keep the potential negative 
 effects as small as possible. It is therefore our objective to continue optimizing the Risk and Opportunity Manage-
ment System to identify potential risks even faster, to counteract them and to take advantage of any opportunities 
that arise. 

See Corporate Social 
Responsibility,  

page 51 et seqq.

ForeCaSt report

The General Economic Situation:  
Global Economic Growth Loses Momentum
According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy is still in growth mode, although the  
situation is becoming increasingly gloomy. This is due to the fact that developed national economies are growing 
only moderately, while newly industrialized countries, which account for 70% of global growth according to the  
IMF, are not growing as significantly as originally expected. In its update to the World Economic Outlook (WEO)  
of January 19, 2016, the IMF forecasts global growth of 3.4% for the current year (2015: 3.1%). This is 0.2 per-
centage points lower than presumed in the October forecast. The IMF currently considers the greatest risks to be  
the slower growth in China and the tightening of monetary policy in the U.S. coupled with a strong dollar. In 
 addition, this is compounded by low oil prices and the risk of an escalation of existing geopolitical tensions, accord-
ing to the IMF.

Economists at the IMF continue to see positive indicators in the euro zone, albeit weak ones. In this respect, they 
even assess the situation a little more optimistically than in October. They raised anticipated growth for 2016 by  
0.1 percentage points to 1.7% (2015: 1.5%). Spain is still at the forefront of this development with an anticipated 
2.7% (2015: 3.2%), followed by Germany with 1.7% (2015: 1.5%). 

The IMF is forecasting a continued upward trend for the U.S. economy with growth of 2.6% (2015: 2.5%) but has 
adjusted its forecast downward slightly by 0.2 percentage points. According to the IMF, the U.S. is facing chal-
lenges due to the relative strength of the dollar, which is having a negative impact on the balance of trade. If this  
isnot successfully managed, “global growth could be derailed.” This is one reason why the IMF advises caution  
with regard to further monetary policy steps by the U.S. Federal Reserve.

A stronger dollar also has a negative impact on over-indebted newly industrialized countries as it makes it more 
expensive for these countries to repay their outstanding U.S. dollar debts. The IMF has therefore revised its growth 
forecasts for newly industrialized countries by 0.2 percentage points to 4.3% (2015: 4.0%). The most significant 
decrease was in its forecast for Brazil, according to which Latin America’s biggest national economy is expected to 
shrink by 3.5% in 2016 and thus by 2.5 percentage points more than previously expected (2015: –3.8%).

For China, by contrast, the IMF still anticipates a slowdown in growth to 6.3% in 2016 (2015: 6.9%). The IMF sees 
more positive indicators in Japan, where growth will be consolidated at 1.0% in 2016 (2015: 0.6%).  According  
to the IMF, supporting factors here include increasing tax revenue, low oil prices, a continued easing of financing 
conditions and rising income. 

Future General Economic Conditions in  
the Photovoltaics Sector

Historic Climate Agreement as Driving Factor for Renewable Energies

In their latest studies, experts at the International Energy Agency (IEA) confirm that the global importance of  renew able 
energies will increase steadily over the next few years despite low oil prices. This was given fresh impetus in the 
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reporting period by the outcome of the UN Climate Change Conference in Paris in December 2015. The IEA sees 
the agreement as a historic milestone for the energy sector, stating that it will accelerate the transformation of energy 
supply structures and result in more investments in clean technologies. In addition to industrialized countries, the IEA 
expects fast-growing newly industrialized countries particularly in South America, Africa and Asia to play an increas-
ingly important role.

In its World Energy Outlook from November 2015, the IEA forecasts that by 2040 roughly two-thirds of investments 
in new power plants will be spent on renewable energies. The positive development of solar energy, in particular,  
is clearly illustrated by data from experts at Bloomberg New Energy Finance. According to these data, solar energy 
is expected to account for around 40% of newly installed power capacity by 2030 – and will thus post by far the 
highest growth. 

The increased use of renewable energies is driven by various trends, which include regionalization of the electricity 
supply. More and more households, cities and companies want to become less dependent on energy imports and 
rising energy costs, which will be accompanied by a higher in demand for energy storage solutions in the residen-
tial, commercial and industrial sectors. In addition, energy will be increasingly distributed via smart grids to manage 
electricity demand, avoid consumption peaks and take the strain off utility grids. eMobility is expected to become an 
important pillar of these new energy supply structures a few years from now. Integration of electric vehicles may  
also help increase self-consumption of renewable energies and offset fluctuations in the utility grid.

Global Photovoltaic Market Continues to Grow

Photovoltaic has proven to be increasingly competitive in recent years. In a growing number of regions around the 
world, solar power is now more cost-efficient than conventional energy. In the medium to long term, this is paving 
the way for the sector to grow, even without subsidization. Current and future objectives include intelligently linking 
different technologies, providing intermediate storage solutions for generated energy, thereby ensuring a reliable 
electricity supply based on renewable energies. 

For 2016, the SMA Managing Board anticipates newly installed PV power of 60 GW globally. This equates to 
growth of more than 18% compared with 2015. Price pressure will remain high in all market segments and regions. 
 According to SMA Managing Board estimates, the worldwide volume of investment for PV inverters will increase  
to €4.9 billion in 2016 (2015: €4.7 billion).

Mixed Development in EMEA

According to estimates by the SMA Managing Board, the European photovoltaic markets will decline in 2016.   
This decline in demand will stem in particular from the markets in Great Britain and France. According to SMA Man-
aging Board estimates, market growth in the Middle East and in African countries will more than compensate for 
the anticipated decline in demand in Europe. Overall, the SMA Managing Board anticipates newly installed power 
of approximately 10 GW in the Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) region, corresponding to year on year 
growth of about 6%. According to SMA estimates, the volume of investment in PV inverter technology will slightly 
increase to an expected €1.1 billion (2015: €1.0 billion). In this region, demand is dominated by the utility and 
commercial market segments. Small PV systems (residential) are not expected to regain their level of importance in 
the European market until storage solutions become more widespread. 

Positive Developments in North and South America and Asia-Pacific

The SMA Managing Board still foresees strong growth stimuli from the North American markets. Demand here  
is likely to continue developing positively as a result of tax incentive programs being extended in the U.S. The South 
American photovoltaic markets are still at the beginning of their development, but promise growth poten tial in  
the medium term. According to SMA estimates, newly installed power in the overall Americas region will grow by 
53% to 14 GW in 2016. The volume invested in inverter technology is expected to total €1.5 billion (2015:  
€1.2 billion). In the Americas, large-scale PV power plants (utility) account for the major part of demand. In addi tion, 
the SMA Managing Board expects attractive growth rates in the commercial and residential market segments.

The most important markets in the Asia-Pacific region include Japan, China and India. The Chinese government 
 recently increased its target for new PV installations by 2020 from 100 GW to 150 GW. India is pursuing a 
 similarly ambitious installation target of 100 GW by 2022. Given that installed power in both China and India is 
currently significantly below the target figures, the SMA Managing Board anticipates high growth rates in these 
regions in the medium term. The price level in India is only slightly above that in China. In contrast to the Chinese 
market, however, market structures here allow for fair competition. For 2016, the SMA Managing Board antic - 
ipates newly installed power of 36 GW in the Asia-Pacific region (2015: 32 GW). Due to the very low price level  
in China and India, the volume of investment in inverter technology in the Asia-Pacific region is expected to  
amount to approximately €2.4 billion (2015: €2.5 billion). Demand in this region will also be dominated by large-
scale PV projects in 2016. Medium-sized and small PV systems will increase in significance in the medium term.

The Growing Market of Energy Management

In the opinion of SMA’s Managing Board, innovative system technologies that temporarily store solar power and 
provide energy management for private households and commercial enterprises offer attractive business oppor tu  - 
n ities and will become increasingly important in the future. This is mainly attributable to rising prices for conventional 
domestic power and the desire of many private households and companies to drive forward the energy transition  
by making their contribution to a sustainable and decentralized energy supply. Demand for solutions that increase 
self-consumption of solar power is likely to rise particularly in the European markets, the U.S. and Japan. In 2016,  
the SMA Managing Board expects the still fairly new market to grow by over 30% to approximately €0.4 billion. 
This figure is already included in the specified estimates for the development of the overall market for inverter tech-
nology. Positive growth stimuli are also emanating from eMobility, where interconnection with photovoltaic systems  
is giving rise to new business models and greater customer benefits.

Attractive Business Opportunities for PV/Diesel Hybrid Systems

There are worthwhile business opportunities for PV/diesel hybrid systems in many countries in South America, 
the Middle East, Asia-Pacific and Africa. In these regions, energy needs are growing considerably, in line with 
in creasing prosperity. Scalable electricity supply solutions are in demand, especially in areas without a grid 
con nection. Intelligent system technology allows photovoltaics to be integrated well into already existing diesel-
powered grids. However, business with photovoltaic/diesel hybrid systems is developing more slowly than in 
subsidized photovoltaic markets because of technical complexity and limited financing options. In addition, the  
low price of oil is affecting demand negatively. The medium-term prospects remain good.
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Overall Statement From the Managing Board on  
the Expected Development of SMA Group
The following statements on the future development of SMA Group are based on the estimates drawn up by  
the SMA Managing Board and the expectations concerning the progression of global photovoltaic markets set out 
above. Since January 1, 2015, SMA Group has operated under its new functional organization. In this new 
 organization, the Residential, Commercial, Utility and Service business units take overall responsibility and manage 
Development, Sales and Operations. Railway Technology and Zeversolar as well as  the Off-Grid and Storage 
business unit have been combined under Other Business. The  Forecast Report is based on the described reporting 
structure.

SMA’s sales and earnings depend on market share, price dynamics and global market growth. Factoring in the 
pronounced demand fluctuations in the solar industry, the Managing Board conducted an extensive company 
 transformation in the reporting period and thus significantly increased SMA’s financial and operational flexibility. 
This enables the Company to react better to the volatile market and generate profits even when sales are lower  
than they used to be. 

Managing Board Anticipates Significant Increase in Earnings

On January 29, 2016, the SMA Managing Board published its sales and earnings forecast for the 2016 fiscal 
year. This forecast anticipates sales of €950 million to €1,050 million and a significant increase in operating 
earnings (EBIT) to between €80 million and €120 million. Based on this, the Managing Board fore casts EBITDA 
of €150 million to €190 million. For 2016, the Managing Board is planning capital expenditure of  between  
€35 million and €45 million (2015: €50.6 million). SMA is ideally positioned to benefit from the further develop-
ment of the energy supply sector in all market segments and regions. The growing digitalization of the  energy  
industry will give rise to new business models for which the Company has already developed  new techno logical 
solutions and services. In addition to the provision of data to facilitate better forecasts of solar power generation  
and consumption, the integration of battery-storage systems is another important topic for the future, where SMA  
has already positioned itself at an early stage.

Development in the Segments

According to Managing Board estimates, the Residential business unit will generate sales of €190 million to 
€210 million, accounting for more than 20% of SMA Group sales (2015: €252.7 million; 25.3% of Group sales). 
Inparticular, the Residential business unit portfolio comprises micro inverters and single-phase string inverters with  
the brand name Sunny Boy; three-phase inverters in the lower output range up to 12 kW with the brand name Sunny 
Tripower; energy management solutions; storage systems; and communication products and accessories. The Sunny  
Boy inverters with an output of 1.5 kW to 5 kW account for a large share of the Residential business unit’s sales. 
 Europe, North America, Australia and Japan will remain the most important sales regions. The Residential business  
unit is expected to generate positive earnings in the single-digit millions as a result of new product launches in key 
sales markets and significantly reduced fixed costs.

The Commercial business unit portfolio includes three-phase inverters from the Sunny Tripower brand with outputs  
of more than 12 kW, as well as complete energy management solutions for medium-sized solar systems and  
other accessories. For the Commercial business unit, the SMA Managing Board forecasts sales of €190 million 
to €210 million in 2016. The business unit is therefore expected to account for more than 20% of Group sales 
(2015: €207.4 million; 20.7% of Group sales). The Sunny Tripower with outputs starting at 25 kW is expected 
to be a major sales driver. The primary sales markets include the U.S., Japan, Europe, Australia and India. The 
Commercial business unit also improved its fixed cost structure. Combined with sales growth from cost-optimized 
products for key sales regions, the SMA Managing Board is anticipating balanced operating earnings for the 
Commercial business unit in 2016, but cannot rule out a loss in the single-digit millions.

With anticipated sales of €430 million to €470 million, the Utility business unit is expected to account for more 
than 40% of Group sales (2015: €416.0 million; 41.6% of Group sales). In addition to central inverters with  
grid service and monitoring functions, the Utility business unit product and service portfolio also comprises  medium- 
and high-voltage technology as well as accessories. Sales in 2016 will largely be driven by the new central in-
verter generation with an output of up to 2.5 MW, which was launched in the reporting period. North America  
is by far the most important sales market, followed by Japan, India and Chile. Due to further sales growth and  
the improved cost structure, the Utility business unit is expected to generate a significantly positive result in the 
upper double-digit millions. 

In 2016, our service business will continue to benefit from the high number of commissioned projects in the Utility  
and Commercial business units. We also expect to conclude further long-term service and maintenance contracts. 
Overall, the SMA Managing Board expects its service business to achieve sales of more than €55 million in 
2016. Due to sales growth, the Service business unit is expected to post a positive result in the lower double-digit 
millions. 

For the business areas combined under Other Business – Railway Technology, Zeversolar and the Off-Grid and 
 Storage business unit – the SMA Managing Board anticipates sales of €85 million to €100 million. Considering 
the rather moderate sales growth, these business areas are expected to generate a break-even result. 

SMA Emerges Stronger From Structural Change in the Industry 

SMA will not change its strategy and, as a specialist, will continue to offer complete solutions for all appealing  
photovoltaic markets, all module types and all power classes. In fact, we once again expanded our market position  
in the reporting year. According to a study by IHS (September 2015), SMA is still the clear global market leader.  
We are successfully serving the low-price segment with technologically simple products from our secondary brand 
Zeversolar. In addition to product business, SMA is expanding its service operations. Meanwhile, customers in  
Europe and North America have assigned management and maintenance of their PV power plants with an output  
of about 1.4 GW to us. We are systematically tapping into the promising business of PV/diesel hybrid applications  
and off-grid applications with specialized teams. Through continuous process improvement, our global purchasing 
and logistics structures and systematic leveraging of synergies with Danfoss, we have effectively increased our  
competitiveness. 
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Thanks to our deliberate focus on technology, consistent internationalization and the rapid implementation of   
the Company’s transformation, SMA is emerging stronger from the years of structural change in the solar industry. 
We are flexibly positioned, have a low break-even point and sound financial structure. We will build on these 
strengths and design product solutions for decentralized energy supplies based on renewable energy. Further-
more, we will systematically take advantage of opportunities that arise from new business models as part of the  
digitization of the energy industry. SMA is characterized by an extraordinary corporate culture and motivated  
employees, who all make a decisive contribution to the Company’s long-term success.

Niestetal, March 3, 2016

SMA Solar Technology AG  
The Managing Board
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Income Statement SMA Group 

in €`000 note 2015 2014
sales 5 999,638 805,430 
Cost of sales 6 785,687 672,384 
Gross profit 213,951 133,046 
Selling expenses 7 56,368 64,893 
Research and development expenses 8 67,659 88,159 
General administrative expenses 9 60,971 80,583 
Other operating income 10 47,315 32,754 
Other operating expenses 11 41,955 97,017 
operating profit (eBit) 34,313 –164,852 
Financial income 1,944 3,023 
Financal expenses 6,946  6,116 
Financial result 13 –5,002 –3,093 
Profit before income taxes 29,311 –167,945 
Income taxes 14 15,061 11,367 
Consolidated net result 14,250 –179,312 
of which attributable to non-controlling interests –53 –289 
of which attributable to shareholders of SMA AG 14,303 –179,023 

Earnings	per	share,	basic	(in	€) 15 0.41 –5.16 
Earnings	per	share,	diluted	(in	€) 15 0.41 –5.16 
Number	of	ordinary	shares	(in	thousands) 34,700 34,700 

Statement of Comprehensive Income SMA Group 

in €`000 note 2015 2014
Consolidated net result 14,250 –179,312 
Change in fair values of available-for-sale assets 0 80 
Income taxes 0 –24

Changes recognized outside profit or loss1  
(available-for-sale financial assets) 0 56 

Unrealized	gains	(+)/losses	(–)	from	currency	translation	 
of foreign subsidiaries 4,100 5,339 

Changes recognized outside profit or loss1  
(curreny translation differences) 4,100 5,339 
overall comprehensive result1 18,350 –173,917 
of which attributable to non-controlling interests –53 –287 
of which attributable to shareholders of SMA AG 18,403 –173,630 

1		All	items	of	other	comprehensive	income	may	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss
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Balance Sheet SMA Group
in €`000 note 12/31/2015 12/31/2014
non-current assets
Intangible assets 16 91,299 89,814
Fixed assets 17 294,584 323,332
Other	financial	investments 5 5
Other	financial	assets	(total) 20 2,788 2,622

Rent deposits 2,788 2,622
Deferred taxes 14 84,830 72,497

473,506 488,270
Current assets
Inventories 18 146,131  203,168 
Trade receivables 19 180,043  159,617 
Other	financial	assets	(total) 20 124,369  108,393 

Cash equivalents with a duration of more than 3 months and asset management 97,655 82,497
Rent deposits and cash on hand pledged as collateral 24,260 22,720
Remaining	other	financial	assets 2,454 3,176

Receivables	from	tax	authorities	(total) 24,689 24,776
Claims for income tax refunds 14 3,879 12,576
Claims for VAT refunds 19 20,810 12,200

Other receivables 19 11,545 12,056
Cash and cash equivalents 21 200,180 183,988

686,957 691,998
total assets 1,160,463 1,180,268

shareholders’ equity
Share capital 34,700  34,700 
Capital reserves 119,200  119,200 
Retained earnings 416,334  398,075 
sma solar technology aG shareholders‘ equity 570,234  551,975 
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests –26 –13 

22 570,208  551,962 
non-current liabilities
Provisions1 23 86,939 87,119
Financial liabilities2 24 27,135 42,840
Other	liabilities	(total) 142,587 129,925

Accrual item for extended warranties 27 134,763 121,163
Other	financial	liabilities 26 1,412 2,996
Remaining other liabilities 27 6,412 5,766

Deferred taxes 14 24,402 24,343
281,063 284,227

Current liabilities 
Provisions1 23 83,097  126,059 
Financial liabilities2 24 19,788  26,515 
Trade payables 25 103,134  111,773 
Income tax liabilities 14 9,942 14,583
Other liabilities1	(total) 93,231 65,149

Human Resources department 27 23,314 22,832
Prepayments received 27 22,961 15,427
Other	financial	liabilities	(customer	bonus,	etc.) 26 21,846 10,869
Remaining other liabilities 27 25,110 16,021

309,192 344,079
total equity and liabilities 1,160,463 1,180,268

Statement of Cash Flows SMA Group
in €`000 note 2015 2014
Consolidated net result 14,250 –179,312 
Income taxes 15,061 11,367 
Financial result 5,002 3,093 
Depreciation and amortization 78,995 106,489 
Change in provisions –43,142 14,270 
Result from the disposal of assets 484 3,221 
Change	in	non-cash	expenses/revenue 17,640 12,455 
Interest received 1,768 2,517 
Interest paid –4,997 –5,089 
Income tax paid –23,279 –6,323 
Gross cash flow 61,782 –37,312 

Change in inventories 40,401 –25,941 
Change in trade receivables –23,202 –37,746 
Change in trade payables –8,639 50,967 
Change	in	other	net	assets/other	non-cash	transactions 33,831 22,462 
Net cash flow from operating activities 31 104,173 –27,570

Payments	for	investments	in	fixed	assets –17,592 –29,499 
Proceeds	from	the	disposal	of	fixed	assets 734 2,138 
Payments for investments in intangible assets –32,989 –46,033 
Payments	for	the	acquisitions	of	companies	net	of	cash/proceeds	from	
the acquisition of business units –1,500 –3,361
Proceeds	from	the	disposal	of	securities	and	other	financial	assets 102,035 196,405
Payments	for	the	acquisition	of	securities	and	other	financial	assets –117,036 –95,000
Net cash flow from investing activities 32 –66,348 24,650

Change in non-controlling interests –13 –176 
Proceeds	from	financial	liabilities 833 11,880 
Redemption	of	financial	liabilities –24,065 –21,672 
Net cash flow from financing activities 33 –23,245 –9,968

Net	increase/decrease	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents 14,580 –12,888
Changes due to exchange rate effects 1,612 4,510
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	as	of	01/01 183,988 192,366
Cash and cash equivalents as of 12/31 34 200,180 183,988

Total	Cash	(in	€	million) 325 287
Cash and cash equivalents + cash equivalents with a duration of more than 3 months and asset management +  
current rent deposits and cash on hand pledged as collaterals + non-current rent deposits

Net	Cash	(in	€	million) 286 225
Total	cash	–	current	and	non-current	loan	liabilities	(excluding	derivatives)

1 not interest bearing     2	includes	not	interest-bearing	current	and	non-current	derivatives	amounting	to	€7.6	million	(2014:	€6.8	million)
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Statement of Changes in Equity SMA Group

equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company

in €`000 note share capital 
Capital  

reserves
market valuation 

of securities

difference  
from currency  

translation
other retained 

earnings total

equity  attributable 
to non-controlling  

interests

Consolidated 
shareholders‘ 

equity
shareholders‘ equity as of January 1, 2014 34,700 119,200 –56 –2,679 573,098 724,263 163 724,426
Consolidated net result 0 0 0 0 –179,023 –179,023 –289 –179,312
Other comprehensive income after tax 22 0 0 56 5,337 0 5,393 2 5,395
Overall result –173,917
Contribution from owners to Managing Board members 1,250 1,250 1,250
Proceeds	from	owners	(capital	increase	Zeversolar) 92 92 111 203
shareholders‘ equity as of december 31, 2014 34,700 119,200 0 2,658 395,417 551,975 –13 551,962

shareholders‘ equity as of January 1, 2015 34,700 119,200 0 2,658 395,417 551,975 –13 551,962
Consolidated net result 0 0 0 0 14,303 14,303 –53 14,250
Other comprehensive income after tax 22 0 0 0 4,099 0 4,099 1 4,100
Overall result 18,350
Proceeds	from	owners	(capital	increase	Zeversolar) –58 –58 39 –19
Changes in the scope of consolidation –85 –85 –85
shareholders‘ equity as of december 31, 2015 34,700 119,200 0 6,757 409,577 570,234 –26 570,208
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notes sma GRouP

Basic Information

1. Basics

The Consolidated Financial Statements of SMA Solar Technology AG for the year ending December 31, 2015, 
were	prepared	in	compliance	with	the	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	
as	well	as	in	compliance	with	the	regulations	of	Section	315a	of	the	German	Commercial	Code	(HGB).	The	
	requirements	of	the	standards	applied	were	met	completely	and	provide	a	fair	view	of	the	net	assets,	financial	
 position and results of operations of SMA Solar Technology AG and the subsidiary companies included in the 
	scope	of	consolidation	(hereinafter:	SMA	Group	or	the	Group).

The	registered	office	of	the	Company	is	Sonnenallee	1,	34266	Niestetal,	Germany.	Shares	of	SMA	Solar	
 Technology AG are traded publicly. They are listed in the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  
Since September 22, 2008, they have been listed in the technology index TecDAX.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the basis of the amortized acquisition cost principle. 
Exceptions	to	this	are	provisions,	deferred	taxes,	leases,	derivative	financial	instruments	and	available-for-sale	
 securities.

The	income	statement	is	classified	according	to	the	cost	of	sales	method.	The	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	
were prepared in euros. Unless indicated otherwise, all amounts stated are in euros rounded to whole thousands  
(€	’000)	or	millions	(€	million).	Compared	to	last	year,	the	balance	sheet	has	been	adjusted	to	increase	the	trans-
parency of reporting. The item “receivables from tax authorities” has been inserted on the asset side. Other receiv-  -
ables	decreased	accordingly	in	the	same	amount.	On	the	liability	side,	items	“other	financial	liabilities	(non-current)”	
and	“other	liabilities”	were	adjusted.	The	previous	year’s	figures	were	also	adjusted.

The Managing Board of SMA Solar Technology AG authorized the Consolidated Financial Statements on March 3, 
2016, for submission to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has the duty to review the Consoli  dated 
 Financial Statements and declare whether it approves the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SMA	Solar	Technology	AG	(SMA)	and	its	subsidiaries	(SMA	Group)	develop,	produce	and	distribute	PV		inverters,	
transformers, choke coils, monitoring and energy management systems for PV systems and power electronic com-
ponents for railway technology. Another area of business is providing operation and maintenance service for  photo- 
	voltaic	power	plants	(O&M	business),	in	addition	to	other	services.	More	detailed	information	on	segments	 
is provided in section 5.

See section 5, 
page 126 et seqq.

2. Consolidation

2.1. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

All domestic and foreign subsidiaries in which SMA Solar Technology AG, directly or indirectly, has the option of 
controlling	the	financial	and	operating	policies	are	included	in	the	Consolidated	Financial		Statements	of	the	SMA	
Group.

Intercompany	transactions,	balances,	sales,	expenses	and	income,	profits	and	losses,	as	well	as	receivables	and	
payables among the consolidated companies are eliminated. In the event of consolidation measures affecting 
 income, the income-tax-related effects are measured and deferred taxes recorded.

The Financial Statements of SMA Solar Technology AG and the subsidiaries are prepared on identical reporting 
dates using uniform accounting and valuation methods.

In the event of an acquisition, subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition (i.e., as of the date on 
which	the	Group	obtains	control).	Consolidation	takes	place	according	to	the	purchase	method	of	accounting.	In	 
line with the purchase method of accounting, the cost of acquisition of the business combination is offset against the 
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the subsidiary on the date of acquisition. The cost of  
acquisition of the business combination consists of the fair value of the purchase price paid and the carrying amount  
of any non-controlling interests. The non-controlling interests may either be recognized at the proportionate value of  
the	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed	(applied	at	SMA)	or	at	their	fair	value.	Transaction	costs	that	are	directly	 
attributable	to	the	acquisition	are	recognized	in	the	consolidated	financial	result,	provided	they	do	not	refer	to	the	
issue of shares in the SMA Group.

Profit	and	loss	and	every	component	of	other	comprehensive	income	are	attributable	to	SMA’s	shareholders	and	
non-controlling interests. This applies even when it results in a negative balance for non-controlling interests. A posi- 
tive difference resulting from the offsetting is capitalized as goodwill. It may, if applicable, also include the goodwill 
corresponding to non-controlling interests. Negative differences resulting from the consolidation at the date of  
acquisition are recognized directly in the income statement. 
In the case of a business combination as a result of the successive acquisition of shares, the existing shares are 
	revalued	at	their	fair	value,	and	any	effects	are	recognized	in	the	consolidated	financial	result.

Conditional considerations of the acquisition price are valued at their fair value on the date of acquisition. Adjust-
ments of the fair value within the measurement period are made retroactively and accordingly booked against 
goodwill. Adjustments are based on additional facts available in the acquisition period. Changes in the fair value  
of contingent consideration that are not adjustments during the measurement period are made according to the  
nature of the contingent consideration. For equity, there is no subsequent measurement; it is recognized in equity  
on  settlement. If the contingent consideration is an asset or liability, the subsequent measurement is based on  
IAS 39 or IAS 37 and recognized in the income statement.
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Changes in holdings in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are recognized as equity transactions.  
The	book	values	of	shares	held	by	the	Group	and	non-controlling	interests	are	adjusted	to	reflect	the	changes	to	the	
holdings in subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and allocated to the shareholders 
of the parent company.

If	the	Company	loses	control	over	a	subsidiary,	the	gain	or	loss	on	deconsolidation	is	recognized	through	profit	or	
loss. This comprises the difference between

 the total fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of retained shares, and
	 the	book	value	of	the	assets	(including	goodwill),	the	liabilities	of	the	subsidiary	and	all	non-controlling	interests.

All amounts related to this subsidiary presented in other comprehensive income are recognized in the same manner 
as	a	sale	of	assets	(i.e.,	reclassifications	to	the	income	statement	or	direct	transfer	to	retained	earnings).		Retained	
shares in the subsidiary are recognized at the fair value determined on the date of loss of control.

2.2. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The scope of consolidation as of December 31, 2015 was reduced in comparison to December 31, 2014 as a 
result	of	the	liquidations	of	SMA	Central	and	Eastern	Europe	s.r.o	and	SMA	(Beijing)	Commercial	Co.,	Ltd.	The 
Group’s	share	in	Jiangsu	Zeversolar	New	Energy	Co.,	Ltd.	increased	to	99.34%	(December	31,	2014:	99.25%)	
through a capital increase. There were no other changes in shareholdings year on year.

Two companies were renamed: SMA Service International GmbH was renamed Zeversolar New Energy GmbH, and 
SMA Brasil Tecnologia Ferroviaria Ltda. was renamed SMA Brasil Tecnologia Ferroviaria E Solar Ltda. 

All companies within the scope of consolidation were fully consolidated. Those companies entitled to investments in 
the list of shareholdings are not consolidated due to their subordinate importance. Non-controlling interests in equity  
of the consolidated companies are shown separately in equity.

The scope of consolidation of the SMA Group is presented in the complete list of shareholdings shown below 
 pursuant to Section 313 of the German Commercial Code:

list oF sHaReHoldinGs PuRsuant to seCtion 313 oF tHe GeRman CommeRCial Code

name of parent company Registered office share in capital Consolidation

SMA Solar Technology AG Niestetal, Germany F
shares in affiliated companies
dtw Sp. z o. o. Zabierzów, Poland 100% F
Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd. Suzhou, China 99.34%1 F

Australia Zeversolar New Energy Pty. Ltd. Sydney, Australia 100%2 F
Jiangsu ZOF New Engery Co., Ltd. Yangzhong, China 100%2 F
Zeversolar GmbH Munich, Germany 100%2 F

SMA America Holdings LLC Denver, USA 100% F
SMA America Production LLC Denver, USA 100%2 F
SMA Solar Technology America LLC Rocklin, USA 100%2 F

SMA Australia Pty. Ltd. North Ryde, Australia 100% F
SMA Benelux BVBA Mechelen, Belgium 100%3 F
SMA France S.A.S. Saint Priest Cedex, France 100% F

SMA Ibérica Technología Solar, S.L.
Sant	Cugat	del	Vallès	(Barcelona),	
Spain 100% F

SMA Immo Beteiligungs GmbH Niestetal, Germany 94%4 F
SMA Immo GmbH & Co. KG Niestetal, Germany 100% F
SMA Italia S.r.l. Milan, Italy 100% F
SMA Japan Kabushiki Kaisha Tokyo, Japan 100% F

SMA Middle East Limited Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 100% F
SMA	New	Energy	Technology	(Shanghai)	Co.,	Ltd. Shanghai, China 100% F
SMA Railway Technology GmbH Kassel, Germany 100% F

SMA Brasil Tecnologia Ferroviaria E Solar Ltda. Itupeva, Brazil 100%2 F
SMA	Railway	Technology	(Guangzhou)	Co.,	Ltd. Guangzhou, China 100%2 F

SMA Solar Beteiligungs GmbH Niestetal, Germany 100% F
SMA Solar India Private Limited Mumbai, India 100%4 F
SMA Solar Technology Beteiligungs GmbH Niestetal, Germany 100% F
SMA Solar Technology Canada Inc. Vancouver, Canada 100% F
SMA Solar Technology Portugal, Unipessoal Lda. Lisbon, Portugal 100% F
SMA	Solar	Technology	South	Africa	(Pty.)	Ltd. Cape Town, South Africa 100% F
SMA	Solar	(Thailand)	Co.,	Ltd. Bangkok, Thailand 100%5 F
SMA Solar UK Ltd. Banbury, Great Britain 100% F
SMA South America SpA Santiago, Chile 100% F
SMA Sub-Sahara Production Pty. Ltd. Cape Town, South Africa 100% F
SMA Sunbelt Energy GmbH Niestetal, Germany 100% F
SMA Technology Hellas AE Athens, Greece 100%3 F
SMA Technology Korea Co., Ltd. Seoul, South Korea 100% F
Zeversolar New Energy GmbH Niestetal, Germany 100% F
investments  
IdE Institut dezentrale Energietechnologien  
gemeinnützige GmbH Kassel, Germany 10% N
Uni Kassel International Management  
School KIMS GmbH Kassel, Germany 9.6% N

F = fully consolidated; N = not consolidated   1 The remaining shares are held by SMA Technologie-Holding GmbH.   2 Indirect investment  
3 0.1% are held by SMA Solar Technology Beteiligungs GmbH.   4 The remaining shares are distributed among minority shareholders.
5 0.001% are held by SMA Solar Technology Beteiligungs GmbH and 0.001% are held by SMA Solar UK Ltd.  
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SMA Solar Technology AG, SMA America Production LLC, dtw Sp. z o. o., Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., 
Ltd., Jiangsu ZOF New Energy CO., SMA Railway Technology GmbH and SMA Sub-Sahara Production Pty. Ltd.  
are manufacturing companies. The others are sales and service companies.

All	SMA	Group	companies	prepare	their	annual	financial	statements	as	of	December	31,	with	the	exception	of	our	
Indian	subsidiary	SMA	Solar	India	Private	Limited,	which	prepares	its	financial	statements	as	of	March	31due	to	
statutory regulations.

The	companies	SMA	Immo	GmbH	&	Co.	KG	(Section	264b	German	Commercial	Code	–	HGB)	and	SMA	Solar	
UK	Ltd	(Section	479A	Companies	Act	2006)	exercised	exemption	clauses	regarding	the	preparation	of	financial	
statements. There are no subsidiaries with substantial minorities existing from the SMA Group’s perspective.

2.3. TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INTO FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of the Group. Each 
company	within	the	Group	defines	its	own	functional	currency,	which	is	normally	the	local	currency.	The	items	con-
tained in the Financial Statements of each company are valued using this functional currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated initially into the functional currency by applying 
the spot rate valid at the time of the transaction. On each subsequent due date, monetary assets and liabilities 
 denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency by applying the spot rate valid on  
that	day.		All	translation	differences	are	recognized	through	profit	or	loss.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries preparing their balance sheets in a currency other than the euro are translated  
using the current exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Items on the income statement are translated peri od-
ically using the average rate of the relevant month. The equity components of subsidiaries are translated at the 
corresponding historical exchange rate applicable upon accrual. Any resulting translation differences are recorded 
under other income within equity as adjustment items for foreign currency translation or in shares of other share-
holders.	The	accumulated	amount	recorded	in	equity	is	recognized	through	profit	or	loss	upon	the	disposal	of	the	
foreign subsidiary concerned.

The relevant exchange rates for translating the Financial Statements prepared in foreign currencies in relation to  
the euro have evolved as follows:

 average rate  Closing rate
in € 2015 2014 2015/12/31 2014/12/31
1	Chinese	renminbi	(CNY) 0.14473 0.12261 0.14099 0.13263
1	U.S.	dollar	(USD)	 0.90100 0.75352 0.91802 0.82271

3. Accounting Principles and Amendments to Accounting Standards 

3.1. NEW IASB ACCOUNTING STANDARDS   
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO BE APPLIED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE FISCAL YEAR

IFRS Annual Improvement Process 2011–2013
As part of its annual process of making minor improvements to standards and interpretations (Annual Improvements  
to	IFRSs	2011–2013	Cycle),	the	IASB	has	issued	amendments.	The	amendments	affect	four	standards	(IFRS	1,		IFRS	
3,	IFRS	13	and	IAS	40).	Retroactive	application	of	the	amendments	is	mandatory	for	reporting	periods	of	a	fiscal	
year beginning on or after January 1, 2015, and have only minor or no relevance to the Group.

IFRIC 21 Levies
The interpretation provides guidance when a liability for levies imposed by a government has to be recognized. The 
interpretation applies both to levies that are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and	Contingent	Assets,	and	to	levies	for	which	the	date	and	amount	are	known.	The	interpretation	is	first	applicable	
in	reporting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	June	17,	2014.	There	were	no	material	effects	on	the	Group’s	financial	
reporting in the reporting period and are not expected in the future.

Standards and Interpretations that have been published but are not yet mandatory 
In its 2015 Consolidated Financial Statements, SMA did not apply the following accounting standards, which have 
already	been	adopted	by	the	IASB	but	are	not	yet	mandatory	for	this	fiscal	year.	

standard/interpretation

date of  
compulsory 
application1

endorsement 
 (until december 31, 

2015)2

New 
Annual  
Improvements 2011–2013 Cycle 2015/01/01 yes

New IFRIC 21 Levies 	2014/06/17 yes

1		Applicable	to	the	first	reporting	period	of	a	fiscal	year	beginning	on	or	after	that	date 
2  Adoption of IFRS standards or interpretations by the EU Commission
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Of the applicable standards and interpretations that have been published but are not yet mandatory, the following 
are expected to have an impact on the Financial Statements of the SMA Group. They will be implemented in the 
year	of	compulsory	first-time	application	at	the	very	latest.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
New	standard	adopted	on	July	24,	2014.	The	standard	deals	with	the	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	
assets	and	is	expected	to	influence	accounting	for	the	Group’s	financial	assets.	Application	of	the	standard	is	man-
datory from January 1, 2018. Early application is permitted, subject to adoption by the EU. The Group is currently 
examining	the	precise	effects	of	IFRS	9.	The	Group	is	not	currently	exposed	to	any	significant	risks	with	regard	to	 
the	recoverable	amounts	of	the	reported	financial	instruments.	Furthermore,	the	rules	of	hedge	accounting	are	not	
applied.	No	significant	impact	on	earnings	is	anticipated.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
New	standard	adopted	on	January	30,	2014.	The	standard	permits	an	entity	that	is	a	first-time	adopter	of	IFRS	to	
continue to account, with some limited changes, for “regulatory deferral account balances” in accordance with the 
financial	reporting	standards	it	previously	applied.	This	applies	both	on	initial	adoption	of	IFRS	and	in	subsequent 

standard/interpretation

date of  
compulsory 
 application1

endorsement 
 (until december 31, 

2015) 2

New IFRS 9
Financial	Instruments:	Classification	and	
Measurement of Financial Instruments 2018/01/01  no

New IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 2016/01/01 no
New IFRS 15 Revenue From Contracts With Customers 2018/01/01 no
New IFRS 16 Leases 2019/01/01 no

Amendment IFRS 11 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests  
in Joint Operations 2016/01/01 yes

Amendment
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 
and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying  
the Consolidation Exception 2016/01/01 no

Amendment IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 2016/01/01 yes
Amendment IAS 12 Income Taxes 2017/01/01 no

Amendment IAS 16, IAS 38 
Clarification	of	Acceptable	Methods	 
of Depreciation and Amortization 2016/01/01 yes

Amendment IAS 16, IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 2016/01/01 yes

Amendment IAS 19 

Defined	Benefit	Plans:	Employee	 
Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19 
Employee	Benefits) 2015/02/01 yes

Amendment IAS 27
Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements 2016/01/01 yes

New 
Annual  
Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle 2015/02/01 yes

New 
Annual  
Improvements 2012–2014 Cycle 2016/01/01 yes

Amendment IFRS 10, IAS 28
Sale or transfer of assets between the investor 
and an associate or joint venture open no

Amendment IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative 2017/01/01 no

 1  Applicable	to	the	first	reporting	period	of	a	fiscal	year	beginning	on	or	after	that	date 
2  Mandatory application according to adoption by the EU Commission — the standards themselves sometimes stipulate earlier mandatory application

financial	statements.	Regulatory	deferral	account	balances,	and	movements	in	them,	are	presented	separately	in	 
the	statement	of	financial	position	and	in	the	income	statement	or	in	other	comprehensive	income.	In	addition,	specific	
disclosures are required. IFRS 14 applies to reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. As SMA is  
not	a	first-time	adopter	of	IFRS,	the	standard	has	no	impact	on	the	Group’s	financial	reporting.

IFRS 15 Revenue From Contracts With Customers
IFRS 15 is a new standard published on May 28, 2014 that applies to reporting periods beginning on or after Jan-
uary	1,	2018.	IFRS	15	specifies	how	and	when	an	IFRS	reporter	will	recognize	revenue	as	well	as	requiring	such 
entities	to	provide	users	of	financial	statements	with	more	informative,	relevant	disclosures.	The	standard	provides	
a	single,	principle-based	five-step	model	to	be	applied	to	all	contracts	with	customers.	Besides	the	more	extensive	
disclosures,	the	standard	is	expected	to	affect	the	Group’s	assets,	financial	position	and	results	of	operations	due	
to changes in the recognition of sales from combined products, consisting of goods deliveries and long-term service 
commitments.	The	first-time	application	of	the	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	any	significant	impact	on	earnings.	
A one-off effect on earnings may occur due to the possibility of changes in the allocation of fair values to individual 
service packages.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 replaces the existing IAS 17 and accompanying interpretations. It was published on January 13, 2016, 
and applies to reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. For lessees, the new standard provides an 
accounting	model	that	does	not	differentiate	between	finance	and	operating	leases.	In	the	future,	most	leases	will	
have to be recognized on the balance sheet. For lessors, the regulations of IAS 17 “Leases” are largely unchanged, 
so	the	distinction	between	finance	and	operating	leases	has	to	be	retained,	resulting	in	different	consequences	for	
accounting. The regulation will have a moderate impact on the Group. The Group will be affected as a lessee; the 
contracts currently recognized as operating leases are of no material volume.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
The amendments to IFRS 11 concern accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations. They clarify the 
accounting when these operations constitute a business. The amendments were adopted on May 6, 2014, and 
their application is mandatory from January 1, 2016. The amendments are not expected to affect the Group’s 
financial	reporting.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 — Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 
The amendments address issues that have arisen in connection with the application of the consolidation exception 
for investment entities. They are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. As SMA is not 
an investment entity and the Group does not include any investment entities, the amendments have no effect.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments aim to remove obstacles for preparers with regard to exercising judgment in the presentation of 
financial	statements.	They	are	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2016,	with	early	appli-
cation	permitted.	Minor	changes	are	expected	to	the	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.
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Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes
The amendments comprise clarifying paragraphs and an additional illustrating example of how to account for 
 deferred tax assets relating to assets measured at fair value. The amendments take effect for reporting periods that 
begin on or after January 1, 2017. No material effects are expected.

Amendments	to	IAS	16	and	IAS	38	Clarification	of	Acceptable	Methods	of	Depreciation	and	Amortization
The amendments adopted on May 12, 2014 concern the application of methods of depreciation and amortization. 
They	describe	which	methods	may	be	used	for	the	depreciation	and	amortization	of	fixed	assets	and	intangible	 
assets. According to IAS 16, the revenue-based method is not a permissible method of depreciation or amortization. 
No	effects	are	expected	on	the	Group’s	assets,	financial	position	or	results	of	operations.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 
The amendments adopted on June 30, 2014 bring bearer plants into the scope of IAS 16. This does not affect the 
Group’s	financial	reporting.	

Amendment	to	IAS	19	Employee	Benefits	
The IASB issued additional amendments to IAS 19 on November 21, 2013. The amendments clarify the require-
ments that relate to how contributions from employees or third parties linked to service should be attributed to  
periods of service. In addition, it permits a practical expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent  of 
the number of years of service. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 
2015,	with	early	application	permitted.	This	does	not	affect	the	Group’s	financial	reporting.	

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments reinstate the equity method as an accounting option for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and	associates	in	an	entity’s	separate	financial	statements.	The	amendments	are	effective	for	annual	periods	 
beginning on or after June 17, 2014, with early application permitted.

IFRS Annual Improvement Process 2010–2012
As part of its annual process of making minor improvements to standards and interpretations (Annual Improve-
ments	to	IFRSs	2010–2012	Cycle),	the	IASB	has	issued	amendments.	The	amendments	affect	seven	standards	
(IFRS	2,	IFRS	3,	IFRS	8,	IFRS	13,	IAS	16,	IAS	24,	IAS	38).	They	are	applicable	to	reporting	periods	of	a	fiscal	
year beginning on or after February 1, 2015, and have only minor or no relevance to the Group.

IFRS Annual Improvement Process 2012–2014
As part of its annual process of making minor improvements to standards and interpretations (Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs	2012–2014	Cycle),	the	IASB	has	issued	amendments.	The	amendments	affect	four	standards	(IFRS	5,	IFRS	7, 
IAS	19	and	IAS	34).	They	are	applicable	to	reporting	periods	of	a	fiscal	year	beginning	on	or	after	July	1,	2016,	
and have only minor or no relevance to the Group.

The Group did not adopt any new standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards prematurely in 2015. 

3.2. DISCLOSURES TO THE ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES

Intangible assets acquired	with	a	finite	useful	life	are	valued	at	acquisition	costs.	They	decline	via	straight-line	amor-
tization over their useful lives and accumulated impairments. The costs for internally generated intangible assets are 
recognized in the period in which they accrue, with the exception of development costs that can be capitalized.

Research and development expenses include all expenses that can be attributed directly to research or development 
activities. Expenditure on research is recognized as expenditure in the period in which it is incurred. The develop-
ment costs of a project are capitalized as an intangible asset only after the SMA Group can demonstrate both the 
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for internal use or sale and the in-
tention to complete the intangible asset and either use or sell it. In addition, the SMA Group must demonstrate how 
the	intangible	asset	will	generate	future	economic	benefits,	the	availability	of	resources	to	complete	the	intangible	
asset and the ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
Development costs are recognized at cost pursuant to IAS 38.66, less accumulated amortization and amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization commences at the end of the development phase and from the 
moment	the	asset	can	be	used.	Amortization	is	effected	over	the	period	during	which	future	benefit	will	be	expected.	
Incomplete development projects are tested annually for impairment. When the reasons that have resulted in impair-
ment cease to exist, a corresponding addition is made.

With	the	purchase	of	dtw	Sp.	z	o.o.	in	the	2011	fiscal	year,	the	Group	formed	goodwill	for	the	first	time.	Additional	
goodwill arose from the acquisition of Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd. in 2013, which was written off in 
2014. Danfoss’ inverter segment and Phoenix’s O&M business were acquired in 2014. Both transactions resulted  
in	low	goodwill.	There	were	no	other	intangible	assets	with	an	indefinite	useful	life	in	the	periods	under	review.

Intangible	assets	with	a	finite	useful	life	are	written	down	over	three	to	five	years	using	straight-line	amortization.	
In	the	case	of	intangible	assets	with	a	finite	useful	life,	the	period	of	amortization	and	the	amortization	method	are	
reviewed	at	least	at	the	end	of	each	fiscal	year.	Any	changes	in	the	amortization	period	that	become	necessary	
because of changes in the expected useful life are accounted for as changes to estimates. Amortization is recorded 
under the expense category that corresponds to the function of the intangible asset in the enterprise.

Any gains or losses from derecognition of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net 
	dispo	sal	proceeds	and	the	book	value	of	the	asset.	They	are	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	the	
asset is derecognized.

Fixed assets are valued at acquisition or production costs less straight-line depreciation and accumulated impair-
ment losses. Borrowing costs are added to acquisition and production costs in the event of qualifying assets. The 
cost	of	replacement	of	a	part	of	a	fixed	asset	is	included	in	the	book	value	of	this	asset	when	incurred	if	the	criteria	
for	recognition	are	fulfilled.	When	major	inspections	are	carried	out,	the	costs	are	capitalized	according	to	the	 
book value of the relevant assets if the criteria for recognition are met. All other maintenance and repair costs are 
expensed immediately.
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The depreciation period is based on the expected useful life. Depreciation is recognized under the expense  cate gory 
that corresponds to the function of assets in the enterprise. Scheduled straight-line depreciation is based on the  
following useful life of assets:

A	fixed	asset	is	derecognized	either	upon	its	disposal	or	when	no	further	economic	benefit	is	expected	from	the	further	
use or sale of the asset. Gains or losses from derecognition of the asset are determined as the difference  be tween  
the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	the	book	value	of	the	asset	and	recognized	through	profit	or	loss	in	the	income		statement 
as other operating income or other operating expenses in the period in which the asset is  derecognized.

The	residual	values,	useful	lives	and	depreciation	methods	are	reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	fiscal	year	and		ad	justed 
if necessary.

Impairment	of	intangible	assets	and	fixed	assets: On each balance sheet date, the Group reviews whether there 
are any indicators that the value of an asset might be impaired. If such indicators exist or if an annual impairment 
test of an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the relevant asset. The 
 recoverable amount of an asset is its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use, whichever is higher. As a rule, 
the recoverable amount will be determined for each individual asset. If it proves impossible to determine the 
	recoverable	amount	for	individual	assets	because	the	cash	flows	depend	on	those	of	other	assets,	the	cash	flows	
are	determined	for	the	next	higher	group	of	assets	(cash-generating	unit),	for	which	such	a	cash	flow	can	 
be  determined.

If the book value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset or the cash-gener-
ating unit is impaired and written down to the recoverable amount. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future 
cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	
regarding	the	interest	effect	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	asset.	In	order	to	determine	the	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell,	
an adequate valuation model is used. This is based on valuation multipliers, stock prices of quoted shares of entities 
or other available indicators for the fair value. Impairment costs are recognized under the expense category that 
corres	ponds	to	the	function	of	the	impaired	asset	in	the	enterprise.	In	fiscal	year	2015,	as	in	the	previous	year,	im-
pair ment was taken into account on development projects. More information is provided in section16, Intangible 
Assets.

For assets, a test is carried out on each balance sheet date to determine whether there are any indicators that a 
previously recognized impairment loss has ceased to exist or has diminished. Additions are made if the recoverable 
amount has increased in subsequent periods. An impairment loss recognized in prior periods is only reversed if  
there is a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 

useful life
Leasehold improvements 10 years
Buildings 25 to 35 years
Technical equipment and machinery 6 to 8 years
Business	and	office	equipment	 5 to 10 years

See section 16,  
page 138 et seqq.

was recognized. If this is the case, the book value of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. An addition  
is limited to the amount that would have resulted based on scheduled depreciation without recognizing an impair-
ment. The addition is immediately recognized in the income statement. This was not the case in the year under  
review or in the previous year. A once impaired goodwill will not be reversed.

Inventories are measured at the lower value of acquisition or production costs and net realizable value. The costs  
of acquisition or production include all costs incurred during acquisition and production as well as other costs 
 incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Borrowing costs are not taken into 
 account here. In general, when determining the acquisition costs of raw materials, consumables and supplies, 
moving	average	prices	are	used.	The	cost	of	production	of	work	in	progress	and	finished	goods	is	determined	using	
detailed cost accounting. The net realizable value consists of the estimated sales proceeds that can be achieved 
through the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs incurred up to completion and the estimated 
necessary selling expenses. If the reasons that have resulted in an impairment of inventories no longer exist, a 
corresponding addition is made.

A	financial	instrument	is	a	contract	that	gives	rise	to	both	a	financial	asset	held	by	one	entity	and	a	financial	liability	
or	an	equity	instrument	held	by	another	entity.	If	the	trading	date	and	the	settlement	date	of	financial	assets	are	
different, then the settlement date is decisive for initial recognition. The date of contract conclusion is only decisive in 
the	case	of	financial	derivatives.

As	a	rule,	financial	instruments	are	reported	as	soon	as	an	entity	of	the	SMA	Group	becomes	a	contracting	party	 
to	the	provisions	of	the	financial	instrument.	In	the	event	of	purchases	or	sales	usual	in	the	market	(purchases	or	 
sales in the context of a contract, the conditions of which provide for the delivery of the asset within a certain period 
which	is	usually	defined	by	the	regulations	or	conventions	of	the	relevant	market),	the	settlement	date	(i.e.,	the	date	 
on	which	the	asset	is	delivered	to	or	by	an	SMA	Group	company)	is	decisive	for	its	initial	recognition	in	the	balance	
sheet	and	for	its	removal	from	the	balance	sheet.	Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	measured	at	fair	value	
upon	their	initial	recognition.	In	case	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	for	which	there	is	no	measurement	 
at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	the	transaction	costs	that	are	directly	attributable	to	the	purchase	of	the	financial	
asset	or	the	issue	of	the	financial	liability	are	also	included.	Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	generally	
stated separately and only netted if there is a right of offsetting these amounts on the relevant date and if the 
intention is to perform the settlement on a net basis.

For	subsequent	measurements,	financial	assets	as	defined	in	IAS	39	are	classified	as	financial	assets	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss,	as	loans	and	receivables,	as	held-to-maturity	investments	or	as	available-for-sale	financial	
assets.	Financial	liabilities	as	defined	in	IAS	39	are	classified	as	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or 
loss	or	as	other	financial	liabilities.	Financial	assets	are	designated	to	measurement	categories	upon	their	initial 
recognition.	If	permitted	and	necessary,	redesignations	are	made	at	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year. 

For	the	SMA	Group,	the	measurement	categories	loans	and	receivables,	financial	assets	and	liabilities	measured	 
at	fair	value	and	other	financial	liabilities	are	particularly	relevant.
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Any	loans	and	receivables	granted	by	the	enterprise	and	other	financial	liabilities	are	measured	at	amortized	cost	 
of	acquisition	using	the	effective	interest	method.	These	are	primarily	trade	receivables	and	payables,	other	financial	
receivables, and assets and long-term loans.

Held-for-trading	assets	are	measured	at	their	fair	value.	These	primarily	include	derivative	financial	instruments	that	
are	not	part	of	an	effective	hedging	relationship	as	defined	in	IAS	39	and	which	must	therefore	be	designated	 
mandatorily	as	held	for	trading.	Derivative	financial	instruments	are	reported	as	assets	if	their	fair	value	is	positive	
and as liabilities if their fair value is negative. Gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of deriv - 
ative	financial	instruments	are	recognized	directly	through	profit	or	loss,	since	no	hedging	relationship	was	created	 
for	them.	Gains	or	losses	resulting	from	subsequent	measurement	are	recognized	through	profit	or	loss	in	the	 
income	statement.	The	derivative	financial	instruments	held	by	the	SMA	Group	are	not	part	of	effective	hedging	
relation ships in accordance with IAS 39.

On	each	balance	sheet	date,	the	book	values	of	financial	assets	that	are	not	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	 
and loss are tested to determine whether objective substantial indicators for an impairment exist (such as con-
siderable	financial	difficulties	of	the	debtor,	high	probability	of	bankruptcy	proceedings	being	initiated	against	the	
debtor,	elimination	of	an	active	market	for	the	financial	asset,	significant	changes	in	the	technological,	economic,	
legal	or	market	environment	of	the	issuer	or	a	permanent	fall	in	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	assets	below	the	amor-
tized	cost	of	acquisition).	A	possible	impairment	loss	which	is	due	to	the	fair	value	being	lower	than	the	book	 
value	is	recognized	through	profit	and	loss.	If	impairments	of	the	fair	values	of	financial	assets	available	for	sale	 
have previously been recognized directly in equity, these are eliminated from equity up to the amount of  
the	identified	impairment	and	transferred	to	the	income	statement.	If	subsequent	measurements	show	that	the	
fair value has increased objectively due to events occurring after the impairment loss was originally recognized, 
the	impairment	loss	is	reversed	by	applying	the	relevant	amount	through	profit	and	loss.	Impairments	relating	to	
unquoted available-for-sale equity instruments that are reported at acquisition costs may not be reversed.

A	financial	asset	is	removed	from	the	books	if	the	enterprise	has	relinquished	control	of	the	contractual	rights	 
related	to	the	financial	asset.	A	financial	liability	is	removed	from	the	books	if	the	obligation	underlying	the	liability	 
is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

Cash and cash equivalents reported in the balance sheet include cash on hand as well as bank balances, checks, 
payment instruments in transit and short-term deposits with a total term to maturity of less than three months. The cash 
and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are accrued in line with the aforementioned 
definition	and	include	any	bank	overdrafts	that	have	been	granted.

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that SMA will meet all of the conditions  
for receiving the grants. Government grants have to be recognized in the income statement in line with planning 
during the periods in which the corresponding expenses to be offset by the grants are recognized. Government 
grants	that	are	paid	to	compensate	for	expenses	or	losses	already	incurred	or	to	provide	immediate	financial	
support without associated expense in the future are recognized in the income statement in the period in which the 
corresponding claim arises.

Provisions	account	for	all	recognizable	present	(legal	and	constructive)	obligations	of	the	Group	to	third	parties	 
as	a	result	of	past	events,	which	are	expected	to	lead	to	an	outflow	of	resources	with	an	economic	benefit	to	settle	
the obligation and the amount of which can be determined reliably. The provisions are recognized in line with  
IAS 37 at the estimated amount required to settle them. Insofar as the Group expects to receive a repayment, at 
least	in	part,	for	a	reported	provision	(such	as	for	an	insurance	contract),	the	repayment	is	recorded	as	a	separate	 
asset	if	the	inflow	of	the	payment	is	highly	probable.	The	expense	for	the	formation	of	the	provision	is	recognized	 
in the income statement. Non-current provisions are carried in the balance sheet at their settlement amount 
discounted to the balance sheet date using corresponding term-dependent market interest rates. If the amount 
is	discounted,	the	increase	of	provisions	caused	by	expiration	is	recorded	under	finance	costs.	Additions	to	the	
provisions for guarantees outlined under 23. Provisions are recognized in cost of sales. They are not deferred  
from sales.

The determination as to whether an agreement contains a lease is made based on the economic content of the 
agreement	on	the	date	of	its	conclusion	and	requires	an	assessment	of	whether	fulfillment	of	the	agreement	depends	 
on	the	use	of	a	specific	asset	or	specific	assets	and	whether	the	agreement	grants	a	right	to	use	the	asset.

An operating lease exists if the substantial rewards and risks regarding the leased object are retained by the lessor. 
Lease payments on operating leases are recorded over the term of the lease as an expense in the income statement.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to 
the cost of those assets until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Qualifying assets refer  
to those assets that require a longer period of time before they are available for their intended use or sale. All other 
borrowing	costs	are	recognized	as	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	As	in	the	previous	year,	 
no borrowing costs were capitalized in the current period under review.  
Employee	benefits	are,	as	a	rule,	reported	as	a	liability	if	an	employee	has	provided	work	in	exchange	for	benefits	
payable	in	the	future	and	are	recognized	as	an	expense	if	the	entity	has	received	the	economic	benefit	resulting	 
from	the	work	provided	by	an	employee	in	exchange	for	future	benefits.

Long-service	and	death	benefits	are	granted	on	the	basis	of	a	company	agreement.	Measurement	of	obligations	 
to	pay	benefits	is	carried	out	by	applying	the	projected	unit	credit	method.	This	method	takes	into	account	both	 
the	claims	for	payment	of	long-service	rewards	and	death	benefits	and	the	acquired	pension	rights	known	as	of	 
the	balance	sheet	date,	and	payments	of	long-service	rewards	and	death	benefits	expected	in	the	future.

In 2009, SMA Solar Technology AG introduced value-based lifelong working-time accounts. Under certain con-
ditions,	employees	may	have	time	credits	or	special	benefits	reposted	to	these	value	accounts	and	may	later	take	 
paid leave of absence using the credit balances extrapolated based on income. The employees’ value claims are 
protected against insolvency and are reinsured.

Revenue	is	recognized	if	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefit	will	flow	to	the	Group	and	the	amount	of	the	 
revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received.  Dis counts, 
rebates and other deductions are not taken into account. Revenue from the sale of goods and products is 
 recognized if the material rewards and risks associated with the ownership of the goods and products sold have 
passed to the buyer. This is the case upon delivery of goods and products or handover from the carrier.  
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Revenue from services is recognized as soon as the services are rendered. In the case of multi-year service con-
tracts, the recognition of revenue is spread over the contract term. Interest income is recognized when interest has 
accrued	using	the	effective	interest	rate	(i.e.,	the	internal	rate	used	to	discount	estimated	future	cash	inflows	over	 
the		expected	term	of	the	financial	instrument	to	the	net	book	value	of	the	financial	asset).	Dividends	are	recognized	
when the right to receive payment is established.

Current tax receivables and tax liabilities for the ongoing and for previous periods are measured at the amount 
which is expected to be reimbursed by the tax authority or to be paid to the tax authority. In order to calculate this 
amount, the tax rates and tax laws applicable on the balance sheet date are used. Current taxes that relate to  
items stated directly in equity are not recognized in the income statement but rather in equity.

Deferred taxes are calculated according to IAS 12 on the basis of the standard international balance-sheet-related 
liability method. This requires deferred tax items to be recognized for all temporary differences between the tax 
base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the consolidated balance sheet as well as for tax loss carry-
forwards.	However,	deferred	tax	assets	are	only	recognized	if	realization	is	sufficiently	likely.

Deferred taxes are measured using the tax rates that, under current legislation, would apply in the future on the 
probable date of reversal of the temporary differences. The effects of amendments to tax legislation on deferred tax 
assets	and	liabilities	are	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	the	material	conditions	for	such	amend-
ments to come into force arise. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted according to the regulations of 
IAS 12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset within individual companies on the basis of maturity.

3.3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires the company management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of revenues and expenses, assets and liabilities reported on  
the reporting date as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty related to these assumptions 
and  estimates may lead to results that require material adjustments to the book values of the relevant assets or 
 liabilities in the future.

When applying the accounting and valuation policies, the company management made the following judgments, 
which	had	a	significant	effect	on	the	amounts	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	Judgments	 
containing estimates are not taken into account here.

The	company	Management	made	a	judgment	on	the	first-time	categorization	of	other	financial	assets.	More	
 infor mation is provided in section 28.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty on the reporting date 
	associated	with	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjustment	to	the	book	values	of	assets	and	liabilities	during	 
the	next	fiscal	year	are	explained	below:

See section 28, 
page 147 et seqq.

Development costs are capitalized in line with the accounting policies presented when all required conditions are 
given. Initial capitalization of costs is based on an estimate by the company management that a project’s technical 
and economic feasibility has been proven. This is normally the case when a development project has reached a 
specific	milestone	or	a	specific	quality	gate	in	the	development	process.	When	determining	the	amounts	to	be	
capitalized, the company management makes further valuation assumptions regarding the amount of expected 
future	cash	flows	from	the	assets,	the	discounting	rates	to	be	applied	and	the	period	of	inflow	of	expected	future	
cash	flows	generated	by	the	assets.	With	this	in	mind,	€31.5	million	(2014:	€40.9	million)	were	capitalized	during	 
the	fiscal	year.	The	research	and	development	costs	recognized	as	expenses	are	presented	in	section	8,	Research	
and Development Expenses.

In addition to individual circumstances, provisions for overall warranty risks are also taken into account when   
setting	aside	provisions	for	warranty	obligations.	In	the	case	of	warranty	risks,	an	obligation	of	five	or	ten	years	
is generally adopted as a base. The expected warranty expenditure is based on historical values. The expected 
warranty expenditure is calculated by referring to a weighted percentage determined by comparing actual war-
ranty	expenditure	in	the	last	five	to	ten	years	leading	up	to	the	previous	year’s	sales	and	applying	these	per-
centages to the sales covered by warranty obligations. The warranty provisions are used up equally over the  
five-to	ten-year	warranty	period.	The	value	of	the	provision	for	individual	cases	and	overall	warranty	risks	a	- 
mounted	to	€139.8	million	as	of	December	31,	2015	(December	31,	2014:	€139.8	million).	More	information	is	
provided in section 23, Provisions. Accrued payments received for non-gratuitous warranties are collected over  
the warranty period as sales revenues on a straight-line basis because, in this case, a linear progression of warranty 
costs is also adopted as the best possible estimation method.

The restructuring provision	was	recognized	on	the	basis	of	a	formal	restructuring	plan	in	the	2014	fiscal	year.	To	
determine its amount, assumptions were made regarding the average salaries, lengths of service and maintenance 
obligations of the employees affected. The rate of acceptance of severance agreements was also estimated.

On	each	balance	sheet	date,	the	Group	examines	whether	there	are	indicators	for	an	impairment	of	non-financial	
assets. Estimating the value in use requires the company management to make an estimate of the expected future  
cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	the	cash-generating	unit	and	to	choose	a	suitable	discount	rate	in	order	to	calculate	 
the	present	value	of	these	cash	flows.	As	in	the	previous	year,	impairment	was	recognized	on	development	projects	 
in	fiscal	year	2015.	More	information	is	provided	in	section	16,	Intangible	Assets.	

Deferred tax assets are formed for all unused tax loss carryforwards to the extent that it is probable that there  
will	be	sufficient	taxable	profit	to	enable	the	loss	carryforwards	to	actually	be	used.	Determining	the	amount	of	
deferred	tax	assets	requires	the	company	management	to	use	significant	discretion	regarding	the	expected	time	 
of accrual and the amount of taxable income in the future as well as regarding future tax planning strategies. 
Deferred	tax	assets	for	loss	carryforwards	amount	to	€21.9	million	(2014:	€25.4	million).

See also section 
16, Intangible 

Assets
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4. Business Combinations

In 2015, no business combinations were carried out. In the previous year, two business combinations under IFRS 3 
took place.

In	May	2014,	as	part	of	the	strategic	partnership	with	Danfoss	Power	Electronics	A/S,	Denmark	(“Danfoss”),	SMA	
acquired its inverter segment in an asset deal.  
Essentially,	product	licenses	and	patents	(€1.3	million)	and	trade	receivables	(€3.0	million)	were	transferred.	The	
resulting	goodwill	of	€0.3	million	primarily	reflects	the	prospect	of	positive	effects	from	the	strategic	partnership	with	
Danfoss.

As part of an asset deal with Phoenix Solar AG, Sulzemoos (“Phoenix”),	SMA	acquired	the	business	unit	for	oper-
ation	and	maintenance	services	for	photovoltaic	power	plants	(O&M	business)	in	October	2014.	The	transferred	
assets	chiefly	comprised	customer	contracts	(€4.0	million)	as	well	as	inventories	and	receivables	(€0.7	million).	The	
resulting	goodwill	of	€0.2	million	chiefly	reflects	expectations	relating	to	access	to	the	European	O&M	business	for	
photovoltaic power plants.

5. Segment Reporting

At	the	beginning	of	the	2015	fiscal	year,	SMA	Group	reorganized	its	photovoltaics	operations	and	adjusted	the	
Group structure accordingly. Since January 1, 2015, SMA Group has operated under its new functional organiza-
tion. In this organization, the Residential, Commercial, Utility and Service business units take on overall responsibility  
and manage Development, Sales and Operations. They are presented as separate segments. Railway Technology 
and Off-Grid & Storage business have been combined under Other Business. The business sector Zeversolar is  
presented with its own information under the regulations of IFRS 8.13. The previous segments have been absorbed 
into	the	new	segment	structure	as	follows:	The	previous	Medium	Power	Solutions	(MPS)	segment	was	split	between	 
the new Residential and Commercial business units. Inverters with an output range of up to 12 kW are assigned  
to the Residential business unit. The Commercial business unit is responsible for output ranges over 12 kW. The  
new Utility business unit primarily comprises the old PPS segment. The Service segment continues to offer services  
in Germany and abroad, including, in particular, the assumption of warranty and maintenance services and  
oper a tional management.

In association with this, management of the Group and internal reporting have also changed. 

In accordance with the regulations of IFRS 8 Operating Segments, this organizational repositioning led to a change  
in the segment reporting for all comparative periods affecting the presentation as well as previous year’s values.  
The number of reported segments is increased by one based on IFRS 8.11b in connection with IFRS 8.13. Based  
on the information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision-makers for resource allocation and business 
 performance, the above business units and the composite segment Other Business (inclusive business area Zever-
solar)	are	identified	as	reportable	segments	under	IFRS	8.11a.	The	business	units	report	directly	to	the	Managing	
Board. In accordance with market requirements, SMA regularly reviews its organizational structure in order to  
make	it	as	efficient	as	possible.

Sales	in	the	Residential,	Commercial	und	Utility	business	units	are	subject	to	fluctuations	because	of	discontinuous	
incentive programs.

segment activities 

Residential The Residential business unit serves the attractive long-term market of small PV systems for  
private applications. In particular, the portfolio comprises single-phase string inverters with the 
brand name Sunny Boy, three-phase inverters in the lower output range up to 12 kW with  
the brand name Sunny Tripower, energy management solutions, storage systems such as the  
Sunny Boy Smart Energy, and communication products and accessories. With this portfolio  
of products and services, SMA can offer a suitable technical solution for private PV systems in  
all major photovoltaic markets.

Commercial The Commercial business unit serves the growing market of medium-sized PV systems for commer- 
 cial applications. The portfolio comprises three-phase inverters from the Sunny Tripower brand  
with outputs of more than 12 kW as well as communication products and other accessories. SMA 
offers complete solutions as well as individual inverters for commercial PV systems in all major 
photovoltaic markets.

Utility The Utility business unit serves the growing market for large-scale PV power plants with outputs 
ranging from 500 kW to the megawatt range with central inverters from the Sunny Central  
brand. In addition to medium- and high-voltage technology, the product and service portfolio  
also comprises grid service and monitoring functions as well as accessories.

Service SMA has its own service companies in all important photovoltaic markets. With an installed 
 capacity of nearly 50 GW worldwide, SMA leverages economies of scale to manage its service 
business	profitably.	Services	offered	include	commissioning,	warranty	extensions,	service	 
and maintenance contracts, operational management, remote system monitoring and spare parts 
business.

Zeversolar Zeversolar comprises Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary companies,  
and serves the Chinese photovoltaic market with its own central inverters. String inverters are  
offered in select foreign markets to its own customer base. 

Other Business The business activities of Railway Technology and Off-Grid & Storage
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The operating result of the segments is monitored separately by the Managing Board to make decisions on the 
allocation	of	resources	and	to	determine	the	profitability	of	the	segments.	Group	financing,	currency	and	interest	
rate hedging and the income tax burden are controlled at Group level and are therefore not allocated to the 
individual operating segments.

Regarding information on geographical segments, sales are assigned to countries using the destination principle. 
The	Company	waives	presenting	non-current	assets	based	on	this	classification.	SMA	Solar	Technology	AG	
develops and manufactures its products mainly in Germany. There are no material non-current assets tied to the 
production sites outside Germany in China, North America and Poland. Accordingly, an apportionment of  
assets by regions is likewise not a part of internal management reporting.

The	Group	measures	the	performance	of	its	segments	through	a	measurement	of	segment	profit	or	loss,	which	is	 
referred	to	as	EBIT	in	the	internal	management	and	reporting	system.	This	measurement	comprises	gross	profit,	
selling and general administrative expenses, research and non-capitalized development costs as well as other 
operating	income	(balance	of	other	operating	income	and	expenses).

Segment	assets	comprise	the	intangible	assets	attributed	to	each	segment	and	its	fixed	assets,	inventories	and	
trade receivables. Segment liabilities include trade payables that are directly attributable to the relevant segments. 
Internal management reporting is in line with the accounting policies of external reporting.

The transfer prices between the business segments are determined using management prices based on usual arm’s 
length market conditions. Income from external third parties is reported using the same valuation parameters as 
shown in the income statement. No asymmetrical allocations are made to individual segments.

Sales	are	not	broken	down	into	goods	deliveries	and	services	because	the	amount	of	services	is	insignificant	
compared	to	goods	deliveries.	Services	are	provided	in	the	Service	segment,	they	represent	less	than	five	percent	 
of the Group’s revenue.

FinanCial Ratios By seGments and ReGions

segments external sales internal sales total sales
operating 

profit (eBit)
in € million 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Residential 252.7 249.2 0.0 0.0 252.7 249.2 1.8 –46.9
Commercial 207.4 159.3 0.0 0.0 207.4 159.3 –25.6 –22.8
Utility 416.0 281.7 0.7 0.0 416.7 281.7 56.5 0.0
Service 49.5 41.2 66.4 90.7 115.9 131.9 14.4 4.5
Zeversolar 21.7 17.6 0.0 0.0 21.7 17.6 –8.7 –18.5
Other Business 52.3 56.4 0.1 0.0 52.4 56.4 –7.8 –7.5
Total segments 999.6 805.4 67.2 90.7 1.066.8 896.1 30.6 –91.2
Reconciliation 0.0 0.0 –67.2 –90.7 –67.2 –90.7 3.7 –73.7
Continuing operations 999.6 805.4 0.0 0.0 999.6 805.4 34.3 –164.9

segments
segment 

assets
segment 
liabilities

Capital 
expenditure

depreciation and 
amortization

in € million 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Residential 65.4 46.4 0.9 0.2 9.9 9.1 13.0 9.9
Commercial 39.1 27.6 0.8 1.1 5.7 7.5 9.8 9.3
Utility 154.1 99.5 7.5 5.4 14.7 19.9 4.6 2.3
Service 39.5 39.6 2.2 4.5 0.5 0.8 1.5 1.3
Zeversolar 24.5 36.1 8.7 14.4 0.5 1.9 1.6 1.3
Other Business 27.6 30.5 2.3 2.2 3.5 4.2 2.4 1.6
Total segments 350.2 279.7 22.4 27.8 34.8 43.4 32.9 25.7
Reconciliation 810.3 900.6 567.9 600.5 15.8 32.1 46.1 80.8
Continuing operations 1,160.5 1,180.3 590.3 628.3 50.6 75.5 79.0 106.5

sales by regions 
in € million 2015 2014
EMEA 367.0 338.1
Americas 429.3 316.4
APAC 221.2 165.1
Sales deductions –17.9 –14.2
external sales 999.6 805.4
thereof Germany 129.2 177.8
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Reconciliation	of	segment	figures	to	the	correlating	figures	stated	in	the	Financial	Statements	is	as	follows:

Circumstances	are	shown	in	the	reconciliation	which	by	definition	are	not	part	of	the	segments.	In	particular,	this	
includes	unallocated	parts	of	the	Group	head	office,	including	the	centrally	administered	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	
financial	instruments,	financial	liabilities	and	buildings,	the	expenses	of	which	are	apportioned	to	the	segments.	 
In the previous year, the reconciliation includes the restructuring provision. Business relations between the segments 
are eliminated in the reconciliation.

In 2015, as in the previous year, no customer accounted for a share of more than 10% of Group sales.

in € million 2015 2014
Total	segment	earnings	(EBIT) 30.6 –91.2
Eliminations 3.7 –73.7
Consolidated EBIT 34.3 –164.9
Financial result –5.0 –3.0
earnings before income taxes 29.3 –167.9

Total segment assets 350.2 279.7
Other central items and eliminations 170.0 294.9
Centrally administered land and buildings 191.8 201.3
Cash and long-term time deposits 297.9 266.5
Financial instruments not designated and other assets 61.9 52.8
Deferred tax assets and income tax receivables 88.7 85.1
Group assets 1,160.5 1,180.3

Total liabilities 22.4 27.8
Other central items and eliminations 80.7 84.1
Financial instruments not designated, liabilities and provisions 452.9 477.5
Income tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities 34.3 38.9
Group liabilities 590.3 628.3
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6. Cost of Sales

Cost of sales include, as direct costs, the product-related material expenses as well as all other expenses for the 
areas of Production, Purchasing, Service, and Facility Management and IT.

In 2015, the specific material costs were again reduced thanks to close collaboration between Purchasing, Produc
tion and Development. Together with the launch of new products, this reduced material expenses per watt by  
13.8% to 7.5 cents per watt (2014: 8.7 cents per watt). The material expenses ratio was therefore kept constant at 
54.6% in 2015 (2014: 54.7%) despite ongoing price reductions for PV inverters.

In 2015, personnel expenses included in cost of sales fell by 3.3% year on year to €130.4 million (2014: 
€134.8 million) despite a higher production volume. The first effects of personnel adjustments were partially offset 
by the collectively agreed upon wage increase, the employee bonus and the greater demand for temporary 
employees.

Depreciation and amortization included in cost of sales decreased by 8.7% to €68.4 million in 2015 (2014: 
€74.9 million). This included scheduled depreciation on capitalized development costs of €19.5 million (2014: 
€14.9 million). 

The €18.7 million increase in other expenses primarily resulted from the addition of salesbased provisions for 
warranty obligations compared with the same period of the previous year. 

7. Selling Expenses

in €‘000 2015 2014
Material expenses 546,222 440,869
Personnel expenses 130,429 134,761
Depreciation and amortization 68,415 74,853
Other 40,621 21,901

785,687 672,384

in €‘000 2015 2014
Material expenses 978 513
Personnel expenses 35,437 34,300
Depreciation and amortization 485 976
Other 19,468 29,104

56,368 64,893
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Selling expenses include expenditure for global sales activities, internal sales and marketing. With its international 
sales organization, SMA is benefiting from the global growth of photovoltaic markets. Selling expenses fell by 
13.1% year on year to €56.4 million in 2015 (2014: €64.9 million), primarily due to savings in material costs.  
The cost savings generated by personnel adjustments were offset by nonrecurring payments in 2015. The cost of  
sales ratio was 5.6% in the reporting period (2014: 8.1%), due, in particular, to the increase in sales.

8. Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include all costs that can be attributed to the areas of product development, 
development-related testing and product management. Here, SMA is adhering to its strategy of using development 
competence abroad, especially in the U.S. and in China, in order to further reinforce its leadership in technology. 
The personnel adjustments implemented reduced the number of employees (not including temporary employees and 
trainees) by 20.3% in this area. As a result, personnel expenses fell by 17.1% to €55.6 million in 2015. Other costs 
were decreased to €29.6 million in 2015 as a result of steps taken to reduce fixed costs. This was achieved by 
focu s ing more sharply on core development projects. With at least one product launch per segment, SMA showed 
that it has retained its capacity for innovation. 

Capitalized development projects again fell far short of the previous year at €31.5 million (2014: €40.9 million).

9. General Administrative Expenses

in €‘000 2015 2014
Material expenses 5,629 7,485
Personnel expenses 55,581 67,062
Depreciation and amortization 8,417 7,227
Other 29,564 47,278

 99,191 129,052
Capitalized development projects –31,532 –40,893

67,659 88,159 

in €‘000 2015 2014
Material expenses 53 132
Personnel expenses 31,711 44,163
Depreciation and amortization 1,639 1,457
Other 27,568 34,831

60,971 80,583

Administrative expenses include expenses for Finance, Human Resources, Legal and Compliance and Corporate 
Communication. Administrative expenses in 2015 totaled €61.0 million (2014: €80.6 million). The substantial 
decrease in administrative expenses of 24.3% is mainly attributable to staff reductions in the general administrative 
area, which had already reduced personnel costs to €31.7 million in 2015 (2014: €44.2 million). 

Other costs decreased by €7.2 million to €27.6 million thanks to measures taken to reduce fixed costs.

10. Other Operating Income 

Other operating income specifically includes income from foreign currency valuation and nonoperative income, 
such as from assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. The remaining miscellaneous income includes 
€9.1 million from the reversal of the restructuring provision. 

11. Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses declined by 56.8% to €42.0 million. In the previous year, these included expenses  
for the recognition of provisions for the costs associated with the planned restructuring measures and impairment on 
the goodwill and intangible assets of Zeversolar at €22.0 million. 
Expenses for additions to impairment losses on receivables amounted to €2.2 million in the reporting period  
(2014: €6.5 million). 

in €‘000 2015 2014
Revenues from foreign currency translation 25,330 18,411
Government grants 2,431 2,061
Other miscellaneous income 19,554 12,282

47,315 32,754

in €‘000 2015 2014
Expense from foreign currency translation 20,381 11,820
Other miscellaneous expenses 21,574 85,197

41,955 97,017
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12. Employee and Temporary Employee Benefits

Voluntary contributions to private pensions amounted to €1.7 million in 2015 (2014: €1.5 million).

The average number of employees in the Group amounted to:

13. Financial Result

The financial result decreased by €1.9 million to €5.0 million (2014: €3.1 million). The reason for this was a drop in 
interest income in 2015 by €0.8 million to €1.8 million. This was primarily due to decreased investment volume and 
the low market interest rate. Total interest income from financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss 
amounted to €1.8 million (2014: €2.6 million) in the fiscal year.

in €‘000 2015 2014
Wages and salaries 205,747 275,438
Expenses for temporary employees 17,581 18,062
Social security contribution and welfare payments 31,574 37,514

254,902 331,014

2015 2014
Research and Development 838 1,051
Production and Service 2,329 2,691
Sales and Administration 749 1,058
 3,916 4,800
Apprentices and interns 172 237
Temporary employees 557 629

4,645 5,666

in €‘000 2015 2014
Interest income 1,787 2,573
Other financial income 5 450
Income from interest derivatives 152 0
Financial income 1,944 3,023
Interest expenses 5,283 3,912
Other financial expenses 1,431 1,905
Expenses from interest derivatives 180 212
Interest portion from valuation of provisions 52 87
Financial expenses 6,946 6,116
Financial result –5,002 –3,093

Financial expenses rose to €6.9 million (2014: €6.1 million) as a result of the interest required due to the tax audit. The 
expense of €0.1 million from the revaluation of the written put option in connection with the remaining minority interests 
of Zeversolar was recognized under other financial expenses. Interest expenses from financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss amounted to €3.4 million (2014: €3.9 million).

14. Income Taxes

Actual income taxes (paid or payable) and deferred taxes are recognized as income taxes. They break down as 
follows: 

Income taxes comprise trade tax, corporation tax and the solidarity surcharge in Germany, and comparable  
income taxes abroad. The expected income tax expense that would result from applying the tax rate of the parent 
company SMA Solar Technology AG to the IFRS consolidated result before taxes can be reconciled to income  
taxes shown in the Income Statement as follows:

in €‘000 2015 2014
Actual income taxes  

for current fiscal year 20,423 13,133
for previous years 3,795 3,091

Deferred taxes 
  from temporary differences –12,659 –8,944
  from tax loss carryforwards 3,502 4,087

Income taxes 15,061 11,367

in €‘000 2015 2014
Consolidated result before income taxes 29,311 –167,945
Tax rate of the parent company 30.6% 30.7%
Expected income tax expenses 8,969 –51,509
Differences related to differing tax rates domestic and abroad –3,153 3,495
Effects due to changes in tax rates –15 –29
Tax-free income 82 –9
Nondeductible expenses 291 –141
Unusable loss carryforwards and amortization of loss carryforwards 4,848 55,069
Taxes relating to previous years 3,795 3,091
Other tax effects 244 1,400
Actual income taxes (according to Income Statement) 15,061 11,367
Effective Group tax rate 51.4% 6.8%
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Deferred tax assets are regarded as realizable if a sufficient amount of taxable income is expected in the future. 
Deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards were mainly generated at SMA Solar Technology AG. A planning period 
of three years was taken as a basis.

SMA Solar Technology AG reported on December 31, 2015 corporation tax loss carryforwards in an amount 
of €222.1 million (2014: €231.4 million) and trade tax loss carryforwards amounting to €250.7 million (2014: 
€232.5 million. Corporate tax loss carryforwards amounting to €163.3 million (2014: €154.6 million) and trade 
tax loss carryforwards amounting to €191.9 million (2014: €155.7 million) were not used for the formation of 
deferred tax assets from loss carryforwards.

15. Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated earnings attributable to the shareholders by the 
weighted average of ordinary shares in circulation during the period. The number of shares in the 2015 fiscal  
year amounted to 34.7 million, as in the previous year.

The consolidated earnings attributable to the shareholders are the consolidated net result after tax. As there were  
no shares held by the Company on the reporting date or any other special cases, the number of ordinary shares 
issued equated to the number of shares in circulation.

The calculation of earnings in relation to the weighted average number of shares in accordance with IAS 33 resulted 
in earnings of €0.41 per share for the period from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015, with an average 
weighted number of shares of 34.7 million and earnings of €–5.16 per share for the period from January 1, 2014 
to December 31, 2014, with an average weighted number of shares of 34.7 million.

There were no options or conversion options as of the reporting date. Therefore, there were no diluting effects and 
the diluted and basic earnings per share were the same.

Pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, the distributable dividend is based on the net profit, which is 
recorded in the Annual Financial Statements of SMA Solar Technology AG prepared according to the provisions  
of the German Commercial Code and the Stock Corporation Act.

The Managing Board will recommend that the Supervisory Board propose a dividend of €0.14 per qualifying 
bearer share for the 2015 fiscal year at the Annual General Meeting on May 31, 2016. The amount paid out  
in dividends will thus amount to €4.9 million (2014: €0.0 million).

The corporation tax rate of 15% and the solidarity surcharge rate of 5.5% are to be applied for corporations 
based in Germany. In addition, domestic companies and partnerships are subject to trade tax, which is influenced 
by assessment rates specific to the particular municipality. The average trade tax rate to be applied at the level of  
the parent company is 14.8% (2014: 14.9%). The overall tax rate of the Group’s parent company is thus 30.6% 
(2014: 30.7%).

The effects of deviations between the relevant tax rates at the level of the domestic and foreign Group companies 
and the overall tax rate at the level of the Group’s parent company are shown in the reconciliation statement under 
taxraterelated deviations in Germany and abroad.

No deferred taxes were formed for the undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries, including accrued currency 
translation differences, because this income and these translation differences are either not subject to corresponding 
taxation or are not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

As of December 31, 2015, there were current income tax receivables amounting to €3.9 million (2014: €12.6 million) 
and current income tax liabilities of €9.9 million (2014: €14.6 million).

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were recorded directly in equity at €0.0 million (2014: €0.02 million). 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities were distributed across the following items:

The deferred tax income of €9.2 million results from the changes of the balance sheet items as shown above. The 
difference between the tax income and the change in balance sheet items of €12.3 million resulted primariliy from 
exchange rate differences of the subsidiaries in the U.S.

2015/12/31 2014/12/31

in €‘000
Deferred tax

assets
Deferred tax

liabilities
Deferred tax

assets
Deferred tax

liabilities
Intangible assets 282 –22,598 327 –19,773
Fixed assets 7,082 –648 3,082 –1,923
Financial assets 8,016 –24 7,113 –1,514
Inventories 7,003 –517 4,386 –420
Other assets 574 –149 870 –477
Other provisions 6,580 –1 5,987 –34
Other liabilities 33,436 –465 25,373 –202
Loss carryforwards 21,857 0 25,359 0

84,830 -24,402 72,497 –24,343 
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€18.9 million (2014: €29.8 million) of the additions of intangible assets in progress included development projects.
In relation to development projects, amortization of intangible assets is posted in the Income Statement under  
cost of sales. Amortization of development projects and intangible assets in progress included an impairment loss 
of €6.0 million (2014: €8.6 million) due to changes in sales forecasts and partly discontinuation of a development 
project. The impairment relates to products of the Residential (€3.1 million) and Commercial (€1.3 million) business 
units and an amount of €1.6 million charged proportionally to all business units. The amortization was made to the 
value in use. An aftertax interest rate of 10.2% (2014: 9.1%) was applied. Amortization of software is allocated to 
the functional areas dependent on use. 

The goodwill is assigned to cashgenerating units on the basis of the organizational structure. The goodwill from the 
asset deal with Danfoss is assigned to the Commercial business unit (€0.3 million), from the asset deal with Phoenix  
to the Service business unit (€0.2 million) and that of dtw Sp. z o.o. (2015: €0.3 million, 2014: €0.3 million) to  
the Residential business unit.

The existing goodwill was confirmed in the impairment reviews at the end of the fiscal year. The progression of cash 
flow was extrapolated for the period after the third year on the basis of a constant annual growth rate of 1.0% 
(2014: 1.0%). This was derived from the average longterm growth rate on the photovoltaic market. The aftertax 
interest rates applied ranged between 8,0% and 11,2% (pretax interest rates: 10,4% to 13,4%). The Managing 
Board believes that no reasonably conceivable change in basic assumptions on the basis of which the recover  able 
amount is determined would result in the cumulative book value of the cashgenerating unit exceeding its cumulative 
recoverable amount.

Notes to the Balance Sheet SMA Group

16. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets evolved in the fiscal years under review as follows:

in €‘000 Goodwill

Develop-
ment

projects

Patents/
licenses/

other 
 rights Software

Intangible 
assets in

 progress
Prepay-

ments Total
Acquisition costs 
2015/01/01 13,660 86,853 20,196 45,208 47,605 0 213,522
Changes in currency 33 980 22 1 1,036
Additions 12,550 108 179 20,152 32,989
Disposals 3 3
Transfers 36,056 24 1,848 –37,921 7
2015/12/31 13,660 135,492 21,308 47,254 29,837 0 247,551
Amortization 
2015/01/01 12,862 61,961 14,153 32,479 2,253 123,708
Changes in currency 0 –8 864 10 866
Additions 24,235 850 5,253 1,343 31,681
Disposals 3 3
2015/12/31 12,862 86,188 15,867 37,739 3,596 156,252
Net value 2014/12/31 798 24,892 6,043 12,729 45,352 0 89,814
Net value 2015/12/31 798 49,304 5,441 9,515 26,241 0 91,299
Acquisition costs       
2014/01/01 13,173 74,966 14,539 39,854 18,359 12 160,903
Changes in currency –260 1,490 19 –3 1,246
Additions from acquisitions 487 1,291 4,015 5,793
Additions 4,417 0 154 41,474 46,045
Disposals 506 12 518
Transfers 6,439 152 5,687 –12,225 53
2014/12/31 13,660 86,853 20,196 45,208 47,605 0 213,522
Amortization  
2014/01/01 0 40,865 573 27,318 68,756
Changes in currency 0 –166 463 6 303
Additions 12,862 21,262 13,117 5,450 2,253 54,944
Disposals 295 295
2014/12/31 12,862 61,961 14,153 32,479 2,253 123,708
Net value 2013/12/31 13,173 34,101 13,966 12,536 18,359 12 92,147
Net value 2014/12/31 798 24,892 6,043 12,729 45,352 0 89,814
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Fixed assets evolved as follows in the 2014 fiscal year:

18. Inventories

Inventories of the SMA Group are made up as follows:

Inventories are measured at the lower value of acquisition or production costs and net realizable value. Inventory 
declined chiefly because of positive business performance and extensive action taken to increase throughput speeds 
and eliminate interim storage. The balance of impairment accounts amounted to €57.9 million (2014: €58.2 million),  
of which €50.7 million concern central corporate functions, €3.3 million the Zeversolar segment, €1.6 million Service 
and €2.3 million Other Business. The total acquisition and production costs recognized as expenses include impair-
ments on net realizable value of €14.1 million. The book value of the inventories written down to the net realizable 
value amounted to €0.8 million as of December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: €9.7 million).

in €‘000

Land 
and buildings 
incl. buildings  
on third-party 

property

Technical 
equipment and 

machinery

Other equip-
ment, plant  

and office 
equipment

Prepayments 
and 

assets under 
construction Total

Acquisition costs     
2014/01/01 272,451 67,260 187,971 8,462 536,144
Changes in currency 2,308 739 2,041 5,088
Additions from acquisitions 120 120
Additions 1,455 1,002 3,253 23,789 29,499
Disposals 2,684 355 14,406 17,445
Transfers 4,856 7,619 14,846 –27,374 –53
2014/12/31 278,386 76,265 193,825 4,877 553,353
Depreciation 
2014/01/01 44,815 26,388 116,054 0 187,257
Changes in currency 865 248 1,196 2,309
Additions 15,704 6,380 29,461 51,545
Disposals 1,061 150 9,879 11,090
2014/12/31 60,323 32,866 136,832 0 230,021
Net value 2013/12/31 227,635 40,872 71,917 8,462 348,886
Net value 2014/12/31 218,063 43,399 56,993 4,877 323,332

in €‘000 2015/12/31 2014/12/31
Raw materials, consumables and supplies 74,858 100,301
Unfinished goods, work in progress 21,401 25,102
Finished goods and goods for resale 49,329 77,453
Prepayments 543 312

146,131 203,168

17. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets evolved as follows in the 2015 fiscal year:

The additions to land and buildings mainly related to the extension or conversion of buildings.

As of December 31, 2015, prepayments and assets under construction are included in particular prepayments for 
tools and machinery.

Investments of €3.5 million (2014: €2.6 million) were made for the expansion of the infrastructure of our subsidiaries 
in the U.S.

The book losses from asset disposals in the fiscal year related mainly to Corporate Functions; in the previous year, 
the Residential (€4.0 million) and Service (€0.9 million) business units and Corporate Functions (€1.3 million) were 
affected.

Fixed assets of €22.6 million (2014: €27.6 million) were negatively affected by mortgage liens used to secure 
financial liabilities. 

in €‘000

Land 
and buildings 
incl. buildings  
on third-party 

property

Technical 
equipment and 

machinery

Other equip-
ment, plant  

and office 
equipment

Prepayments 
and 

assets under 
construction Total

Acquisition costs     
2015/01/01 278,386 76,265 193,825 4,877 553,353
Changes in currency 2,186 714 1,547 124 4,571
Additions 3,639 108 1,574 12,271 17,592
Disposals 2,134 2,199 12,228 16,561
Transfers 1,061 3,290 11,630 –15,988 –7
2015/12/31 283,138 78,178 196,348 1,284 558,948
Depreciation 
2015/01/01 60,323 32,866 136,832 0 230,021
Changes in currency 905 275 1,162 2,342
Additions 16,598 6,313 24,403 47,314
Disposals 2,022 1,884 11,407 15,313
2015/12/31 75,804 37,570 150,990 0 264,364
Net value 2014/12/31 218,063 43,399 56,993 4,877 323,332
Net value 2015/12/31 207,334 40,608 45,358 1,284 294,584
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20. Other Financial Assets

As of December 31, 2015, other current financial assets include in particular financial assets and time deposits with  
a term to maturity of over three months and accrued interest totaling €97.7 million (2014: €82.5 million). The other 
noncurrent financial assets primarily include a rent deposit for buildings in the U.S. amounting to USD 2.5 million 
(2014: USD 2.5 million).

21. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand as well as bank balances, checks, payments in transit and deposits 
with an original term to maturity of less than three months. Bank balances bear interest at variable interest rates  
applicable to deposits subject to call.

As of December 31, 2015, the Group had unused credit lines amounting to €41.7 million (2014: €22.9 million) for 
which all conditions for use had been met. The credit lines have been provided on an “until further notice” basis.

22. Shareholders‘ Equity

The change in equity, including effects not shown in the income statement, is presented in the statement of changes 
in equity. Signifant impact was caused by the consolidated net result and effects from foreign exchange gains/
losses. 

The capital reserve contains agio amounts from the issuance of SMA Solar Technology AG shares. The other retained 
earnings contain mainly the retained profit and the statutory reserve.

Shares in SMA AG are nopar value bearer shares.

The Articles of Incorporation include provisions on the powers of the Managing Board regarding Authorized 
 Capital II. The Managing Board, after obtaining the consent of the Supervisory Board, is entitled to increase the 
share capital on one or several occasions by up to a total of €10 million by issuing new bearer shares in return 
for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind in the period up to May 22, 2018. The Managing Board, with 
the  consent of the Supervisory Board, is entitled to cancel the statutory subscription rights of shareholders: a) in  
the case of capital increases in return for contributions in kind for the acquisition of or investment in companies, parts 
of  companies or investments in companies, b) for the purpose of issuing shares to employees of the Company and 
companies  affiliated with the Company, c) to exclude fractions and d) in the case of capital increases in return for 
cash  contributions if the issue amount of the new shares does not fall significantly below the stock exchange price  
of  shares of the same class and terms, which are already listed at the time the Managing Board sets the final issue 
amount;  the total pro rata amount of the issued capital attributable to the new shares for which the  subscription  
right is excluded may not exceed 10% of the issued capital available at the time the new shares are issued.

The Annual General Meeting of SMA Solar Technology AG on May 21, 2015 followed the Managing and Super-
visory Boards’ proposal not to distribute a dividend for the 2014 fiscal year due to the persistently volatile market 
environment (2013: €0.00 per dividendbearing share).

19. Trade Receivables and Other Receivables 

Trade receivables are noninterestbearing and, with the exception of the Chinese market, usually due between  
30 and 90 days. No significant extensions to payment terms were granted in the reporting period.

The other receivables mainly comprise prepaid expenses and other receivables due from tax authorities, which  
were not overdue on the reporting date.

The age structure of trade receivables was as follows on the reporting dates:

As of December 31, 2015, value adjustments with a nominal value of €21.7 million (2014: €21.7 million) were 
carried out on trade receivables. No value adjustments were made regarding overdue receivables as of December 31, 
2015, this amounted to €52.6 million (December 31, 2014: €31.5 million) as there were no significant changes  
in the credit rating of the customers. Settlement of the receivables is expected.

The value adjustment account of trade receivables evolved as follows:

Furthermore, no adjustments had to be made for the other receivables and financial assets. The maximum default 
risk equates to the carrying amount shown in the balance sheet.

Neither 
overdue nor 

impaired

Overdue, but not impaired

in €‘000  Book value  < 30 days  30 to 60 days  60 to 90 days  > 90 days
2015 180,043 127,429 23,476 13,753 6,449 8,936
2014 159,617 128,154 18,665 5,504 564 6,940

in €‘000

Individual 
value 

correction

Value 
correction on 

portfolio basis Total
2014/01/01 16,607 467  17,074
Additions with effect on the expenses (net) 6,295 230 6,525
Usage  –393  0 –393
Release  –1,863 –175 –2,038
Exchange rate difference 515 2 517
2014/12/31  21,161 524  21,685
Additions with effect on the expenses (net) 2,181 29 2,210
Usage –452  0 –452
Release –1,817 –287 2,104
Exchange rate difference 349 3 352
2015/12/31  21,422 269 21,691
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Warranty provisions consist of general warranty obligations (periods of between five and ten years) for the various 
product areas within the Group. In addition, provisions are set aside for individual cases that are expected to be 
used in the following year.

Personnel provisions mainly include obligations for planned restructuring measures. A significant portion of them 
 affected cash in the reporting period. Reversals of provisions in an amount of €10.0 million (2014: €0.0 million) 
were carried out as a result of obligations becoming more specific. In spite of the necessary further reduction of  
the number of employees in the period under review, an adaptation of the provision for restructuring did not take  
place, because it could be accomplished by a new voluntary compensation plan. For the remaining portion, 
the  provision for the layoffs is expected to affect cash in 2016 and was thus not discounted. Also included are 
 obligations for longservice anniversaries, death benefits and partial retirement benefits.

Other provisions included restoration obligations, purchase commitments and obligations for servicerelated 
 benefits. 

SMA expects that these provisions will, in general, affect cash within the next 12 months to 20 years (long-term 
 service contracts).

24. Financial Liabilities

Liabilities due to credit institutions mainly include the financial liabilities included in SMA’s Consolidated Financial 
 Statements as a result of the firsttime consolidation of the subgroup Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd. in 
March 2013. In addition, liabilities to credit institutions were incurred for financing of SMA Immo properties  
and a PV system for SMA AG. They have an average time to maturity of 10 years.

The significant reduction in the level of loan liabilities resulted from the repayment of external loans by Zeversolar  
in connection with the conversion to internal credit financing. In addition, repayments were made by SMA AG  
and SMA Immo. 

Derivative financial liabilities mainly consist of a written put option on Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd.  
shares. Interest derivatives, currency futures and options were also recognized, as in the previous year.

in €‘000  2015/12/31  2014/12/31
Liabilities due to credit institutions 39,306 62,592
Derivative financial liabilities 7,617 6,763

46,923 69,355

The objective of capital management is to maintain SMA’s financial substance and ensure necessary flexibility.

The equity ratio is used to measure the financial security of SMA. This is the ratio of equity shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet to total assets. Accordingly, the financing structure is characterized by a conservative capital structure 
dominated by internal financing. As of the reporting date, the equity ratio was 49.1% (2014: 46.8%). External 
 financing occurs almost exclusively through liabilities arising from operative business.

23. Provisions

Provisions account for all discernible risks from pending transactions and all contingent liabilities on the balance 
sheet date and break down as follows:

The provisions for statutory warranties are attributable to the segments as follows:

in €‘000 Warranties Personnel Other Total
2015/01/01 139,817 53,848 19,513 213,178
Additions 51,535 386 6,361 58,282
Usage 46,380 37,986 1,001 85,367
Release 9,058 9,981 1,543 20,582
Compounding 12 37 3 52
Transfers 1,570 –1,570 0
Changes in currency 3,865 30 579 4,474
2015/12/31 139,790 7,904 22,342 170,036
Current in 2015 62,176 5,653 15,268 83,097
Non-current in 2015 77,614 2,251 7,074 86,939

139,790 7,904 22,342 170,036
Current in 2014 63,862 50,832 11,365 126,059
Non-current in 2014 75,955 3,016 8,148 87,119

139,817 53,848 19,513 213,178

in €‘000  2015/12/31  2014/12/31
Residential 45,955 58,823
Commercial 51,579 40,607
Utility 34,803 33,344
Service 0 0
Other Business 7,453 7,043

139,790 139,817
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28. Additional Disclosures Relating to Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and time deposits mainly have short terms to maturity. Accordingly, 
their book values on the reporting date were almost identical to their fair value.

The fair values of other noncurrent receivables correspond to the present values of the payments related to the 
assets while taking into account current interest parameters, which reflect market and partnerrelated changes in  
conditions and expectations.

Other financial investments relate to investments not included in the scope of consolidation. However, since no 
 active market exists for these investments and a reliable measurement of their fair value was not possible, measure  
ment on the relevant reporting dates was effected at amortized cost of acquisition.

Trade payables and other current financial liabilities normally have short terms to maturity. The recognized values 
are almost identical to the fair values.

Assessment
category 

according to
 IAS 39

2015/12/31 2014/12/31

in €‘000
Market  

value Book value
 Market 

value  Book value
Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents LaR 200,180 200,180 183,988 183,988
Trade receivables LaR 180,043 180,043 159,617 159,617
Other financial investments AfS 5 5 5 5
Other financial assets 127,157 127,157 111,015 111,015
of which institutional mutual funds FAHfT 47,636 47,636 47,480 47,480
of which other (time deposits) LaR 79,521 79,521 63,310 63,310
of which derivatives that do not qualify  
for hedge accounting FAHfT 0 0 225 225

Liabilities  
Trade payables  FLAC 103,134 103,134 111,773 111,773
Financial liabilities 46,923 46,923 69,355 69,355
of which liabilities due to credit institutions  FLAC 39,306 39,306 62,592 62,592
of which derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting  FLHfT 7,617 7,617 6,763 6,763
Other financial liabilities  FLAC 23,258 23,258 13,865 13,865

Of which grouped by categories according to IAS 39: 
Loans and Receivables  LaR 459,744 459,744 406,915 406,915
Financial Liabilities Measured  
at Amortised Cost  FLAC 165,698 165,698 188,230 188,230
Financial Assets Held for Trading  FAHfT 47,636 47,636 47,705 47,705
Financial Liabilities Held for Trading  FLHfT 7,617 7,617 6,763 6,763
Available for Sale Financial Assets  AfS 5 5 5 5

25. Trade Payables

Trade payables are noninterestbearing and are normally due within 30 to 90 days.

26. Other Financial Liabilities

The liabilities of the Sales department primarily contain liabilities to customers from advance payments received and 
bonus agreements.

27. Other Liabilities (without other financial liabilities)

The accrual item for extended warranties includes liabilities from chargeable extended warranties granted for prod
ucts from the Residential and Commercial business units. Liabilities in the Human Resources department contain obli-
gations to employees regarding performancebased bonuses and positive vacation and flextime balances as well 
as variable salary components and contributions to the workers’ compensation association and to social insurance 
systems. The main items included in the liabilities due to tax authorities are tax liabilities from payroll accounting. 
The liabilities from subsidies received relate to taxable government grants from funds of the commontask program 
“Improvement of the Regional Economic Structure” (EU GA), granted as investment subsidies. The total amount of 
retransfer of government grants is stated under other operating income.

in €‘000  2015/12/31  2014/12/31
Sales department liabilities 10,272 5,237
Other 12,986 8,628
 23,258 13,865
Current 21,846 10,869
Non-current 1,412 2,996

23,258 13,865

in €‘000  2015/12/31  2014/12/31
Liabilities in the Human Resources department 25,191 23,669
Accrual item for extended warranties 146,130 129,715
Liabilities from prepayments received 31,613 21,106
Liabilities due to tax authorities 6,735 3,606
Liabilities from subsidies received 427 986
Other 2,464 2,127
 212,560 181,209
Current 71,384 54,280
Non-current 141,176 126,929

212,560 181,209
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The following table shows the allocation of our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values in the balance 
sheet using the three levels of the fair value hierarchy:

The levels of the fair value hierarchy and their application to our assets and liabilities are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable directly (e.g., prices) or indirectly (e.g., derived  
from prices).

Level 3: Inputs that are not based on observable market data for assets and liabilities.

The 2015 net results for financial instruments are as follows:

2015  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
in €‘000
Financial assets measured at fair value     
Institutional mutual funds 47,636 47,636
Derivative financial instruments 0 0
Financial liabilities, measured at fair value 
Derivative financial instruments 3,731 3,886 7,617

2014 
in €‘000
Financial assets, measured at fair value     
Institutional mutual funds 47,480 47,480
Derivative financial instruments 225 225
Financial liabilities, measured at fair value 
Derivative financial instruments 3,015 3,748 6,763

 From  
interest

 From subsequent  
measurement

 From  
disposal Net result

in €‘000
Currency

translation
Value

correction
Loans and Receivables (LaR) 400 12,050 –4,314 –3,046 5,090
Financial Liabilities Measured 
at Amortised Cost (FLAC) –3,394 0 0 0 –3,394
Financial Assets Held for Trading (FAHfT) 1,387 0 –1,094 –6,558 –6,265
Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) –180 0 –1,529 0 –1,709
Total –1,787 12,050 –6,937 –9,604 –6,278

Fair values of other noncurrent financial liabilities are determined by referring to the present values of the payments 
associated with the debts. For discounting, termrelated commercially available interest rates were used (level 2).

Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge against currency risks arising from operative business. These 
include currency futures and options. In principle, these instruments are only used for hedging purposes. As is the 
case with all financial instruments, they are recognized at fair value upon initial recognition. The fair values are  
also relevant for subsequent measurements. The fair value of traded derivative financial instruments is identical to the 
market value. This value may be positive or negative. The measurement of forward transactions is based on forward 
contract rates. Options are measured in line with the BlackScholes and HeathJarrowMorton option pricing models. 
The parameters that were used in the valuation models are in line with market data.

The put option in the amount of the present value of the redemption amount of the shares (€3.9 million) granted in 
connection with the acquisition of Zeversolar shares is posted under derivative financial liabilities without a hedge 
relationship.

There was a change in the present value of the redemption amount recognized in profit and loss between Decem ber 31, 
2014 and the balance sheet date amounting to €0.2 million. This change resulted from interest and  currency effects.

The present value of the redemption amount is determined on a quarterly basis in Corporate Accounting using a  
discounted cash flow methodology (level 3 of the fair value hierarchy), taking account of the adjusted contractual 
regulation of the put option. This regulation stipulates that the redemption amount lies within a contractually agreed 
upon corridor of between RMB 27.4 million (December 31, 2015: €3.9 million) and RMB 41.1 million (December 31, 
2015: €5.8 million). Within this corridor, the redemption amount varies depending on EBIT and interest rate as 
nonobservable input factors. These are derived from Zeversolar’s internal planning. A sensitivity analysis shows that 
a 10% increase in the Zeversolar EBIT, taking into account the corridor, would not result in a change in the present 
value of the redemption price, and neither would a 10% reduction in EBIT. Similarly, an increase or decrease in the 
interest rate of 100 basis points would not result in any material change in the present value of the redemption 
amount, with regard to the corridor.
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29. Obligations Under Leases and Other Financial Obligations

The obligations of the SMA Group under operating leases relate mainly to buildings and, to a minor extent, to   
plant and office equipment. Expenses recognized through profit and loss amounted to €24.3 million (2014: 
€26.1 million) in the year under review.

Other financial obligations arose primarily from tenancy agreements and operating leases for buildings, office 
 trailers, plant and office equipment concluded by the Group as the lessee. The terms to maturity of future payments  
to the end of the minimum term of the agreements are as follows:

On the reporting date, there were no obligations from finance leasing in the SMA Group.

In addition, there were financial obligations to third parties under the purchase order commitment for investment  
orders placed amounting to €1.4 million (2014: €3.2 million). There were financial obligations for intangible  
assets amounting to €0.5 million (2014: €2.0 million). The other financial obligations were within the framework 
customary for the business.

30. Contingencies

As of December 31, 2015, there were no changes compared to the previous year (€0.05 million).

in €‘000 2015/12/31 2014/12/31
Maturity of less than 1 year 10,479 13,337
Maturity of 1 to 5 years 28,816 36,157
Maturity of more than 5 years 5,307 6,805

44,602 56,299

The 2014 net results for financial instruments are as follows:

Interests from financial instruments are shown in the financial result. The SMA Group recognizes other components 
of the net result in other operating expenses and other operating income.

In detail, the nominal payment obligations of financial liabilities are as follows:

 From  
interest

 From subsequent  
measurement

 From  
disposal Net result

in €‘000
Currency

translation
Value

correction
Loans and Receivables (LaR) 643 10,134 –8,563 –1,031 1,183
Financial Liabilities Measured 
at Amortised Cost (FLAC) –3,398 0 0 0 –3,398
Financial Assets Held for Trading (FAHfT) 1,116 0 –1,287 –4,751 –4,922
Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) –194 0 –18 0 –212
AvailableforSale (AfS) 814 0 0 –235 579
Total –1,019 10,134 –9,868 –6,017 –6,770

in €‘000  Book value
Total cash 

flows  < 1 year 1 to 3 years  4 to 5 years > 5 years
2015
Trade payables 103,134 103,134 103,134 0 0 0
Financial liabilities 46,923 51,573 21,003 10,606 7,621 12,343
of which from liabilities due 
to credit institutions 39,306 43,931 17,610 6,483 7,505 12,333
of which from derivatives 
that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting 7,617 7,642 3,393 4,123 116 10
Other financial liabilities 23,258 23,258 21,846 1,412 0 0

2014
Trade payables 111,773 111,773 111,773 0 0 0
Financial liabilities 69,355 75,029 27,809 23,973 6,960 16,287
of which from liabilities due 
to credit institutions 62,592 68,243 25,269 19,946 6,791 16,237
of which from derivatives 
that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting 6,763 6,786 2,5401 4,027 169 50
Other financial liabilities 13,865 13,865 13,865 0 0 0

1   Contains the net cash flow from forward exchange transactions amounting to €3,232k, providing a gross fulfillment. Payment obligations amount to €97,750k, payment 
claims amount to €94,519k. The closing rate was used for the conversion of the foreign currency transaction.

150 SMA Solar Technology AG    Annual Report 2015 To Our Shareholders
Corporate Governance 
Consolidated Management Report
Consolidated Financial Statements    Notes to the Balance Sheet SMA Group 
Other Information

151



33. Net Cash Flow From Investing Activities

In fiscal year 2015, net cash flow from financing activities amounted to €23.2 million (2014: €10.0 million).  
It included the repayment of loan liabilities for Jiangsu Zeversolar New Energy Co., Ltd. (Zeversolar) and  
SMA Immo as well as borrowings from Zeversolar in the 2015 fiscal year.

34. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to €200.2 million (2014: €184.0 million) include cash in hand, bank 
 balances and shortterm deposits with an original term to maturity of less than three months. 

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows SMA Group
The liquid funds shown in the Statement of Cash Flows correspond to the balance sheet item “Cash and cash 
 equivalents.”

31. Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities

The gross cash flow of €61.8 million (2014: €37.3 million) reflects the operating income prior to commitment of 
funds. It improved primarily because of the improvement of consolidated earnings before taxes by €99.1 million  
year on year. The improvement was reached in spite of the considerable cash outflows in the course of the socially 
responsible workforce reduction.

Net cash flow from operating activities in fiscal year 2015 amounted to €104.2 million (2014: €27.6 million). 

The change in net working capital was chiefly due to a €23.2 million increase in trade receivables that affected the 
Statement of Cash Flows (2014: €37.7 million). Inventory was down mainly due to the positive business develop  
ment, extensive measures to increase throughput speed as well as the abolition of temporary storage facilities  
by 28.1% to €146.1 million (2014: €203.2 million).  
The decline in inventories relevant to the Statement of Cash Flows amounted to €40.4 million (2014: increase  
of €25.9 million). Furthermore, an €8.6 million decline in trade pay ables relevant to the Statement of Cash Flows  
occurred (2014: €51.0 million increase).

32. Net Cash Flow From Investing Activities

In the 2015 fiscal year, net cash flow from investing activities increased to €66.3 million compared to the previous 
year’s figure of €24.7 million. The outflow of funds for investments in fixed assets and intangible assets amounted to 
€50.6 million (2014: €75.5 million). With €31.5 million (2014: €40.9 million), an essential part of the investments 
was attributable to capitalized development projects, in particular for the introduction of a new product line of cen
tral inverters. The balance of the proceeds and payments of the cash investment amounted to€15,0 million (2014: 
€101.4 million). The outflow of funds from the asset deal with Danfoss relevant to the Statement of Cash Flows 
amounted to €1.5 million in the fiscal year (2014: €3.4 million outflow of funds from the asset deals with Danfoss  
and Phoenix).

Pursuant to IAS 7.16, monetary investments with a term to maturity of more than three months are allocated to the 
net cash flow from investing activities.
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Other Disclosures

35. Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Since January 1, 2016, the Managing Board of the SMA Solar Technology AG consists of the following members: 
Roland Grebe (HR and IT), Dr.Ing. Jürgen Reinert (Operations and Technology), PierrePascal Urbon (Speaker of 
the Management, Finance/Legal and Distribution).

36. Related Party Disclosures

Related persons:
According to the definition contained in IAS 24, related persons are persons responsible for planning, controlling 
and monitoring the Company’s activities. Related persons include the members of the Managing Board and the  
Supervisory Board of SMA Solar Technology AG as well as their close relatives. 

In the year under review, the following were members of the Managing Board of SMA Solar Technology AG:

Roland Grebe,  
Board Member for HR and IT

Dr.–Ing. Jürgen Reinert,  
Board Member for Operations and Technology

Martin Kinne,  
Chief Sales and Service Officer  
(until December 31, 2015)

Lydia Sommer,  
Board Member for Finance and HR  
(until February 28, 2015)

PierrePascal Urbon,  
Chief Executive Officer, Finance/Legal and Sales

As part of the Company’s transformation, the Supervisory Board of SMA Solar Technology AG reduced the number 
of Managing Board members in the reporting period. Lydia Sommer left the Managing Board at the end of Feb
ruary 2015, Martin Kinne at the end of December 2015. 

In the year under review, the following persons were members of the Supervisory Board of SMA Solar Technology AG:

Dr.Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer,  
Chairman of the Foundation Managing Board,  
Chairman (until January 6, 2015) 

Dr. Erik Ehrentraut,  
Consultant 
(Chairman as of February 11, 2015)

Kim Fausing,  
COO Danfoss  
(Deputy Chairman as of February 11, 2015)

Roland Bent,  
General Manager  
(as of January 28, 2015)

Peter Drews,  
Chairman of the Foundation Managing Board

Reiner Wettlaufer,  
Chairman of the Foundation Managing Board

Dr. Winfried Hoffmann,  
Consultant

Dr. Günther Häckl,  
Employee representative (until May 21, 2015)

Johannes Häde,  
Employee representative

Mirko Zeidler,  
Employee representative (until May 21, 2015)

Joachim Schlosser,  
Employee representative (until May 21, 2015)

Yvonne Siebert,  
Employee representative (as of May 21, 2015)

Dr. Matthias Victor, Employee representative  
(as of May 21, 2015)

HansDieter Werner, Employee representative 
(as of May 21, 2015)

Oliver Dietzel,  
Trade union secretary

Heike Haigis,  
Trade union secretary

Since the scheduled election on May 21, 2015, the employees have been represented on the Supervisory Board 
by Oliver Dietzel, Johannes Häde, Heike Haigis, Yvonne Siebert, Dr. Matthias Victor and HansDieter Werner. 
 Sadly, company founder and longstanding Chairman of the Supervisory Board Dr.Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer died 
on  January 6, 2015, after a long and serious illness. Dr.Ing. h. c. Günther Cramer spent his entire life shaping the 
history of SMA as a pioneer and leader of the energy transition. The vacant position on the SMA Supervisory Board 
was filled by Roland Bent, member of the Executive Board of Phoenix Contact GmbH & Co. KG.

Remuneration of key management members of the Group, which must be disclosed under IAS 24, includes remu ner
ation of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board.

In the reporting year, the total emoluments payable to the members of the Managing Board amounted to  
€6.1 million (2014: €3.0 million). The nonperformancebased component amounted to €4.7 (2014: €1.6 million), 
the performancebased components to €1.4 million (2014: €1.4 million). The compensation relates exclusively  
to shortterm benefits. No compensation for tasks in subsidiaries was granted.

The total compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board in the year under review amounted to €0.5 million (2014: 
€0.5 million).  
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37. Objectives and Methods Concerning Financial Risk Management

Financial risk management is integrated into the Groupwide hedging policy. Deliberate treatment of potential  
risks and sound control as well as successful management of such risks when they occur are supported by an  
ac companying information and communication policy as well as by further education and training of employees.  
The principle underlying the Group’s hedging policy in the financial field is to protect against significant price, 
currency and interest risks by means of contracts and hedging transactions to an economically reasonable extent.

The financial instruments of the Group relate primarily to trade receivables and cash resulting directly from 
 operating activities. In addition, there is a particular amount of trade payables that also arise from operating 
 activities. The Group also uses derivative financial instruments as part of exchange and interest rate hedging.  
The Group’s main risks in relation to financial instruments are interestbased cash flow risks as well as liquidity, 
 currency and  credit risks. The strategies and procedures for controlling individual types of risks defined in the  
context of the Group’s overall hedging policy are presented below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risks within the SMA Group mainly arise in the case of financial liabilities and noncurrent portions  
of certain provisions. Interest on the aforementioned liabilities is not paid by the contracting party and is therefore 
discounted at the interest rate usual in the market, which means that there is no separate control of the interest  
rate risk. The variable interestbearing portion of existing financial liabilities is secured through an interest rate  
swap. This ensures that interest rates are hedged in the long term and allows financing costs to be reliably cal
culated over the contract’s term. The following sensitivities can be calculated for the financial instruments held  
on the balance sheet date:

If the market interest rate had increased by 1.0 percentage point, the impact on the financial result would have  
been €0.2 million (2014: €0.1 million). The effect on equity in relation to the market valuation of financial instru  
ments of the availableforsale category would have been neutral (December 31, 2014: neutral). When calculating 
sensitivities with regard to a decline in interest rates of 1.0 percentage point, the effect on earnings before taxes 
would have been €–0.1 million (2014: €–0.1 million), and the effect on equity would have been neutral (Decem 
ber 31, 2014: neutral).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As a globally active company, the SMA Group is exposed to both transactionrelated and translationrelated for-
eign currency risks.

SMA assesses risks from an economical point of view. Using this point of view, foreign currency risks arise in the 
form of direct transaction risks that derive from any (current or planned) receivable or payable denominated in  
a foreign currency and the resulting payment flow. The SMA Group’s extensive business activity in North America 
 means that foreign currency risks at present mainly arise in U.S. dollars. Currency risks also arise in particular from  
the sales activity of our Japanese subsidiary. In light of the fact that a large portion of the added value attributable  

€0.4 million (2014: €0.4 million) of this was nonperformancebased fixed compensation, and €0.1 million (2014: €0.1 
million) was compensation for committee work. As in the previous year, this did not include any variable salary components. 
Kim Fausing has waived his entitlements from the Company. The remuneration paid to the members of the Managing and 
Supervisory Boards is shown in detail in a separate remuneration report in line with the criteria of the German Corporate 
Governance Code. The complete Remuneration Report is included in the Consolidated Management Report.

Members of the Supervisory Board hold the following positions in statutory supervisory boards and similar   
con trolling bodies of commercial enterprises:

Roland Bent,  
member on the boards of four international Phoenix Contact companies:  
Phoenix Contact (China) Holding Co. Ltd.,  
Phoenix Contact (Nanjing) R&D and Engineering Center Co. Ltd.,  
Phoenix Contact Holding Inc. and 
Phoenix Contact Development & Manufacturing Inc. in the U.S.

Kim Fausing,  
Deputy Chairman of the Board at Velux A/S,  
Hørsholm, Denmark, and Member of the Board at Hilti AG, Liechtenstein

Dr. Winfried Hoffmann, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Solar Fabrik AG, Freiburg, and  
Member of the Supervisory Board of the Institute for Solar Energy Research, Hamelin

Related entities:
On May 28, 2014, SMA concluded an agreement regarding a close strategic partnership with Danfoss A/S.  As part  
of this partnership, Danfoss acquired a 20% stake in SMA and therefore now also belongs to the group of related entities. 
SMA entered into a strategic partnership with Danfoss in the areas of Purchasing, Sales and R&D. SMA also performs 
services on behalf of Danfoss.  
All agreements were concluded under fair market conditions. The business relationships between SMA and Danfoss in 
the fiscal year are presented in the table below. There is no material collateralization nor are there guarantees.

Other related entities are the Günther Cramer Foundation, Peter Drews Foundation and Reiner Wettlaufer  Foundation, 
which together established cdw Stiftungsverbund gGmbH (formerly SMA Stiftungsverbund gGmbH). No transactions  
requiring disclosure under IAS 24 were made with these entities in the reporting period.

in € million  2015 2014
Goods acquired from Danfoss 18.2 12.3
Services acquired from Danfoss 8.9 5.5
Services sold to Danfoss 3.2 2.2
Outstanding receivables at the end of the year 1.0 0.2
Outstanding liabilities at the end of the year 2.9 4.7
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With respect to all of the Group’s other financial assets such as cash and cash equivalents, availableforsale 
financial investments and derivative financial instruments, the maximum credit risk, should the counterparty  
fail to pay, corresponds to the book value of these instruments. This counterparty default risk is analyzed on a 
continuous basis and managed by means of corresponding business allocation – also taking into account   
potential opportunities – with regard to cluster risks and credit risks.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Company uses financial planning tools for early detection of future liquidity requirements. According to current 
planning, it can be assumed that the financial requirements will be covered in a reliably predictable time frame. 
Insurance contracts are concluded to hedge against the financial consequences of possible liability risks and dam age 
claims, insofar as this is reasonable and possible. The cover provided by such contracts is reviewed and adapted 
regularly.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The strategic objective of capital management within the SMA Group is to ensure financial flexibility and indepen
dence to make rapid use of the opportunities in a photovoltaic market characterized by strong growth. Profitable 
employment of the capital is measured through regular monitoring of net working capital. Within the SMA Group,  
net working capital is defined as the sum of inventories and trade receivables less trade payables. In order to be  
able to usefully measure relative capital consumption even in the event of strong corporate growth, net working 
capital is expressed in relation to sales. Through debtor management, which ensures that receivables are collected  
in good time, and linking inventories to sales as well as a constant dividend policy, the Company positions itself to 
achieve its objectives of financial flexibility and independence. In accordance with our intraGroup guidelines,  
the net working capital ratio determined in this way has to be below 21%. In the year under review, the equity  
ratio of the SMA Group was 49.1% (2014: 46.8%) and the net working capital ratio was 22.3% (2014: 31.2%).

38. Auditor‘s Fees

The fees paid to the auditor and recorded as an expense in the year under review break down as follows:

in €‘000 2015 2014
Financial statement auditing 486 365
Other audit-related services 13 17
Other services 52 4

551 386

to the North American companies is generated locally and sales in the local currency are balanced by expenditure 
in the local currency, the operative foreign currency risk in the SMA Group is limited. An intraGroup guideline 
ensures that SMA companies report their foreign currency risks to Corporate Treasury, provided there are no coun-
tryspecific restrictions in this regard. The remaining Groupwide risk is hedged by Corporate Treasury through the 
use of currency derivatives concluded externally with banks. Forward exchange transactions are the most commonly 
used method in this case. The use of options as part of the hedging strategy is also possible.

Translation risks mainly occur when the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries denominated in a foreign currency  
are converted to the parent company’s domestic currency when preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 T ranslation risks are not included within the scope of the active control of foreign currency risks.

Items denominated in foreign currencies, and the development of the exchange rate of those currencies, are 
monitored continuously and the risks are hedged, provided this is economically reasonable. The risks from hedging 
transactions in themselves are limited to the possibility that opportunities arising from a better price performance 
cannot be realized.

In order to present market risks, IFRS 7 requires sensitivity analyses which show the effects of hypothetical changes 
in relevant risk variables on earnings and equity. Currency risks are caused by financial instruments that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency and which are of a monetary nature; exchangerate 
related differences from the translation of financial dtatements into the Group currency are not taken into account.  
The U.S. dollar is deemed to be a relevant risk variable. The currency sensitivity analysis is based on original finan
cial instruments in the form of receivables. Through the use of hedging transactions (derivatives), which are designed  
to hedge the underlying transaction, the opposing effects that accompany changes in the exchange rate of the U.S. 
dollar are evened out. Accordingly, exchange rate changes have no impact on equity and only minor effects on 
earnings if hedging transactions are made.

An increase of 5% in the euro with respect to the U.S. dollar on December 31, 2015, would have led to a positive 
change in the currency derivatives of €4.8 million (2014: €0.8 million). A decrease of 5% in the euro with respect  
to the U.S. dollar on December 31, 2015 would have led to a reduction in the value of the currency derivatives of 
€5.3 million (2014: €0.9 million). As of December 31, 2015, the currency hedges related exclusively to EUR/USD.

Pursuant to IFRS, currency risks affect monetary financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency 
(i.e., in a currency other than the functional currency). This means that the foreign currency is the relevant risk 
variable. Translationrelated risks are not taken into account. Since the individual Group companies mainly conduct 
their operative business in their own functional currency, we rate the risk from exchange rate fluctuations resulting 
from our ongoing business activity as insignificant.

CREDIT RISK

For all deliveries to customers, collateral is requested depending on the volume of the respective transaction and 
the specific customer and country risk. Data from the customer’s previous business relationship, including payment 
practices and additional credit reports, are also used to avoid nonpayment. In addition, the Group performs a 
customer credit check, which is based on certain financial key ratios. By setting a credit limit in a timely manner or 
suspending orders, the Group avoids being exposed to a significant risk of nonpayment. If possible, the default 
risk is also limited by a commercial credit insurance. The maximum nonpayment risk is limited to the book value 
 disclosed in section 19. There are no major concentrations of nonpayment risks within the Group.
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The cost of financial statement auditing comprises the fees for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements as 
well as for the audit of the Financial Statements of SMA Solar Technology AG and its domestic subsidiaries, provided 
they are obligated to perform an audit pursuant to Section 316 of the German Commercial Code. The fees for  
auditrelated services and other audit work include expenses for the review of the Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The fees for other services contain expenses for other agreed upon single auditing and consulting  
activities, which were performed during the reporting year.

39. Declaration on the German Corporate Governance Code  
in Accordance With Section 161 AktG
The declaration required under Section 161 AktG on the recommendations issued by the Government Commission 
German Corporate Governance Code was given by the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board on December 3, 
2015, and made permanently available to shareholders on the SMA website at www.SMA.de.

40. Consolidated Financial Statements

As the ultimate parent company, SMA Solar Technology AG prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
the largest scope of consolidation as of December 31, 2015, which are filed with the operator of the Electronic  
Federal Gazette and subsequently published in the Electronic Federal Gazette.

Niestetal, March 3, 2016

SMA Solar Technology AG 
The Managing Board

Roland Grebe Dr.Ing. Jürgen Reinert PierrePascal Urbon
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Responsibility statement

We assure to the best of our knowledge that, in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, the Consoli
dated Financial Statements give a fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group 
and that the Consolidated Management Report gives a fair view of the course of business including the results of 
operations and the Group’s position and describes the fundamental opportunities and risks of the probable develop
ment of the Group.

Niestetal, March 3, 2016

SMA Solar Technology AG 
The Managing Board

Roland Grebe Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Reinert Pierre-Pascal Urbon
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We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared by SMA Solar Technology AG, niestetal – com
prising the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and 
the notes on the Consolidated Financial Statements – and the Consolidated Management Report for the fiscal  year 
from January 1 to December 31, 2015. The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Conso-
lidated Management Report in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the european Union (eU), and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1) hGB (”German Commercial Code“) is the 
responsibility of the Company’s Managing Board. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Consolidated Management Report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Section 317 hGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presen
tation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the Consolidated Financial Statements in  
accordance with the applicable accounting standards and in the Consolidated Management Report are detected 
with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the 
Group and expectations as to possible errors are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The 
effectiveness of the accounting-related Internal Control System and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Consolidated Management Report are examined primarily on a test 
 basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the Annual Financial Statements of those  
Entities included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, the determination of entities to be included in consolida
tion, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the Managing Board, as  
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Consolidated Manage
ment Report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the Consolidated Financial Statements of SMA Solar Technology 
AG, niestetal, comply with IFRS, as adopted by the eU, the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to Section 315a (1) hGB, and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The Consolidated Management Report is consis  t 
ent with the Consolidated Financial Statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position  
and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Hanover, March 3, 2016

Deloitte & Touche Gmbh 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Scharpenberg Meier 
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)



Q

Q at Night
There is a constant demand for reactive power in PV 
power plants and large PV systems. During the day,   
the demand for reactive power is easily met by SMA  
inverters capable of providing reactive power. With  
Q at night, PV power plants with SMA system solutions 
can now also provide compensating reactive power 
 during the night. Costs which would otherwise be  
incur red through the necessary purchase of external 
reactive power now no longer apply. Moreover, it pro-
vides the opportunity to generate added income by  
supplying additional reactive power to the grid operator.

Q on Demand 24/7
Using Q on Demand 24/7, the inverter can remain 
connected to the utility grid aroundtheclock and supply 
reactive power throughout the complete unit circle,  
as needed. This enables the inverter to play a part in 
 stabilizing the utility grid, even at night.

R

Reactive Power
An electronics term that describes pulsating power with 
an alternating positive and negative sign. The positive 
and negative components of the power output cancel 
each other out, which yields an average value of zero. 
This is why it is also referred to as power grid oscillation. 
The counterpart to reactive power is active power. In an 
AC grid, it likewise has a pulsating value, although this 
is generally positive. Only active power can be used to 
operate electrical con sumers. The sum of active power 
and reactive power is called apparent power. All elec-
trical oper ating resources and the entire grid infrastructure 
must be  designed in accordance with this. Apparent 
power  arises if the voltage and current values, likewise 
pulsating, are out of phase, that is, they attain their maxi-
mum or minimum offset with regard to time. This phase 
displacement can have two directions and is practically 
unavoidable in the technical application of inverters, 
because almost every electronic compo nent causes a 
degree of phase displacement in one direction or the 
other. Modern inverters are capable of compensating 
for the phase displacement within a grid, there by elim  
inating the useless reactive power from the grid. 
Through a certain degree of phase displacement, they 
are also capable of lowering the grid voltage, which 
usually rises undesirably.

S

String Inverter
With string technology, the PV generator is divided  
into individual module areas, and each of these individual 
“strings” is assigned its own string inverter.

Sunbelt
The region between the 20th and 40th parallel in the 
Northern and Southern Hemispheres, a large portion of 
which is desert, is also known as the Sunbelt due to  
the high duration and intensity of sunshine there, making 
it an ideal location for PV systems.

W

W, kW, MW, GW
Units for power: 
1 kilowatt (kW) = 1,000 watts (W) 
1 megawatt (MW) = 1,000 kilowatts 
1 gigawatt (GW) = 1,000 megawatts

Wp
Abbreviation for watt peak. Unit used for the standard
ized rated power of a photovoltaic cell or a photovoltaic 
module under standard conditions.

Technical Glossary
A

AC (Alternating Current)
Grid-compliant current 

C

Central Inverter
Inverters for large-scale PV power plants that are used 
with centralized design concepts

ChangeofControl Clause
Provision in the board member and management 
employ ment contracts that provides a special termina
tion right in case of a change of ownership or a   
change in majority shareholders, usually against pay
ment of a firmly agreed compensation, continued 
payment of remuneration, often also a corresponding 
pension provision

Compliance
Legally compliant conduct

Corporate Governance
Procedures for managing and controlling companies in  
a manner that is responsible and aimed at longterm 
value creation

D

DC (Direct Current)
Direct current must be converted to grid-compliant  
alternating current (AC) for the network supply.

Diesel-Powered Grid
An isolated, decentralized power grid with diesel gen  
er ators as the primary power source. Diesel- powered 
grids are used mainly where an energy supply is not 
possible via a central utility grid. With PV systems inte-
grated into dieselpowered grids, the use of diesel gen
erators is not a must. PV-diesel hybrid systems make a 
considerable contribution to the reduction of fuel costs 
and CO2 emissions.

 
G

Grid Management
For decentralized generation plants, participation in  grid 
management means that they have to adapt their feedin 
to meet current grid distribution capacities. It affects all 
PV systems feeding in at medium voltage level.

I 

Integrated Plant Control
Using Integrated Plant Control, the inverter can map the 
Q(U) characteristic curve specified by the grid operator 
without measuring at the grid-connection point. Oper -
ating resources that are connected between the inverter 
and gridconnection point can be automatically offset 
by the inverter. Integrated Plant Control increases  
the efficiency of a PV system as it eliminates additional  
costs for centralized control gear for PV farms, measure
ment at the gridconnection point as well as installation 
and commissioning of the above. System structure and 
maintenance are made simpler and clearer.

Inverter
An electrical device that converts direct into alternating 
voltage or direct into alternating current

M

Medium Voltage
Voltage range from 1,000 V to 60,000 V

O

Off-Grid System
PV off-grid systems are stand-alone power grids fed by  
the energy of a PV system, for example. These systems 
are not connected to a utility grid.

GlossaRy

164 SMA Solar Technology AG    Annual Report 2015 To Our Shareholders
Corporate Governance 
Consolidated Management Report
Consolidated Financial Statements
other information    Glossary 

165



Financial Glossary
E

eBIT
earnings before interest and taxes

eBITDA
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and  
amortization

eBIT Margin

(the higher the %age, the higher the earning power)

EBT
earnings before taxes

Equity Ratio
Shows the share of equity in total assets.

F

Free Cash Flow
Operating cash flow minus investments plus negative 
investments in fixed and intangible assets. Free cash 
flow is important because it allows a company to pay 
dividends or to buy back shares. Therefore, free cash 
flow is a measure of how much cash can be paid to the 
shareholders of a company.

G

Gross Cash Flow
Shows the operating income prior to any commitment 
of funds. It is calculated by considering earnings be
fore income tax and the financial result – plus interest 
received, depreciation and amortization, changes in 
other provisions, profit/loss from the disposal of fixed 
assets and other non-cash expenses/revenues less  
interest paid and income tax paid.

Gross Profit
Sales minus cost of sales

 
I

IAS
International Accounting Standards; newer standards 
refer to the initials IFRS

IASB
International Accounting Standards Board

IFRIC
Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee on IAS/IFRS

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards defined  
by the IASB

N

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Outflow/inflow of liquid funds, unaffected by invest
ments, disinvestments and financing activities

Net Cash Flow From Financing Activities
Outflow/inflow of liquid funds from equity financing 
and debt financing

net Cash Flow From Investing Activities
Outflow/inflow of liquid funds from investments and 
disinvestments

Net Cash
Liquid funds and securities contained within working 
capital and cash on hand pledged as collatoral less  
interest-bearing financial liabilities

Net Working Capital
The total amount of shortterm, interestfree working 
capital (inventories plus trade receivables less trade  
payables)

Net Working Capital Ratio
Net working capital in relation to net sales

O

Operating Profit (eBIT)
earnings before interest and taxes

Operating profit x 100
Sales 

R

Return on Assets (After Taxes)
The return on assets (after taxes) is the consolidated net 
profit divided by the average total assets of the report- 
ing period (average of total assets at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period).

Return on equity (After Taxes)
The return on equity (after taxes) is the consolidated net 
profit divided by the averaged total equity for the re
porting period (average of total equity at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period).

Return on Sales
Ratio of EBT to sales

X

Xetra
exchange electronic Trading: fully electronic trading  
system at the Frankfurt Securities exchange (FWB) for  
the spot market. More than 90% of the shares traded  
in Germany are traded using the Xetra platform.
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